
City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City of Palm Coast
Agenda

COUNCIL MEETING              
AMENDED AGENDA

Mayor David Alfin
Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho

Council Member Victor Barbosa 
Council Member Ed Danko

Council Member Nick Klufas

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Tuesday, September 21, 2021                                                                                                                    9:00 AM COMMUNITY WING

City Staff
Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager
William Reischmann, City Attorney
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

 Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

 Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by City Council.

 If you wish to obtain more information regarding the City Council’s agenda, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-
3713.

 In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings 
should contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

 City Council Meetings are streamed live on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/user/PalmCoastGovTV/live.

 All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while City Council is in session.

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

C. ROLL CALL

D. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Public Participation shall be held in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.  And 
pursuant to the City Council’s Meeting Policies and Procedures:

(1) Each speaker shall at the podium, provide their name and may speak for up to 3 minutes.  
(2) The Public may provide comments to the City Council relative to matters not on the 
agenda at the times indicated in this Agenda.  Following any comments from the public, 
there may be discussion by the City Council.
(3) When addressing the City Council on specific, enumerated Agenda items, speakers shall:
(a) direct all comments to the Mayor;
(b) make their comments concise and to the point; 

1



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

(c) not speak more than once on the same subject; 
(d) not, by speech or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings or the peace of the City 
Council;
(e) obey the orders of the Mayor or the City Council; and 
(f) not make any irrelevant, impertinent or slanderous comments while addressing the City 
Council; which pursuant to Council rules, shall be considered disorderly. 
(4) Any person who becomes disorderly or who fails to confine his or her comments to the 
identified subject or business, shall be cautioned by the Mayor and thereafter must conclude 
his or her remarks on the subject within the remaining designated time limit.

Any speaker failing to comply, as cautioned, shall be barred from making any additional 
comments during the meeting and may be removed, as necessary, for the remainder of the 
meeting.

Members of the public may make comments during the public comment portion of the 
meeting. Please be advised that public comment will only be permitted during the public 
comment portions of the agenda at the times indicated by the Chair during the meeting.

E. MINUTES

1. MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL:
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET WORKSHOP
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 9, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET HEARING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP

F. PROCLAMATIONS

2. PRESENTATION - GOOD SAMARITAN RECOGNITIONS

3. PRESENTATION EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION

4. PROCLAMATION - RAISE THE PINK FLAG WITH THE PINK ARMY MONTH

G. ORDINANCES FIRST READ

5. ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 
10.02 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT

6. ORDINANCE 2021-XX REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, DIVISION 3 
OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF ORDINANCES

7. ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR 
70.2+/- ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM MIXED USE TO RESIDENTIAL WITH A SITE SPECIFIC 

2



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

POLICY TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO 227 RESIDENTIAL DWELLING UNITS (SEMINOLE 
TRAILS)

8. ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR A 70.2+/- 
ACRE PARCEL FROM MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) TO SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL-1 (SEMINOLE TRAILS)

H. ORDINANCES SECOND READ

9. ORDINANCE 2021-XX SECRET GARDENS, APPLICATION NO. 4816 TO REZONE 52.4 +/- 
ACRES FROM THE GENERAL OFFICE (OFC-2) ZONING DISTRICT TO THE HIGH INTENSITY 
COMMERCIAL (COM-3), PRESERVATION (PRS) AND PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC (PSP) 
ZONING DISTRICTS

10. ORDINANCE 2021-XX SEMINOLE POINTE, APPLICATION NO. 4820 TO REZONE 71.74 
+/- ACRES FROM THE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) AND GENERAL 
COMMERCIAL (COM-2) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-2 
(MFR-2) AND HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3) ZON

I. RESOLUTIONS

11. RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING THE TERMINATION OF THE SEMINOLE POINTE 
MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (MPD)

J. OTHER BUSINESS

12. COUNCIL DECISION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF ON WHETHER TO AMEND THE 
COMMERCIAL VEHICLE ORDINANCE IN CHAPTER 44, ARTICLE II

13. APPOINT A MEMBER TO FLAGLER COUNTY HOUSING TASK FORCE/AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

14. APPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE DISTRICTING COMMISSION

K. CONSENT

15. RESOLUTION 2021-XX ADOPTING GUIDELINES FOR NAMING OF PUBLIC FACILITIES

16. RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY SEWER MANHOLE 
SEALING AND COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS

17. RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH HARN 
R/O SYSTEMS, INC. FOR NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

3



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

18. RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT WITH FERGUSON 
WATERWORKS TO PURCHASE VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES

L. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Remainder of Public Comments is limited to three (3) minutes each.

M. DISCUSSION BY CITY ATTORNEY OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

N. DISCUSSION BY CITY COUNCIL OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

O. DISCUSSION BY CITY MANAGER OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

19. REPORTING OF EMERGENCY AND SOLE SOURCE PURCHASES FOR AUGUST 2021 
PURCHASES

P. ADJOURNMENT

20. WORKSHEET

4



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date :

Department Amount  
Item Key Account 

#
 

Subject MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL:
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET WORKSHOP
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 9, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET HEARING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP

Presenter : City Clerk

Background :

Recommended Action :
Approve minutes of the City Council September 7, 2021 Special Budget Workshop, 
September 7, 2021 Special Business Meeting, September 9, 2021 Special Budget Hearing, 
September 14, 2021 Workshop. 

 

5



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City of Palm Coast
Minutes

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL 
BUDGET WORKSHOP

Mayor David Alfin
Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho

Council Member Victor Barbosa 
Council Member Ed Danko

Council Member Nick Klufas

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Tuesday, September 7, 2021                                                                                                                   5:30 PM COMMUNITY WING

City Staff
Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager
William Reischmann, City Attorney
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

> Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

> Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by City Council.

> If you wish to obtain more information regarding the City Council’s agenda, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713.

> In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should 
contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

> City Council Meetings are streamed live on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/user/PalmCoastGovTV/live.

> All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while City Council is in session.

A CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Alfin called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 

B PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

C ROLL CALL

City Clerk Virginia Smith called the roll. All members were present. 

D PRESENTATIONS

1 PRESENTATION - FY 2022 GENERAL FUND BUDGET DISCUSSION

Helena Alves, Financial Services Director and Gwen Ragsdale, Budget & 
Procurement Manager, presented to Council on this item.

Council Member Danko requested what the millage would be at the roll back 
rate. Ans: Ms. Alves- It would be 4.4593.

6



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Mayor Alfin - looked for discussion and direction to staff. Mayor Alfin was in favor 
of reducing millage rate and fully fund the sheriff's deputy. 

Council Member Danko suggested large cuts to include the Racquet Center. 
Council Member Danko requested to know how much comes from tax payers.  
Mr. Cote provided an overview to the 3 funds for the project. Approximately 
$250,000. Council Member Danko suggested cutting the Racquet Center out of 
the budget.

Council Member Barbosa shared support for hiring of additional City staff and 
funding of additional Sheriff's Office deputies.

Council Member Klufas supported keeping the millage rate the same while 
funding the additional deputies. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho agreed with Council Member Klufas.

Attorney law firm CPI increase is based on June 30 index at 5%. 

Council held discussion with Ms. Alves regarding one time type of expenditures 
that could be funded from reserves. Additionally, Council discussed the General 
Fund Balance.

E ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 6:32  p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by: Virginia A. Smith, MMC
City Clerk 

7



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City of Palm Coast
Minutes

COUNCIL MEETING             
IMMEDIATELY 

FOLLOWING THE 
SPECIAL BUDGET 

WORKSHOP
Mayor David Alfin

Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho
Council Member Victor Barbosa 

Council Member Ed Danko
Council Member Nick Klufas

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Tuesday, September 7, 2021                                                                                                                   6:00 PM COMMUNITY WING

City Staff
Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager
William Reischmann, City Attorney
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

> Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

> Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by City Council.

> If you wish to obtain more information regarding the City Council’s agenda, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713.

> In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should 
contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

> City Council Meetings are streamed live on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/user/PalmCoastGovTV/live.

> All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while City Council is in session.

A. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Alfin called the meeting to order at 6:33 pm 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

C. ROLL CALL

City Clerk Virginia Smith called the roll. All members were present 

D. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Public Participation shall be held in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.  And 
pursuant to the City Council’s Meeting Policies and Procedures:

(1) Each speaker shall at the podium, provide their name and may speak for up to 3 minutes.  

8



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

(2) The Public may provide comments to the City Council relative to matters not on the 
agenda at the times indicated in this Agenda.  Following any comments from the public, there 
may be discussion by the City Council.
(3) When addressing the City Council on specific, enumerated Agenda items, speakers shall:
(a) direct all comments to the Mayor;
(b) make their comments concise and to the point; 
(c) not speak more than once on the same subject; 
(d) not, by speech or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings or the peace of the City 
Council;
(e) obey the orders of the Mayor or the City Council; and 
(f) not make any irrelevant, impertinent or slanderous comments while addressing the City 
Council; which pursuant to Council rules, shall be considered disorderly. 
(4) Any person who becomes disorderly or who fails to confine his or her comments to the 
identified subject or business, shall be cautioned by the Mayor and thereafter must conclude 
his or her remarks on the subject within the remaining designated time limit.

Any speaker failing to comply, as cautioned, shall be barred from making any additional 
comments during the meeting and may be removed, as necessary, for the remainder of the 
meeting.

Members of the public may make comments during the public comment portion of the 
meeting. Please be advised that public comment will only be permitted during the public 
comment portions of the agenda at the times indicated by the Chair during the meeting.

Tom Cecil spoke of a fire on a KB Homes Construction Site on Palm Coast 
Parkway causing sinus issues. Mr. Cecil has spoken with many entities to try to 
resolve the issue and asked Council to address this.

Mr. Webb opposed tax increases and proposed giving it back from the fund 
balance. Additionally, Mr. Webb spoke of traffic concerns yet there continue to 
be new homes and businesses and suggested taking care of the roads. Mr. 
Webb also briefly spoke on commercial signs on vehicles. 

Dave Mollico spoke about issues on Woodbury Drive, a residential street which 
is being used as a primary way of travel between Pine Lakes Parkway and 
Whiteview Parkway. Mr. Mollico informed Council of a prior petition brought to 
Council and details of conversations with City Staff dating back to 2020. Mr. 
Mollico asked Council why no action has been taken. 

Pat Borelli discussed code enforcement issues and submitted the top 10 code 
violations pamphlet. Ms. Borelli would like to know why real estate agents can’t 
provide the pamphlet to new residents. Ms. Borelli suggested having C.O.P.’s 
distribute pamphlets and inform Code Enforcement about violations. Ms. Borelli 
cautioned against inadequate enforcement as the City continues to grow. 

Robert MacDonald referred to a John F Kennedy speech from 1961 and asked 
Council to pass the proposed signage Ordinance change and to put a 
moratorium on home building and selling in Palm Coast. Additionally, Mr. 
MacDonald complimented City Staff and Council. 
  

9



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Elizabeth Eubanks asked for the Code Enforcement pamphlet as referred to by 
Ms. Borelli. Ms. Eubanks shared that she has been unable to use her pool and 
had to purchase extra filters, and increased cleaning. Ms. Eubanks also 
discussed speeding and traffic concerns in the area of Woodbury Drive and 
asked Council for help with these issues. 

Cindy Morelewicz discussed the burning issue in the area of Woodbury Drive. 
Ms. Morelewicz also discussed traffic pattern changes due to KB Homes. Ms. 
Morelewicz shared that the traffic study never included Woodbury Drive, but now 
it is being utilized by large vehicle although it is only 20 feet wide. Ms. 
Morelewicz asked Council why the traffic study did not include Woodbury Drive. 

Brian Rosen provided a background of the E Section Canal Project and issues 
receiving a response. Mr. Rosen asked Council for an update to the project. 

Paul Vargo shared concern for taxes in the area of the canal zone, they are 
benefit for everyone. Mr. Vargo suggested tax dollars be dedicated to dredging 
of the canal. Additionally Mr. Vargo shared noise concerns in the area of 
Colorado Drive.

Al Krier spoke of safety on Cimmaron Drive. Mr. Krier has submitted 5 petitions 
already, with 2 more to go. Mr. Krier has thanked City staff for their efforts and 
progress thus far. 

Responses to Public Comments:
Vice Mayor Branquinho responded to Mr. Mollico to provide detail about visiting 
Woodbury Drive and spoke of issues closing streets. 

Mayor Alfin and Ms. Bevan will respond to the remaining comments. 

E. MINUTES

1. MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL:
AUGUST 17, 2021 CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING
AUGUST 24, 2021 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING
AUGUST 24, 2021 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL WORKSHO

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Vice Mayor Branquinho and seconded by 
Council Member Klufas

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

F. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS

2. PRESENTATION - GOOD SAMARITAN RECOGNITIONS

10



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

This item will be heard at a future Council meeting. 

3. PRESENTATION - PHOTO CONTEST AWARDS

Brittany Kershaw, Director of Public Information & Engagement, presented the 
awards to the winners. 

4. PROCLAMATION - SEPTEMBER AS NATIONAL RECOVERY MONTH

Council Member Barbosa presented this Proclamation to Ms. Kim Carney and 
representatives of Flagler Open Arms Recovery Services. 

5. PROCLAMATION - ARBOR DAY

Council Member Klufas presented this Proclamation to Ms. Carol Mini, Urban 
Forester. 

G. ORDINANCES SECOND READ

6. ORDINANCE 2021-17 AMENDING THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF 
ORDINANCES SEC. 41-11 FACILITIES AT SINGLE-FAMILY PROPERTIES TO 
CLARIFY THE SCREENING REQUIREMENT FOR GARBAGE CONTAINERS 

O20210017

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record.  

Mr. DeLorenzo was available for questions. 

Public Comments: 
There were none. 

Pass
Motion made to Adopted on second reading  by Council Member Klufas 
and seconded by Council Member Danko

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

7. ORDINANCE 2021-16 AMENDING CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF 
ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 16, BUSINESSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY 
DEFINING COLLECTION BIN AND ADDING A NEW ARTICLE AS TO THE 
REGULATION OF COLLECTION BINS WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS 

O20210016

11



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record.  

Public Comment 
There were none.

Pass
Motion made to Adopted on second reading  by Council Member Barbosa 
and seconded by Council Member Klufas

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

8. ORDINANCE 2021-19 APPROVING THE AMENDMENT OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST 2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, PURSUANT 
TO CHAPTER 163, FLORIDA STATUTES; CREATING CHAPTER 10 – PROPERTY 
RIGHTS ELEMENT 

O20210019

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record.  

Mr. Tyner provided an overview to this item. 

Public Comment:
Ms. Verrilli asked for an overview to this item.

Pass
Motion made to Adopted on second reading  by Council Member Barbosa 
and seconded by Council Member Klufas

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

 

9. ORDINANCE 2021-18 APPROVING REZONING OF 10.85 +/- ACRES FROM HIGH 
INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3) TO MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-2 (MFR-2) 
FOR PROPERTY KNOWN AS THE TRIBUTE - APPLICATION # 4738 

O20210018

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record, reminded Council this is 
a quasi-judicial item and called for any ex-parte communications. 

12



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Point of Order from Vice Mayor Branquinho regarding a social media post from 
Council Member Danko stating Alan Lowe will vote in favor of this. Attorney 
Reischmann provided an overview of the ex-parte communications law. 

Council Member Danko provided details of the communications. 

Bill Hoover provided an overview to this item. 

Applicant presented to Council, which is attached to these minutes. 

Mayor Alfin requested confirmation from staff, the attorney and the applicant that 
this project meets the City's Comprehensive Plan requirements. 

Brian Rosen would like to see Council consider income of residents for proposed 
housing developments and shared concerns for affordability and roadway 
infrastructure.  

Paul Vargo supported the project and asked council to consider the 
infrastructure to support the housing developments. Mr. Vargo shared of 
challenges finding affordable homes in Palm Coast. 

Dave Mollica shared about apartment buildings that go unfilled and aren’t 
maintained. 

Toby Tobin published an article today titled Where will they live? Mr. Tobin 
shared that we are at full capacity everywhere. People are looking for long term 
sustainability and we need to be prepared. Mr. Tobin stated that we do not have 
enough multifamily housing options and we’re out of balance with the original ITT 
plan and shared support for the project. 

Beth Vitalic asked Council how many housing projects are slated to begin within 
the next couple of years.  Ms. Vitalic stated that there is quite a bit approved and 
will the infrastructure be okay? Is there enough tax revenue to support the 
growth? Ms. Vitalic did not oppose building but suggested focusing on 
infrastructure first. 

Resident Donna stated that the first presentation stated the median income at 
$88K and now it is presented differently, it seems that the target level has 
changed. Shared concerns of inability to fill the units and potential tax abatement 
falling on tax payers. 

Mr. Vargo wanted to clarify his statements on owning versus renting. 

Council held additional comment period with Mayor Alfin reminding Council what 
Council's assignment is within the Land Development Code. 

Pass
Motion made to Adopted on second reading  by Council Member Danko 
and seconded by Council Member Klufas

13



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Approved - 3 - Mayor David Alfin, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member 
Nick Klufas
Denied - 2 - Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council Member Victor Barbosa

H. ORDINANCES FIRST READ

10. ORDINANCE 2021- XX - SECRET GARDENS, APPLICATION NO. 4816 TO 
REZONE 52.4 +/- ACRES FROM THE GENERAL OFFICE (OFC-2) ZONING 
DISTRICT TO THE HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3), PRESERVATION 
(PRS) AND PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC (PSP) ZONING DISTRICTS

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record, reminded Council this is 
a quasi-judicial item and called for any ex-parte communications. There were 
none. 

Mr. Hoover presented to Council on this item. 

Public Comment 
There were none. 

Pass
Motion made to Approved on first reading  by Council Member Barbosa 
and seconded by Vice Mayor Branquinho

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

11. ORDINANCE 2021-XX SEMINOLE POINTE, APPLICATION NO. 4820 TO REZONE 
71.74 +/- ACRES FROM THE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) AND 
GENERAL COMMERCIAL (COM-2) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE MULTI-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL-2 (MFR-2) AND HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3) ZON

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record, reminded Council this is 
a quasi-judicial item and called for any ex-parte communications. CM Danko and 
Mayor Alfin received emails concerning this item from Mr. Chiumento. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho shared that prior to July 4th weekend, his wife was 
asked to be part of this project. Met with Chief Forte, Jason DeLorenzo and the 
City Manager. Requested to recuse himself from voting; Attorney Reischmann 
provided advice to Vice Mayor Branquinho, who recused himself from the vote.  
The clerk will provide the voting conflict form to Vice Mayor Branquinho. 

Attorney Reischmann requested clarification on the email received by Council 
members and that Council will base their decision on what is presented to them 
this evening. Council confirmed they will base their decisions on what is 
presented to them this evening. 

14



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Mr. Chiumento presented to Council, on behalf of the applicant, which is 
attached to these minutes. 

Public Comments:
There were none. 

Pass
Motion made to Approved on first reading  by Council Member Barbosa 
and seconded by Council Member Klufas

Approved - 4 - Mayor David Alfin, Council Member Victor Barbosa, Council 
Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick Klufas

I. RESOLUTIONS

12. RESOLUTION 2021-124 APPROVING THE REZONING JOINDER APPLICATION 
AUTHORIZATION 

R20210124

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record.  Mr. Jason DeLorenzo 
presented to Council on this item. 

Public Comment 
There were none.

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Council Member Danko and seconded by 
Council Member Barbosa

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

13. RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A WORK ORDER WITH ENGLAND-THIMS & 
MILLER INC., FOR DESIGN SERVICES RELATED TO THE WHITEVIEW 
PARKWAY IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

City Attorney Reischmann read the title into the record.  Mr. Cote provided 
Council with an overview to this item. 

Public Comment 
There were none. 

Pass
Motion made to Table  by Council Member Barbosa and seconded by 
Council Member Danko

15



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

J. OTHER BUSINESS

14. APPOINT A MEMBER TO FLAGLER COUNTY HOUSING TASK 
FORCE/AFFORDABLE HOUSING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Pass
Motion made to continue  by Council Member Barbosa and seconded by 
Council Member Danko

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

K. CONSENT

There were no public comments on the consent agenda. 

15. RESOLUTION 2021-122 APPROVING INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS WITH THE 
MEMBERS OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST RETIREMENT PLAN FIDUCIARY 
COMMITTEE 

16. RESOLUTION 2021-123 APPROVING MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT WITH 
HAWKINS, INC., FOR THE PURCHASE OF VARIOUS CHEMICALS 

17. RESOLUTION 2021-125 APPROVING A CONTRACT WITH MASCI, INCLUDING 
APPROVAL OF A 10% CONTINGENCY, AND APPROVAL OF A WORK ORDER 
FOR CEI SERVICES EXPENSES FOR THE MILLING AND RESURFACING 
PROJECT 

L. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Remainder of Public Comments is limited to three (3) minutes each.

There was none. 

M. DISCUSSION BY CITY COUNCIL OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Council Member Danko spoke about the commercial vehicle signage proposed 
Ordinance from a few weeks prior to ask that it be brought to a vote. Additionally, 
Council Member Danko clarified his group affiliations within the community. 

16



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council Member Barbosa reminded Council that they need to work together for 
the best of the City. Council Member Barbosa also asked Council to come to a 
consensus to bring the Public Comments from the evening regarding the fire 
burning within the City to a workshop. 

Council Member Klufas congratulated Reilly Opelka for reaching the 4th round 
and wished him luck. Mr. Klufas would like to see more information on the 
burning issue and shared appreciation and thanks for Ms. Alves and the work 
she will be doing. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho wished Ms. Johnston much luck and blessings 
tomorrow. Additionally, Vice Mayor Branquinho would like to thoroughly discuss 
a moratorium for multifamily homes. Vice Mayor Branquinho also shared about a 
video from July 26, 2021 at 6:05 pm which shows two Council Members violating 
sunshine law on Facebook by speaking of the millage. 

Attorney Reischmann explained to Council this is an allegation that should be 
brought to the State Attorney's office for review and consideration. 

Mayor Alfin spoke of the "moratorium" issue and requested the Interim City 
Manager bring this topic to a workshop. 

Mayor Alfin shared about the Intracoastal Waterway Cleanup results and 
September 11, 2021 Remembrance Ceremony.

Mayor Alfin thanked Council for their coordination in tonight's meeting. 

N. DISCUSSION BY CITY ATTORNEY OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Nothing at this time. 

O. DISCUSSION BY CITY MANAGER OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Ms. Bevan shared about Senior Games and Disaster Preparedness Guides. 

P. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 10:15 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by: Virginia A. Smith, MMC
City Clerk 

17



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City of Palm Coast
Minutes

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL 
BUDGET HEARING

Mayor David Alfin
Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho

Council Member Victor Barbosa 
Council Member Ed Danko

Council Member Nick Klufas

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Thursday, September 9, 2021                                                                                                                   5:30 PM COMMUNITY WING

City Staff
Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager
William Reischmann, City Attorney
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

> Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

> Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by City Council.

> If you wish to obtain more information regarding the City Council’s agenda, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713.

> In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should 
contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

> City Council Meetings are streamed live on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/user/PalmCoastGovTV/live.

> All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while City Council is in session.

A. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Alfin called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

C. ROLL CALL

City Clerk Virginia Smith called the roll. All members were present. 

Mayor Alfin requested Council follow the rules and procedures of Council. 

D. PRESENTATIONS

1. PRESENTATION OF THE FINAL PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 BUDGET

Ms. Alves and Ms. Ragsdale presented to Council. 

18



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council Member Klufas shared disappointment that a phased approach to 
additional deputies was not considered. Mr. Klufas inquired about the structure 
of the contract if they have difficulty filling these positions. What does it look like 
for when they will patrol our streets?  

Council requested Chief Strobridge provided an overview to the questions. Chief 
Strobridge stated the class is finishing up and they do not have a problem hiring 
the new deputies.  There is a pool of deputies ready to go. 

Council Member Klufas requested to know if there are any delays in hardware 
for the deputies.

Chief Strobridge-we have an order for fleet. 

Council Member Barbosa-What is "Enhanced Service" contract?  

Chief Strobridge provided an overview. 

Council Member Barbosa-Do we know the difference of the cost between 
enhanced and regular?  Ans: Ms. Alves-It is in the contract. 

Mayor Alfin provided a couple of examples of the enhanced level of service the 
City receives from the contract. 

Mayor Alfin shared that Fire is equally as important as police; we talked of 
Citation and the benefits of having an additional fire station, would we realize any 
savings in this next year?  Ans: Chief Forte responded to include details about 
the timeline and review of such details. 

Council Member Danko asked what the rollback rate would be. 

Ms. Alves provided the rollback rate and associated figures.

Council Member Barbosa asked how many Sheriff’s Office Deputies are funded 
at the rollback rate. 

Ms. Alves stated that all of the rates presented will include the requested 10 
additional deputies.

Council Member Klufas clarified the rollback rate.

Council Member Danko asked how much funds are impacted by the rollback 
rate. Ans: Ms. Alves-approximately $800,000 shortage. 

Vice Mayor Branquinh shared that the Mayor of Jersey City, NJ had damage to 
his City estimated at $35 million, and was informed by a friend that $100 million 
would not be enough. Vice Mayor Branquinho asked how they will get the 
money? He responded they do not have it. Vice Mayor Branquinho shared that it 
is an egregious thing if this Council takes from our reserves and does not agree 
with using the reserve funds. 

19



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council Member Klufas agrees with Vice Mayor Branquinho; we should not be 
proud to spend our reserves and transfer money to our pavement program. 

Mayor Alfin-How did we collect money from the state for reimbursement? Ms. 
Alves-75% of expenditures and up to 90% for Irma. It also depends on the 
hurricane category type. Hurricane Irma was a huge impact to the entire state, 
so it was reimbursed at 90%. 

Mayor Alfin spoke of setting precedence tackling the fund balances sharing that  
none of these are predictable; we have kept millage the same for at least 4 years 
while our expenditures are increasing.  Mayor Alfin suggested looking at millage 
rate in the future as not set in stone. 

Council Member Barbosa stated that Council needs to find a happy medium here 
where everybody wins.  

Council Member Danko shared that in his career as a journalist, he has not seen 
any problems recovering funds after a natural disaster and he has no problem 
using funds from the reserves.

Vice Mayor Branquinho shared opposition to using the reserves. 

Council Member Danko stated that if Council did not want to use the reserves, 
then proposed to make cuts. Council Member Danko stated that he would like to 
make a motion. 

Mayor Alfin asked him to hold the motion until Ms. Alves has completed her 
presentation. 

Ms. Alves finished the presentation. 

Council Member Danko stated that if there is no effort to make cuts, and if 
Council does not wish to use the reserves, then he wished to make a
motion to rescind the Regional Racquet Center.

Mr. Cote provided an overview to where the funds are coming from for the 
racquet center. Park Impact Fees, CRA and Capital Projects are the 3 funding 
sources. 

Attorney Reischmann requested a cost overview.

Council Member Danko withdrew his motion 

Council Member Klufas shared that he would be comfortable moving forward 
with the 4.6100 millage rate. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho would be comfortable with 4.6989. 

Council Member Barbosa shared support for the rate of 4.6100.

Council Member Danko requested the rollback rate. 

20



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Ms. Alves clarified the millage rate concluding Council statements and requested 
a recess to provide the correct resolutions for the tentative millage and tentative 
budget. 

E. RECESS CITY COUNCIL AND CONVENE SR 100 CORRIDOR CRA BOARD

Council recessed at 6:39 pm to convene the SR 100 Corridor CRA. 

2. STATE ROAD 100 CORRIDOR COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY (SR 100 
CRA) RESOLUTION 2021-XX ESTABLISHING THE SR 100 CRA TENTATIVE 
BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 AND AMENDING THE STATE ROAD 100 
CRA BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021 

R20210126

Mr. Reischmann read the title of this item into the record for the SR 100 Corridor 
CRA Board. 

Public Comments: 
There were none. 

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Vice Mayor Branquinho and seconded by 
Council Member Danko

Approved - 5 - Mayor David Alfin, Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council 
Member Victor Barbosa, Council Member Ed Danko, Council Member Nick 
Klufas

F. ADJOURN SR 100 CORRIDOR CRA BOARD AND RECONVENE CITY COUNCIL

Council adjourned the SR 100 CRA Board and reconvened City Council at 6:44 
p.m.

G. RESOLUTIONS

3. RESOLUTION 2021-XX SETTING THE TENTATIVE MILLAGE RATE FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2021-2022 

R20210127

Mr. Reischmann read the title into the record.  

Mayor Alfin read the required language into the record. 

Public Comments: 

21



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Prior to comments, Vice Mayor Branquinho clarified that he misspoke and 
thanked Pierre for bringing it to his attention-the Property Appraiser cannot raise 
taxes, he increases the values of our homes. 

Mike Cocciola would not like to see a tax increase, as a senior any increase 
hurts. Mr. Cocciola also cautioned against taking from reserves and what is 
determined to cut from the budget. Mr. Cocciola suggested setting priorities 
before determining any cuts 

Michael Arnold spoke of millage rate, budget rates, and interest income is far 
below par so we are not gaining money. We are operating far below par. 
Consider our money is accurately protected.  

Paul Vargo shared that he came here with a different agenda but what Mr. 
Danko said about the canals, he can relate to. Mr. Vargo shared of difficulty 
getting a boat off of a lift and has not experienced anything like the Palm Coast 
canal system. It is not favorable to allot to the pickleball system and nothing to 
our canals. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho asked staff is the City is below par, as it related to Mr. 
Arnold’s comments.   Ms. Alves provided an overview to what is required by 
State Statutes. 

Council Member Danko- Discussion on how much we are making on our money, 
what percent? Ms. Alves responded right above 2%. 

Mayor Alfin read the required language into the record. 

Council Member Barbosa made a motion for the millage to be 4.6100, which was 
seconded by Council Member Klufas. 

Mayor Alfin called for further discussion. 

Council Member Danko provided additional comments and suggested additional 
cuts. 

Council Member Barbosa proposed Chief Forte explain the hiring issue. This is a 
happy medium where we have to work for something better in the future. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho shared that he does not agree with the 4.6100 millage 
rate.  

Mayor Alfin shared that he will not risk our safety- police and fire define our 
quality of life.

Mayor Alfin called for a roll call vote. 

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Council Member Barbosa and seconded by 
Council Member Klufas

22



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Approved - 3 - Mayor David Alfin, Council Member Victor Barbosa, Council 
Member Nick Klufas
Denied - 2 - Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council Member Ed Danko

4. RESOLUTION 2021-XX ESTABLISHING THE TENTATIVE BUDGET FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2021-2022 AND AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021 BUDGET 

R20210128

Mr. Reischmann read the title into the record. 

Mayor Alfin read the required language into the record. 

Doug Brown, owner of Cypress Knolls Golf Course, shared a picture of collapsed 
Matanzas Golf Course and shared that this is what will happen if we do not 
support amenities. 

Doug owner of Cypress Knolls Golf Course-what you see is not what you get. 
Showing a picture of the collapsed Matanzas Golf Course. This is what happens 
when you do not support your amenities. There are 318 homes directly on the 
golf course and 372 across the street from the golf course. According to Sam 
Percovich, if the golf course goes under you will lose approximately $500,000 in 
taxes. The speaker also briefly discussed the Racquet Center.

Michael Arnold spoke about investment percentages, figures, and market 
returns.     

Council discussion-
Vice Mayor Branquinho met with the gentleman from the Cypress Knolls Golf 
Course and it was about the drainage. 

Mayor Alfin read in the required language into the record. 

Motion by Council Member Klufas, seconded by Council Member Barbosa.

Mayor Alfin called for a roll call vote. 

Mayor Alfin read the required language into the record regarding the final budget 
hearing. 

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Council Member Klufas and seconded by 
Council Member Barbosa

Approved - 3 - Mayor David Alfin, Council Member Victor Barbosa, Council 
Member Nick Klufas
Denied - 2 - Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho, Council Member Ed Danko

H. ADJOURNMENT

23



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

The meeting was adjourned at 7:15 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by: Virginia A. Smith, MMC
City Clerk 

24



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

City of Palm Coast
Minutes

COUNCIL WORKSHOP
Mayor David Alfin

Vice Mayor Eddie Branquinho
Council Member Victor Barbosa 

Council Member Ed Danko
Council Member Nick Klufas

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Tuesday, September 14, 2021                                                                                                                   9:00 AM COMMUNITY WING

City Staff
Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager
William Reischmann, City Attorney
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

> Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

> Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by City Council.

> If you wish to obtain more information regarding the City Council’s agenda, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713.

> In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should 
contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

> City Council Meetings are streamed live on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/user/PalmCoastGovTV/live.

> All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while City Council is in session.

A CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Alfin called the meeting to order at 9 a.m. 

B PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

C ROLL CALL

Records Coordinator Kaley Cook called the roll. All members were present. 

D PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Public Participation shall be held in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.  And 
pursuant to the City Council’s Meeting Policies and Procedures:

(1) Each speaker shall at the podium, provide their name and may speak for up to 3 
minutes.  
(2) The Public may provide comments to the City Council relative to matters not on the 
agenda at the times indicated in this Agenda.  Following any comments from the public, there 
may be discussion by the City Council.
(3) When addressing the City Council on specific, enumerated Agenda items, speakers shall:
(a)  direct all comments to the Mayor;

25



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

(b) make their comments concise and to the point; 
(c) not speak more than once on the same subject; 
(d) not, by speech or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings or the peace of the City 
Council;
(e) obey the orders of the Mayor or the City Council; and 
(f) not make any irrelevant, impertinent or slanderous comments while addressing the 
City Council; which pursuant to Council rules, shall be considered disorderly. 
(4) Any person who becomes disorderly or who fails to confine his or her comments to the 
identified subject or business, shall be cautioned by the Mayor and thereafter must conclude 
his or her remarks on the subject within the remaining designated time limit.

Any speaker failing to comply, as cautioned, shall be barred from making any additional 
comments during the meeting and may be removed, as necessary, for the remainder of the 
meeting.

Robert MacDonald complimented the Palm Coast Fire Department for a 9/11 
memorial they made possible at a local Publix. 

Paul Vargo spoke of graffiti on Palm Harbor Bridge that continues to spread and 
asked for it to be addressed. 

Jeffrey Seib opposed change to City Ordinances regarding Commercial 
Vehicles. Mr. Seib also shared concern for survey results and provided 
suggestions for gathering the information from residents. 

Tim Alcorn spoke of the process of having a pool constructed at his home. Mr. 
Alcom spoke of issues trying to obtain a variance and concerns with information 
received thus far. Mr. Alcom spoke with his Council Member who suggested he 
bring this to City Council. 

Mayor Alfin asked City Manager Bevan to address the public comments. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho thanked Mr. MacDonald for his comments regarding the 
Fire Department and responded to spray paint comments by Mr. Vargo.

Council Member Danko provided additional details regarding Mr. Alcom's 
comments regarding the variance and process thus far. Council Member Danko 
asked Ms. Bevan to meet with the resident. 

E PRESENTATIONS

1 PRESENTATION - COMMERCIAL VEHICLE ORDINANCE SURVEY

Jason DeLorenzo, Director of Community Development, presented to Council on 
Commercial Vehicles. 

Mr. DeLorenzo provided background of the current Ordinance, commercial 
vehicles by definition, utility trailers by definition, and other commercial type 
vehicles, 

26



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council Member Danko asked for additional background details to be provided to 
Mayor Alfin.

Mr. DeLorenzo provided a background of this item and Council discussion held 
prior. 

Council Member Danko shared support for the proposed Ordinance and spoke 
of supporting businesses through this proposed change. 

Council Member Barbosa clarified that his suggestion is only to allow signage, 
not to change vehicle type, vehicle weight, etc. 

Council Member Klufas would like to ensure that the majority of residents are in 
support of this, potentially to be included on a future ballot. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho clarified that the Ordinance refers to overnight parking, 
not after hours work. Vice Mayor Branquinho shared concern for adverse 
impacts on Palm Coast residents and thinks the item should go to a referendum. 

Council Member Barbosa added information received from residents in favor of 
the proposed change. 

Mayor Alfin reiterated comments from City Council regarding concern for survey 
results and would like to see majority resident support to move forward with the 
Ordinance. 

Council Member Danko opposed putting the item on a ballot and asked Council 
to support businesses and working residents through the proposed changes. 

Mayor Alfin asked Mayor Alfin how the National Community Survey is developed 
to see if it is a possibility to add this item to the survey.

City Manager Bevan provided information about the National Community Survey 
and provided information about the potential to add custom questions to the 
survey. 

Mayor Alfin asked for a timeline to receive the survey results. 

Mr. DeLorenzo stated around  October/November

Mayor Alfin asked if Council would like to move forward with adding this custom 
question to the survey.

Council Member Danko asked how the survey is provided to residents and how 
the results would be received. 

Brittany Kershaw provided information regarding how the survey is presented to 
residents. 

Mayor Alfin asked Council if they concur to add this to the National Community 
Survey.

27



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council Member Barbosa and Council Member Danko opposed. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho would like to be business friendly and would like this to 
be a referendum.

Staff was directed to come to a future meeting with details on how to move 
forward with a referendum. 

City Attorney Bill Reischmann shared concerns for the referendum. 

Mayor Alfin directed staff that Council will vote at the next business meeting to 
determine moving forward on a change to the Ordinance. 

2 PRESENTATION - NATIONAL COMMUNITY SURVEY DISCUSSION

Brittany Kershaw, Director of Public Information and Engagement, presented to 
Council on the topic. 

Ms. Kershaw provided background of the survey, purpose of the survey, how the 
survey will be sent to residents, random selection, and custom questions. 

Council Member Klufas provided details that in previous years the survey 
provider used demographics in the random selection to accurately represent 
residents. 

City Manager Bevan provided additional details to Council to explain that while 
the residents are randomly selected, there are demographics applied to the 
selection to allow for an accurate representation of residents. 

Mayor Alfin asked for a timeline of the survey.

Brittany Kershaw explained the timeline to receive the results. 

Council Member Danko asked for the cost of the survey.

Interim City Manager provided the cost. 

Mayor Alfin asked for Council to receive the 2019 questions and results. 

Council Member Klufas would like for the additional questions to be viable for 
upcoming years. 

3 PRESENTATION -  CITY MANAGER SEARCH DISCUSSION

Renina Fuller, Human Resources Director, presented to Council on the item. 

Ms. Fuller provided a brief history of the item, process phases and timeline, 
costs, 

28



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Council held lengthy discussion on educational and experience minimum 
requirements, along with salary range, preliminary interview process, advertising 
and marketing, selection process, City Council evaluation and discussion, and 
one on one candidate interviews, 

City Attorney Bill Reischmann reminded Council about Sunshine Laws in regards 
to the applications and application process. 

4 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING AN INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH 
FLAGLER COUNTY REGARDING MARINELAND ACRES DRAINAGE AND 
ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

Steve Flanagan, Utility Director, presented to Council on the topic. 

Council discussion included clarification on the location and cost of the project, 

City Attorney Reischmann clarified the Resolution and its background. 

Council held lengthy discussion on costs, project timeline, implications and 
benefits. 

Council directed staff to bring back additional details for Council consideration. 
This item will be moved to the next workshop meeting. 

Council took a break at 12:27 pm.

Council resumed at 12:46 pm. 

5 RESOLUTION 2021-XX ADOPTING GUIDELINES FOR NAMING OF PUBLIC 
FACILITIES

Jason DeLorenzo, Chief Development Officer, presented to Council on the item. 

Topics discussed included policy objectives, policy exclusions, criteria, and 
process.

Vice Mayor Branquinho made suggestions to staff regarding renaming of City 
Facilities and additional wording. 

Mr. DeLorenzo asked for direction on how and when Council would like to review 
any nominations.

Council concurred to hear these items on an as needed basis. 

6 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING THE CULTURAL ARTS GRANTS FOR THE 
FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022

James Hirst, Outdoor Recreation Manager, presented to Council on the item. 

29



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

Topics discussed included an overview, public outreach efforts, review and 
evaluation, review criteria, and recommendations. 

7 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
CHAPTER 10.02 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT

Jordan Myers, Environmental Planner, presented to Council on the item. 

Topics discussed included a background of the item, outreach, proposed 
changes, and next steps. 

City Council thanked staff for their efforts thus far and Mayor Alfin recommended 
this be shared on social media. 

8 ORDINANCE 2021-XX REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, 
DIVISION 3 OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF ORDINANCES

Members of the Financial Services Division presented to staff on the item.

Topics discussed included an overview of the item, current policies, and 
proposed changes. Additionally, Council discussed improved staff efficiencies 
and labor cost savings following the changes. 

9 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING SECTION 2-1 (b) CITY OF PALM COAST-
CORPORTE SEAL; LOGO; USE OF, CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
PALM COAST

Brittany Kershaw, Director of Public Information & Engagement, presented to 
Council on the item. 

Topics discussed included logo history, proposed changes to the Palm Coast 
City Ordinance, and additional legal concerns. 

Council would like to add logo design discussion to a future agenda item. 

F WRITTEN ITEMS

There were no Council questions or comments on the two written items. 

10 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. 
AUGUSTINE WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY 
SEWER MANHOLE SEALING AND COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS

 

30



City of Palm Coast Created on 9/20/21

11 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC. FOR NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT 
PROJECT

G PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Remainder of Public Comments is limited to three (3) minutes each.

There were none. 

H DISCUSSION BY CITY COUNCIL OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Council Member Barbosa shared comments from residents regarding golf cart 
usage on City streets. 

Vice Mayor Branquinho thanked staff for their efforts during the meeting and 
commended fire staff or a 9/11 presentation. 

I DISCUSSION BY CITY ATTORNEY OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

J DISCUSSION BY CITY MANAGER OF MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

City Manager Bevan shared about an upcoming Arbor Day event on September 
16th. 

Mayor Alfin shared about the Advent Health ground breaking that occurred 
today. 

Virginia Smith, City Clerk, shared with Council that a member of the Redistricting 
Commission, appointed by Council at a recent meeting, is unable to partake in 
the Commission and Council will need to bring members at the next business 
meeting to fill the vacancy. 

Additionally, Ms. Smith spoke of board appointment vacancies and requested 
Council direction to advertise the vacancies again to receive additional 
applicants. Council concurred. 

K ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 1:47 pm.

Respectfully submitted by: 
Kaley Cook, Records Coordinator 

31



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department Public Information Amount  
Item Key 11575 Account 

#
 

Subject PRESENTATION - GOOD SAMARITAN RECOGNITIONS

Presenter : Brittany Kershaw

Background :

UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
Unfortunately, Mr. Duncan was unable to stay through the duration of the September 7, 2021 
Business Meeting to receive his appreciation recognition and therefore was invited back to this 
meeting. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
Staff will present certificates to Andy Duncan, Chip Rish, Heather Priestap, Patrick Arena, and 
Rich Sagala for rescuing 17 animals. 

Recommended Action :
For Presentation only. 

 

32



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: August 17, 2021

Department STORMWATER Amount  
Item Key 11397 Account  #

Subject PRESENTATION EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION

Presenter : Renina Fuller

Background :
A presentation for City Council highlighting employee recognition.

Recommended Action :
PRESENTATION PURPOSES ONLY

 

33



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department CITY CLERK Amount  
Item Key 11662 Account 

#
 

Subject PROCLAMATION – RAISE THE PINK FLAG WITH THE PINK ARMY

Presenter : 

Background :
Advent Health-Flagler has requested the City of Palm Coast proclaim October as “Pink on 
Parade 5K month. 

Recommended Action :
Proclaim October as “Pink on Parade 5K” month. 

 

34



PROCLAMATION  

WHEREAS, Breast Cancer is the most frequently diagnosed cancer in women, with an estimate 
of 281,550 new cases of invasive cancer  are expected in women this year and 2,650 new cases of 
invasive breast cancer are expected to be diagnosed in men, ranking it second among all cancer deaths; 
and 

WHEREAS, only 1 in 8 women diagnosed with Breast Cancer have a family history and 85 
percent have no family history, with an increase in incidence rates since 1990 being predominantly 
in women 50 years or older; and  

WHEREAS, early detection with timely screening mammograms has helped to boost the breast 
cancer survivor rate to more than 2.6 million in the United States, also resulting in a 40 percent decline 
in mortalities since 1989, with women under 50 seeing an even larger decrease due to early screening 
and detection; and 

WHEREAS, Padmaja Sai, MD with Florida Cancer Specialists & Research Institute has been a 
dedicated, compassionate and decorated solider of AdventHealth’s Pink Army as she’s tirelessly 
treated and cared for thousands of breast cancer patients in the city of Palm Coast for 15 years with 
innovative therapies such as immunotherapy and access to ground-breaking clinical trials; and 

WHEREAS, AdventHealth Palm Coast’s Pink Army, with the support of the City of Palm Coast 
and our community, has distributed over $150,000, helped over 600 patients and performed hundreds 
of procedures in direct support to Flagler County men and women dealing with Breast Cancer; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast is joining AdventHealth in the:  Food Truck Tuesday event 
and our virtual Pink on Parade 5K on Oct. 10. Fundraising efforts stay local and include, but are not 
limited to, early detection screenings, wellness and lifestyle resources, and survivorship education 
programs to support those impacted by breast cancer. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED, THE PALM COAST MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

HEREBY PROCLAIM OCTOBER 2021 AS  

 “RAISE THE PINK FLAG WITH THE PINK ARMY” MONTH 
IN SUPPORT OF BREAST CANCER AWARENESS 

 
AND ENCOURAGE ALL WOMEN TO PURSUE EARLY BREAST CANCER SCREENING AND OTHER POSSIBLE 

DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES TO AVOID BECOMING ONE OF THIS NATION’S MORTALITIES. 

Signed this 21th day of September 2021. 

 CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA 

  
 

Witnessed by: David Alfin,  Mayor 
  

Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk  

 

35



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11613 Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
CHAPTER 10.02 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT

Presenter: Jordan Myers, Environmental Planner 

Background: 
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop. There were no 
changes suggested to this item.  The PowerPoint presentation is available in the City Clerk’s 
office. 

UPDATE FROM THE AUGUST 3, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
During the City’s recent Community Rating System (CRS) audit, staff was informed that in order 
to retain the City’s Class 4 designation, revisions to the Floodplain Management section of the 
Land Development Code would be required. It should be noted that the City of Palm Coast is 
currently one of two cities in Florida with a Class 4 designation and there is only one Florida city 
with a Class 3 designation. The CRS is part of the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
and the Class 4 designation that the City currently holds allows its citizens to receive up to a 
30% discount on their flood insurance if they live in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) or up 
to a 10% discount if they do not live in the SFHA. The draft ordinance has been approved by the 
ISO reviewers and has also been submitted to the State Floodplain Manager’s Office for 
feedback. Emails were sent out to local stakeholders for feedback as well as the proposed 
Ordinance has been posted to the City’s website with a request for feedback from our Citizens.

The additional mandatory state language that was addressed related to the manufacturing 
housing section of Chapter 10.02 Floodplain Management as shown in strikethroughs for this 
section. 

On 8/18/2021 the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board voted 7-0 to recommend 
that City Council approve the revisions as presented. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM AUGUST 3, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING. 
This item was advertised to be heard by City Council at their August 3, 2021 Business Meeting.  
However, this item is continued to time certain date to September 14, 2021 City Council 
workshop and first read on September 21, 2021 Business Meeting due to additional mandatory 
state language to be addressed.

Recommended Action: 
THE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD AND PLANNING STAFF 
RECOMMENDS CITY COUNCIL APPROVE AMENDING THE UNIFIED LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 10.02 FLOOD PLAIN MANAGEMENT

 

36



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 1 of 20

ORDINANCE 2021-    
AMENDING SECTION 10.02 OF THE

UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING THE CITY’S UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 
AMENDING SECTION 10.02, “FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT” OF 
CHAPTER 10, ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCE 
PROTECTION TO MEET FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND 
COORDINATE WITH THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE; AMENDING 
SECTION 14.02, “GLOSSARY” TO ADD, REVISE AND DELETE 
DEFINITIONS RELATING TO FLOODPLAIN TERMINOLOGY; 
PROVIDING FOR APPLICABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING 
FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Legislature of the State of Florida has, in Chapter 166 – Municipalities, 

Florida Statutes, conferred upon local governments the authority to adopt regulations designed to 

promote public health, safety, and general welfare of its citizenry; and

WHEREAS, the Federal Emergency Management Agency has identified special flood hazard 

areas within the boundaries of Palm Coast and such areas may be subject to periodic inundation which 

may result in loss of life and property, health and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and 

governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures for flood protection and relief, and 

impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety and general welfare; 

and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast was accepted for participation in the National Flood 

Insurance Program on February 4, 2002 and the City of Palm Coast desires to continue to meet the 

requirements of Title 44 Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 59 and 60, necessary for such 

participation; and

WHEREAS, the Federal Emergency Management Agency released FEMA Policy #104-008-

03 Floodplain Management Requirements for Agricultural Structures and Accessory Structures in 

February of 2020, and the City needs to amend its code to comply with this Policy; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast participates in the National Flood Insurance Program and 

participates in the NFIP’s Community Rating System, a voluntary incentive program that recognizes 

and encourages community floodplain management activities that exceed the minimum program 

requirements; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast achieved a CRS rating of Class 4, making citizens who 

purchase NFIP flood insurance policies eligible for premium discounts; and

37



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 2 of 20

WHEREAS, in 2020 the NFIP Community Rating System established certain minimum

prerequisites for communities to qualify for or maintain class ratings of Class 8 or better; and

    WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the public interest to amend the 

floodplain management regulations to better protect owners and occupants of manufactured homes and 

to continue participating in the Community Rating System at the current class rating; and 

     WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the public interest to adopt the 

proposed floodplain management regulations that are coordinated with the Florida Building Code as 

adopted by Section 15-1 of the City Code; and        

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that an amendment to Section 10.02 – Floodplain 

Management and related definitions in Section 14.02 - Glossary of the Unified Land Development 

Code is warranted to remain consistent with the National Flood Insurance Program requirements; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) held a

public meeting to hear public input and discuss these proposed revisions, and found the revisions to be 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, at a meeting on August 8, 2021 the PLDRB voted 7 to 0 in favor of the 

proposed revisions; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of Palm Coast has determined to amend Section 10.02 and 14.02 

with the following text as shown below; and

WHEREAS, words with underlined type shall constitute additions to the original text and strike 

through shall constitute deletions to the original text, and asterisks (* * *) indicate that text shall remain 

unchanged from the language existing prior to adoption of this Ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM COAST, 

FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS. The above recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby 

adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the City Council.

SECTION 2. AMENDING SECTION 10.02 – “FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT” OF

THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE. Section 10.02 – Floodplain Management is 

hereby amended by the following:

Sec. 10.02 Floodplain Management

10.02.01 Administration.

A. General. These regulations shall be known as the Floodplain Management Ordinance of the City of 
Palm Coast, hereinafter referred to as “this article.”

38



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 3 of 20

B. Scope. The provisions of this article shall apply to all development that is wholly within or partially 
within any flood hazard area, including but not limited to the subdivision of land; filling, grading, and 
other site improvements and utility installations; construction, alteration, remodeling, enlargement, 
improvement, replacement, repair, relocation or demolition of buildings, structures, and facilities that 
are exempt from the Florida Building Code; placement, installation, or replacement of manufactured 
homes and manufactured buildings; installation or replacement of tanks; placement of recreational 
vehicles; installation of swimming pools; and any other development.

10.02.02 Reserved.

10.02.03 Intent.

A. [Purposes.] The purposes of this article and the flood load and flood resistant construction requirements 
of the Florida Building Code are to establish minimum requirements to safeguard the public health, 
safety, and general welfare and to minimize public and private losses due to flooding through regulation 
of development in flood hazard areas to:

1. Minimize unnecessary disruption of commerce, access and public service during times of flooding;

2. Require the use of appropriate construction practices in order to prevent or minimize future flood 
damage;

3. Manage filling, grading, dredging, mining, paving, excavation, drilling operations, storage of 
equipment or materials, and other development which may increase flood damage or erosion 
potential;

4. Manage the alteration of flood hazard areas, watercourses, and shorelines to minimize the impact of 
development on the natural and beneficial functions of the floodplain;

5. Minimize damage to public and private facilities and utilities;

6. Help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development of flood hazard 
areas;

7. Minimize the need for future expenditure of public funds for flood control projects and response to 
and recovery from flood events; and

8. Meet the requirements of the National Flood Insurance Program for community participation as set 
forth in the Title 44 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 59.22.

B. Coordination with the Florida Building Code. This article is intended to be administered and enforced 
in conjunction with the Florida Building Code. Where cited, ASCE 24 refers to the edition of the 
standard that is referenced by the Florida Building Code.

C. Warning. The degree of flood protection required by this article and the Florida Building Code, as 
amended by this community, is considered the minimum reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based 
on scientific and engineering considerations. Larger floods can and will occur. Flood heights may be 
increased by man-made or natural causes. This article does not imply that land outside of mapped special 
flood hazard areas, or that uses permitted within such flood hazard areas, will be free from flooding or 
flood damage. The flood hazard areas and base flood elevations contained in the Flood Insurance Study 
and shown on Flood Insurance Rate Maps and the requirements of Title 44 Code of Federal Regulations, 
Sections 59 and 60 may be revised by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, requiring this 
community to revise these regulations to remain eligible for participation in the National Flood 
Insurance Program. No guarantee of vested use, existing use, or future use is implied or expressed by 
compliance with this article.

D. Disclaimer of Liability. This article shall not create liability on the part of City Council of the City of 
Palm Coast or by any officer or employee thereof for any flood damage that results from reliance on this 
article or any administrative decision lawfully made thereunder.

39



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 4 of 20

10.02.04 Applicability.

A. General. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, the specific 
requirement shall be applicable.

B. Areas to which this article applies. This article shall apply to all flood hazard areas within the City of 
Palm Coast as established in Section 10.02.04.C of this article.

C. Basis for establishing flood hazard areas. The Flood Insurance Study for Flagler County, Florida and 
Incorporated Areas dated June 6, 2018 and any subsequent revisions, and the accompanying Flood 
Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), are adopted by reference as a part of this article and shall serve as the 
minimum basis for establishing flood hazard areas. Studies and maps that establish flood hazard areas 
are on file at the City of Palm Coast Community Development Department, 160 Lake Avenue, Palm 
Coast, Florida 32164.

D. Submission of additional data to establish flood hazard areas. To establish flood hazard areas and base 
flood elevations, pursuant to Section 10.02.07 of this article the Floodplain Administrator may require 
submission of additional data. Where field surveyed topography prepared by a Florida licensed 
professional surveyor or digital topography accepted by the Floodplain Administrator indicates that 
ground elevations:

1. Are below the closest applicable base flood elevation, even in areas not delineated as a special flood 
hazard area on a FIRM, the area shall be considered as a flood hazard area and subject to the 
requirements of this article and, as applicable, the requirements of the Florida Building Code.

2. Are above the closest applicable base flood elevation, the area shall be regulated as special flood 
hazard area unless the applicant obtains a Letter of Map Change that removes the area from the 
special flood hazard area.

E. Other Laws. The provisions of this article shall not be deemed to nullify any provisions of local, state 
or federal law.

F. Abrogation and greater restrictions. This article supersedes any article in effect for management and 
development in flood hazard areas. However, it is not intended to repeal or abrogate any other provisions 
of existing ordinances including but not limited to land development regulations, zoning ordinances, 
stormwater management regulations, or the Florida Building Code. In the event of a conflict between 
these regulations and any other regulation, the more restrictive shall govern. This article shall not impair 
any deed restriction, covenant or easement, but any land that is subject to such interests shall also be 
governed by this article.

G. Interpretation. In the interpretation and application of this article, all provisions shall be:

1. Considered as minimum requirements;

2. Liberally construed in favor of the governing body; and

3. Deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state statutes.

10.02.05       Duties and powers of the Floodplain Administrator

A. Designation. The Land Use Administrator is designated the Floodplain Administrator. The Floodplain 
Administrator may delegate performance of certain duties to other employees.

B. General. The Floodplain Administrator is authorized and directed to administer and enforce the 
provisions of this article. The Floodplain Administrator shall have the authority to render interpretations 
of this article consistent with the intent and purpose of this article and may establish policies, and 
procedures in order to clarify the application of its provisions. Such interpretations, policies and 
procedures shall not have the effect of waiving requirements specifically provided in this article without 
the granting of a variance pursuant to Section 10.02.09 of this article.

40



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 5 of 20

C. Applications and permits. The Floodplain Administrator, in coordination with other pertinent offices of 
the community, shall:

1. Review applications and plans to determine whether proposed development will be located in flood 
hazard areas;

2. Review applications for modifications of any existing development in flood hazard areas for 
compliance with the requirements of this article;

3. Interpret flood hazard area boundaries where such interpretation is necessary to determine the exact 
location of boundaries; a person contesting the determination shall have the opportunity to appeal 
the interpretation;

4. Provide available flood elevation and flood hazard information;

5. Determine whether additional flood hazard data shall be obtained from other sources which shall be 
developed by an applicant;

6. Review applications to determine whether proposed development will be reasonably safe from 
flooding;

7. Issue floodplain development permits or approvals for development other than buildings and 
structures that are subject to the Florida Building Code, including buildings, structures and facilities 
exempt from the Florida Building Code, when compliance with this article is demonstrated, or 
disapprove the same in the event of noncompliance; and

8. Coordinate with and provide comments to the Building Official to assure that applications, plan 
reviews, and inspections for buildings and structures in flood hazard areas comply with the 
applicable provisions of this article.

D. Substantial improvements and substantial damage determinations. For applications for building permits 
to improve buildings and structures, including alterations, movement, enlargement, replacement, repair, 
change of occupancy, additions, rehabilitations, renovations, substantial improvements, repairs of 
substantial damage, and any other improvement of or work on such buildings and structures, the 
Floodplain Administrator, in coordination with the Building Official, shall;

1. Estimate the market value, or require the applicant to obtain an appraisal of the market value 
prepared by a qualified independent appraiser, of the building or structure before the start of 
construction of the proposed work; in the case of repair, the market value of the building or structure 
shall be the market value before the damage occurred and before the repairs are made;

2. Compare the cost to perform the improvement, the cost to repair a damaged building to its pre- 
damaged condition, or the combined costs of improvements and repairs, if applicable, to the market 
value of the building or structure;

3. Determine and document whether the proposed work constitutes substantial improvements or repair 
of substantial damage; the determination requires evaluation of previous permits issued for 
improvements and repairs as specified in the definition of “substantial improvement”; for proposed 
work to repair damage caused by flooding, the determination requires evaluation of previous 
permits issued to repair flood-related damage as specified in the definition of “substantial damage”;

4. Notify the applicant if it is determined that the work constitutes substantial improvement or repair 
of substantial damage and that compliance with the flood resistant construction requirements of the 
Florida Building Code and this article is required.

E. Modifications of the strict application of the requirements of the Florida Building Code. The Floodplain 
Administrator shall review requests submitted to the Building Official that seek approval to modify the 
strict application of the flood load and flood resistant construction requirements of the Florida Building

41



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 6 of 20

Code to determine whether such requests require the granting of a variance pursuant to Section 10.02.09 
of this article.

F. Notices and orders. The Floodplain Administrator shall coordinate with appropriate local agencies for 
the issuance of all necessary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this article.

G. Inspections. The Floodplain Administrator shall make the required inspections as specified in Section
10.02.08 of this article for development that is not subject to the Florida Building Code, including 
buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code. The Floodplain 
Administrator shall inspect flood hazard areas to determine if development is undertaken without 
issuance of a permit.

H. Other duties of the Floodplain Administrator. The Floodplain Administrator shall have other duties, 
including but not limited to:

1. In coordination with the Building Official, review all permits for construction within the Special 
Flood Hazard Areas to ensure that the proposed project meets the flood resistant construction 
requirements of the Florida Building Code, including elevation requirements;

2. Establish, in coordination with the Building Official, procedures for administering and documenting 
determinations of substantial improvement and substantial damage made pursuant to Section
10.02.05.D of this article;

3. Require that applicants proposing alteration of a watercourse notify adjacent communities and the 
Florida Division of Emergency Management, State Floodplain Management Office, and submit 
copies of such notifications to the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA);

4. Require applicants, who submit hydrologic and hydraulic engineering analyses to support permit 
applications, to submit to FEMA the data and information necessary to maintain the Flood Insurance 
Rate Maps if the analyses propose to change base flood elevations, flood hazard area boundaries, or 
floodway designations; such submissions shall be made within 6 months of such data becoming 
available;

5. Review required design certifications and documentation of elevations specified by this article and 
the Florida Building Code to determine that such certifications and documentations are complete. 
Elevation certificates shall be provided at three stages, 1) construction drawings, 2) building under 
construction, and 3) finished construction;

6. Notify the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) when the corporate boundaries of the 
City of Palm Coast are modified; and

7. Advise applicants for new buildings and structures, including substantial improvements, that are 
located in any unit of the Coastal Barrier Resources System established by the Coastal Barrier 
Resources Act (Pub. L. 97-348) and the Coastal Barrier Improvement Act of 1990 (Pub. L. 101- 
591) that federal flood insurance is not available on such construction; areas subject to this limitation 
are identified on Flood Insurance Rate Maps as “Coastal Barrier Resource System Areas” and 
“Otherwise Protected Areas.”

I. Floodplain management records. Regardless of any limitation on the period required for retention of 
public records, the Floodplain Administrator shall maintain and permanently keep and make available 
for public inspection all records that are necessary for the administration of this article and the flood 
resistant construction requirements of the Florida Building Code, including Flood Insurance Rate Maps; 
Letters of Map Change; records of issuance of permits and denial of permits; determinations of whether 
proposed work constitutes substantial improvement or repair of substantial damage; required design 
certifications and documentation of elevations specified by the Florida Building Code and this article; 
notifications to adjacent communities, FEMA, and the state related to alterations of watercourses; 
assurances that the flood carrying capacity of altered watercourses will be maintained; documentation 
related to appeals and variances, including justification for issuance or denial; and records of

42



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 7 of 20

enforcement actions taken pursuant to this article and the flood resistant construction requirements of 
the Florida Building Code. These records shall be available for public inspection at City of Palm Coast.

10.02.06 Permits.

A. Permits required. Any owner or owner’s authorized agent (hereinafter “applicant”) who intends to 
undertake any development activity within the scope of this article, including buildings, structures and 
facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code, which is wholly within or partially within any flood 
hazard area shall first make application to the Floodplain Administrator, and the Building Official if 
applicable, and shall obtain the required permit(s) and approval(s). No such permit or approval shall be 
issued until compliance with the requirements of this article and all other applicable codes and 
regulations has been satisfied.

B. Floodplain development permits or approvals. Floodplain development permits or approvals shall be 
issued pursuant to this article for any development activities not subject to the requirements of the 
Florida Building Code, including buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building 
Code. Depending on the nature and extent of proposed development that includes a building or structure, 
the Floodplain Administrator may determine that a floodplain development permit or approval is 
required in addition to a building permit.

C. Buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code. Pursuant to the requirements 
of federal regulation for participation in the National Flood Insurance Program (44 C.F.R. Sections 59 
and 60), floodplain development permits or approvals shall be required for the following buildings, 
structures and facilities that are exempt from the Florida Building Code and any further exemptions 
provided by law, which are subject to the requirements of this article:

1. Railroads and ancillary facilities associated with the railroad.

2. Nonresidential farm buildings on farms, as provided in Section 604.50, F.S.

3. Temporary buildings or sheds used exclusively for construction purposes.

4. Mobile or modular structures used as temporary offices.

5. Those structures or facilities of electric utilities, as defined in Section 366.02, F.S., which are 
directly involved in the generation, transmission, or distribution of electricity.

6. Chickees constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of 
Florida. As used in this paragraph, the term “chickee” means an open-sided wooden hut that has a 
thatched roof of palm or palmetto or other traditional materials, and that does not incorporate any 
electrical, plumbing, or other non-wood features.

7. Family mausoleums not exceeding 250 square feet in area which are prefabricated and assembled 
on site or preassembled and delivered on site, and have walls, roofs, and a floor constructed of 
granite, marble, or reinforced concrete.

8. Temporary housing provided by the Department of Corrections to any prisoner in the state 
correctional system.

9. Structures identified in Section 553.73(10)(k), F.S., are not exempt from the Florida Building Code 
if such structures are located in flood hazard areas established on Flood Insurance Rate Maps.

D. Application for a permit or approval. To obtain a floodplain development permit or approval the 
applicant shall first file an application in writing on a form furnished by the City of Palm Coast. The 
information provided shall:

1. Identify and describe the development to be covered by the permit or approval.

2. Describe the land on which the proposed development is to be conducted by legal description, street 
address or similar description that will readily identify and definitively locate the site.

43



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 8 of 20

3. Indicate the use and occupancy for which the proposed development is intended.

4. Be accompanied by a site plan or construction documents as specified in Section 10.04.07.

5. State the valuation of the proposed work.

6. Be signed by the applicant or the applicant’s authorized agent.

7. Give such other data and information as required by the Floodplain Administrator.

E. Validity of permit or approval. The issuance of a floodplain development permit or approval pursuant 
to this article shall not be construed to be a permit for, or approval of, any violation of this article, the 
Florida Building Codes, or any other ordinance of this community. The issuance shall not prevent the 
Floodplain Administrator from requiring the correction of errors and omissions.

F. Expiration. A floodplain development permit or approval shall become invalid unless the work 
authorized by such permit is commenced within 180 days after its issuance, or if the work authorized is 
suspended or abandoned for a period of 180 days after the work commences. Extensions for periods of 
not more than 180 days each shall be requested in writing and justifiable cause shall be demonstrated.

G. Suspension or revocation. The Floodplain Administrator is authorized to suspend or revoke a floodplain 
development permit or approval if the permit was issued in error, on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate or 
incomplete information, or in violation of this article or any other ordinance, regulation or requirement 
of the City.

H. Other permits. Floodplain development permits and building permits shall include a condition or 
disclaimer that all other applicable state or federal permits be obtained by the applicant before 
commencement of the permitted development. Such permits may include but not limited to the 
following:

1. The St. Johns Water Management District; section 373.036, F.S.

2. Florida Department of Health for onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems; section 381.0065,
F.S. and Chapter 64E-6, F.A.C.

3. Florida Department of Environmental Protection for activities subject to the Joint Coastal Permit; 
section 161.055, F.S.

4. Florida Department of Environmental Protection for activities that affect wetlands and alter surface 
water flows, in conjunction with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; Section 404 of the Clean Water 
Act.

5. Federal permits and approvals.

10.02.07 Site plans and construction documents.

A. Information for development in flood hazard areas. The site plan or construction documents for any 
development subject to the requirements of this article shall be drawn to scale and shall include, as 
applicable to the proposed development:

1. Delineation of flood hazard areas, floodway boundaries, 25-foot floodway setback, flood zone(s), 
base flood elevation(s), and ground elevations if necessary for review of the proposed development.

2. Where base flood elevations or floodway data are not included on the FIRM or in the Flood 
Insurance Study, they shall be established in accordance with Section 10.02.07.B.2 or Section 
10.02.07.B.3 of this article.

3. Where the parcel on which the proposed development will take place does not have will have more 
than 50 lots or is larger than 5 acres and the base flood elevations are not included on the FIRM or
in the Flood Insurance Study, such elevations shall be established in accordance with Section 
10.02.07.B.1 of this article.

44



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 9 of 20

4. Location of the proposed activity and proposed structures, and locations of existing buildings and 
structures; in coastal high hazard areas, new buildings shall be located landward of the reach of 
mean high tide.

5. Location, extent, amount, and proposed final grades of any filling, grading, or excavation.

6. Where the placement of fill is proposed, the amount, type, and source of fill material; compaction 
specifications; a description of the intended purpose of the fill areas; and evidence that the proposed 
fill areas are the minimum necessary to achieve the intended purpose.

7. Existing and proposed alignment of any proposed alteration of a watercourse.

B. Information in flood hazard areas without base flood elevations (approximate Zone A). Where flood 
hazard areas are delineated on the FIRM and base flood elevation data have not been provided, the 
Floodplain Administrator shall:

1. Require the applicant to include base flood elevation data prepared in accordance with currently 
accepted engineering practices.

2. Obtain, review, and provide to applicants base flood elevation and floodway data available from a 
federal or state agency or other source, or require the applicant to obtain and use base flood elevation 
and floodway data available from a federal or state agency or other source.

3. Where base flood elevation data and floodway data are not available from another source, where the 
available data are deemed by the Floodplain Administrator to not reasonably reflect flooding 
conditions, or where the available data are known to be scientifically or technically incorrect or 
otherwise inadequate, the base flood elevation shall be determined using a site-specific floodplain 
study by a professional engineer using detailed methods.
a. Require the applicant to include base flood elevation data prepared in accordance with currently 

accepted engineering practices; or
b. Specify that the base flood elevation is two (2) feet above the highest adjacent grade at the 

location of the development, provided there is no evidence indicating flood depths have been or 
may be greater than two (2) feet.

4. Where the base flood elevation data are to be used to support a Letter of Map Change from FEMA, 
advise the applicant that the analyses shall be prepared by a Florida licensed engineer in a format 
required by FEMA, and that it shall be the responsibility of the applicant to satisfy the submittal 
requirements and pay the processing fees.

C. Additional analyses and certifications. As applicable to the location and nature of the proposed 
development activity, and in addition to the requirements of this section, the applicant shall have the 
following analyses signed and sealed by a Florida licensed engineer for submission with the site plan 
and construction documents:

1. For development activities proposed to be located in a regulatory floodway or within the 25-foot 
floodway setback, a floodway encroachment analysis that demonstrates that the encroachment of 
the proposed development will not cause any increase in base flood elevations; where the applicant 
proposes to undertake development activities that do increase base flood elevations, the applicant 
shall submit such analyses to FEMA as specified in Section 10.02.07.D of this article and shall 
submit the Conditional Letter of Map Revision, if issued by FEMA, with the site plan and 
construction documents.

2. For development activities proposed to be located in a riverine flood hazard area for which base 
flood elevations are included in the Flood Insurance Study on the FIRM and floodways have not 
been designated, hydrologic and hydraulic analyses that demonstrate that the cumulative effect of 
the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated flood hazard area 
encroachments, will not increase the base flood elevation at any point within the community. This

45



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 10 of 20

requirement does not apply in isolated flood hazard areas not connected to a riverine flood hazard 
area or in flood hazard areas identified as Zone “O” or Zone “AH”.

3. For alteration of a watercourse, an engineering analysis prepared in accordance with standard 
engineering practices which demonstrates that the flood-carrying capacity of the altered or relocated 
portion of the watercourse will not be decreased, and certification that the altered watercourse shall 
be maintained in a manner which preserves the channel’s flood-carrying capacity; the applicant shall 
submit the analysis to FEMA as specified in Section 10.02.07.D of this article.

D. Submission of additional data. When additional hydrologic, hydraulic or other engineering data, studies, 
and additional analyses are submitted to support an application, the applicant shall seek a Letter of Map 
Change from FEMA to change the base flood elevations, change floodway boundaries, or change 
boundaries of flood hazard areas shown on FIRMs, and to submit such data to FEMA for such purposes. 
The analyses shall be prepared by a Florida licensed engineer in a format required by FEMA. Submittal 
requirements and processing fees shall be the responsibility of the applicant.

10.02.08 Inspections.

A. General. Development for which a floodplain development permit or approval is required shall be 
subject to inspection.

B. Development other than buildings and structures. The Floodplain Administrator shall inspect all 
development to determine compliance with the requirements of this article and the conditions of issued 
floodplain development permits or approvals.

C. Buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code. The Floodplain 
Administrator shall inspect buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code 
to determine compliance with the requirements of this article and the conditions of issued floodplain 
development permits or approvals.

D. Buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code, lowest floor inspection. 
Upon placement of the lowest floor, including basement, and prior to further vertical construction, the 
owner of a building, structure or facility exempt from the Florida Building Code, or the owner’s 
authorized agent, shall submit to the Floodplain Administrator: the certification of the lowest floor 
prepared and sealed by a state-licensed surveyor.

1. If a design flood elevation was used to determine the required elevation of the lowest floor, 
certification of elevation of the lowest floor prepared and sealed by a Florida licensed professional 
surveyor; or

2. If the elevation used to determine the required elevation of the lowest floor was determined in 
accordance with Section 10.02.07.B.3.b of this article, the documentation of height of the lowest 
floor above highest adjacent grade, prepared by the owner or the owner’s authorized agent.

E. Buildings, structures and facilities exempt from the Florida Building Code, final inspection. As part of 
the final inspection, the owner or owner’s authorized agent shall submit to the Floodplain Administrator 
a final certification of elevation of the lowest floor or final documentation of the height of the lowest 
floor above the highest adjacent grade; such certifications and documentations shall be prepared as 
specified in Section 10.02.08.D of this article.

F. Manufactured homes. The Building Official shall inspect manufactured homes that are installed or 
replaced in flood hazard areas to determine compliance with the requirements of this article and the 
conditions of the issued permit. Upon placement of a manufactured home, certification of the elevation 
of the lowest floor shall be submitted to the Building Official.

46



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 11 of 20

10.02.09  Variances and Appeals.

A. General. The Land Use Administrator and the City of Palm Coast Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board shall hear and decide on requests for appeals and the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board shall hear requests for variances from the strict application of this article. Pursuant to 
Section 553.73(5), F.S., the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board shall hear and decide on 
requests for appeals and requests for variances from the strict application of the flood resistant 
construction requirements of the Florida Building Code. This section does not apply to Section 3109 of 
the Florida Building Code, Building.

B. Appeals. Same process as set out in Section 2.16, of the Land Development Code.

C. Limitations on authority to grant variances. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
shall base its decisions on variances on technical justifications submitted by applicants, the 
considerations for issuance in Section 10.02.09.H of this article, the conditions of issuance set forth in 
Section 10.02.09.I of this article, and the comments and recommendations of the Land Use 
Administrator, Floodplain Administrator and the Building Official. The Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board has the right to attach such conditions as it deems necessary to further 
the purposes and objectives of this article.

D. Restrictions in floodways. A variance shall not be issued for any proposed development in a floodway 
if any increase in base flood elevations would result, as evidenced by the applicable analyses and 
certifications required in Section 10.02.07.C of this article.

E. Historic buildings. A variance is authorized to be issued for the repair, improvement, or rehabilitation 
of a historic building that is determined eligible for the exception to the flood resistant construction 
requirements of the Florida Building Code, Existing Building Chapter 12 Historic Buildings, upon a 
determination that the proposed repair, improvement, or rehabilitation will not preclude the building’s 
continued designation as a historic building and the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the 
historic character and design of the building. If the work precludes the building’s continued designation 
as a historic building, a variance shall not be granted and the building and any repair, improvement, and 
rehabilitation shall be subject to the requirements of the Florida Building Code.

F. Functionally dependent uses. A variance is authorized to be issued for the construction or substantial 
improvement necessary for the conduct of a functionally dependent use, as defined in this article, 
provided the variance meets the requirements of Section 10.02.09.D, is the minimum necessary 
considering the flood hazard, and all due consideration has been given to use of methods and materials 
that minimize flood damage during occurrence of the base flood.

G. Alteration of sand dunes or mangrove stands in coastal high hazard areas. A variance shall not be issued 
for any proposed alteration of sand dunes or mangrove stands in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V) 
unless the applicant submits, and the City approves, an engineering analysis that demonstrates the 
proposed alteration will not increase the potential for flood damage or the potential for erosion. Any 
such variance shall not be issued unless the proposed alteration is approved by the Florida Department 
of Environmental Protection. This limitation shall not apply to mangrove stands within City canals.

H. Considerations for issuance of variances. In reviewing requests for variances, the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board shall consider all technical evaluations, all relevant factors, all other 
applicable provisions of the Florida Building Code, Land Development Code and this article, and the 
following:

1. The danger that materials and debris may be swept onto other lands resulting in further injury or 
damage;

2. The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage;

3. The susceptibility of the proposed development, including contents, to flood damage and the effect 
of such damage on current and future owners;

47



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 12 of 20

4. The importance of the services provided by the proposed development with existing and anticipated 
development;

5. The availability of alternate locations for the proposed development that are subject to lower risk of 
flooding or erosion;

6. The compatibility of the proposed development with existing and anticipated development;

7. The relationship of the proposed development to the comprehensive plan and floodplain 
management program for the area;

8. The safety of access to the property in times of flooding for ordinary and emergency vehicles;

9. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and debris and sediment transport of the 
floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; and

10. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions, including 
maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water 
systems, streets, and bridges.

I. Conditions for issuance of variances. Variances shall be issued only upon:

1. Submission by the applicant of a showing of good and sufficient cause that the unique characteristics 
of the size, configuration, or topography of the site limit compliance with any provision of this 
article or the required elevation standards.

2. Determination by the Planning and Land Development Regulation that:

a. Failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship due to the physical 
characteristics of the land that render the lot undevelopable; increased costs to satisfy the 
requirements or inconvenience do not constitute hardship;

b. Literal interpretation of the provision of this Land Development Code would deprive the 
applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under the 
terms of this Land Development Code and would result in unnecessary and undue hardship on 
the applicant;

c. The granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public 
safety, extraordinary public expense, nor create nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization of 
the public or conflict with existing local laws and ordinances;

d. The variance is the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief;

e. The special conditions and circumstances are not self-imposed and do not result from the actions 
of the applicant; and

f. Receipt of a signed statement by the applicant that the variance, if granted, shall be recorded in 
the Office of the Clerk of Court in such a manner that it appears in the chain of title of the 
affected parcel of land;

g. If the request is for a variance to allow construction of the lowest floor of a new building, or 
substantial improvement of a building, below the required elevation, a copy in the record of a 
written notice from the Floodplain Administrator to the applicant for the variance, specifying 
the difference between the base flood elevation and the proposed elevation of the lowest floor, 
stating that the cost of federal flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk 
resulting from the reduced floor elevation (up to amounts as high as $25 for $100 of insurance 
coverage), and stating that construction below the base flood elevation increases risks to life and 
property;

h. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

48



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 13 of 20

i. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the provisions 
of this Land Development Code;

j. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

k. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or constitute a 
threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants; and

l. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state, and federal laws, 
statutes, ordinances, regulators, or codes.

10.02.10          Violations.

A. Violations. Any development that is not within the scope of the Florida Building Code but that is 
regulated by this article that is performed without an issued permit, that is in conflict with an issued 
permit, or that does not fully comply with this article, shall be deemed a violation of this article. A 
building or structure without the documentation of elevation of the lowest floor, other required design 
certifications, or other evidence of compliance required by this article or the Florida Building Code is 
presumed to be a violation until such time as that documentation is provided.

B. Authority. For development that is not within the scope of the Florida Building Code but that is regulated 
by this article and that is determined to be a violation, the Floodplain Administrator is authorized to 
serve notices of violation or stop work orders to owners of the property involved, to the owner’s agent, 
or to the person or persons performing the work.

C. Unlawful continuance. Any person who shall continue any work after having been served with a notice 
of violation of a stop work order, except such work as that a person is directed to perform to remove or 
remedy a violation or unsafe condition, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law.

10.02.11           Flood Resistant Development Design and construction of buildings, structures and facilities exempt 
from the Florida Building Code.

(i) Pursuant to Section 10.02.06.C of this article, buildings, structures, and facilities that are exempt from the 
Florida Building Code, including substantial improvement or repair of substantial damage of such buildings, 
structures and facilities, shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the flood load and flood 
resistant construction requirements of ASCE 24. Structures exempt from the Florida Building Code that are 
not walled and roofed buildings shall comply with the requirements of Section 10.02.17 of this article.

10.02.12 Subdivisions.

A. Minimum requirements. Subdivision proposals, including proposals for manufactured home parks and 
subdivisions, shall be reviewed to determine that:

1. Such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage and will be reasonably safe 
from flooding;

2. All public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electric, communications, and water systems are 
located and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage; and

3. Adequate drainage is provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards; in Zones AH and AO, adequate 
drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures.

B. Subdivision plats. Where any portion of proposed subdivisions, including manufactured home parks and 
subdivisions, lies within a flood hazard area, the following shall be required:

1. Delineation of flood hazard areas, floodway boundaries, 25-foot floodway setback, flood zones, and 
design flood elevations, as appropriate, shall be shown on preliminary plats;

2. All subdivisions where the base flood elevation is not included on the FIRM, the base elevations are 
determined in accordance with Section 10.02.07.B.1 of this article; and

49



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 14 of 20

3. Compliance with the site improvement and utilities requirements of Section 10.02.13 of this article.

4. Any reduction in the water-holding capacity of the flood hazard area caused by development, 
structures, and site improvements shall be compensated such that no increase in water surface 
elevations, peak discharges, or velocities occurs either upstream, downstream, or in the vicinity of 
the site during occurrence of flood events up to and including the base flood. The compensatory 
storage shall be located within the same defined floodplain’s hydrologic sub basin as the placement 
of the fill. Site improvements are permitted if flood storage provided is equal to or greater than the 
volume of flood storage displaced by the development. Technical data providing evidence of the 
equivalency of the compensatory storage shall be submitted to the City.

5. Applicant shall ensure that technical data reflecting base flood elevation changes or flood hazard 
area boundary changes are submitted to Federal Emergency Management Agency, with the City’s 
endorsement, for a conditional Flood Insurance Rate Map revision. Prior to approval of final plat, 
an issued Letter of Map Change determination from FEMA is required.

10.02.13 Site Improvements, Utilities and Limitations.

A. Minimum requirements. All proposed new development shall be reviewed to determine that:

1. Such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage and will be reasonably safe 
from flooding;

2. All public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electric, communications, and water systems are 
located and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage; and

3. Adequate drainage is provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards; in Zones AH and AO, adequate 
drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures.

B. Sanitary sewage facilities. All new and replacement sanitary sewage facilities, private sewage treatment 
plants (including all pumping stations and collector systems), and on-site waste disposal systems shall 
be designed in accordance with the standards for onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems in 
Chapter 64E-6, F.A.C. and ASCE 24 Chapter 7 to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into 
the facilities and discharge from the facilities into flood waters, and impairment of the facilities and 
systems.

C. Water supply facilities. All new and replacement water supply facilities shall be designed in accordance 
with the water well construction standards in Chapter 62-532.500, F.A.C. and ASCE 24 Chapter 7 to 
minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the systems.

D. Compensatory storage. Any reduction in the water-holding capacity of the flood hazard area caused by 
development, structures, and site improvements shall be compensated such that no increase in water 
surface elevations, peak discharges, or velocities occurs either upstream, downstream, or in the vicinity 
of the site during occurrence of flood events up to and including the base flood. The compensatory 
storage shall be located within the same defined floodplain’s hydrologic sub basin as the placement of 
the fill. Site improvements are permitted if flood storage provided is equal to or greater than the volume 
of flood storage displaced by the development. Technical data providing evidence of the equivalency of 
the compensatory storage shall be submitted to the City.

E. Limitations on sites in regulatory floodways and 25-foot floodway setback. No development, including 
but not limited to site improvements, and land disturbing activity involving fill or regrading, shall be 
authorized in the regulatory floodway or 25-foot floodway setback unless the floodway encroachment 
analysis required in Section 10.02.07.C.1 of this article demonstrates that the proposed development or 
land disturbing activity will not result in any increase in the base flood elevation.

F. Limitations on placement of fill. Subject to the limitations of this article, fill shall be designed to be 
stable under conditions of flooding including rapid rise and rapid drawdown of floodwaters, prolonged

50



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 15 of 20

inundation, and protection against flood-related erosion and scour. In addition to these requirements, if 
intended to support buildings and structures (Zone A only), fill shall comply with the requirements of 
the Florida Building Code.

G. Limitations on sites in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V). In coastal high hazard areas, alteration of 
sand dunes and mangrove stands shall not be permitted. Construction or restoration of dunes under or 
around elevated buildings and structures shall comply with Section 10.02.17.I.3 of this article.

10.02.14 Manufactured Homes.

A. General. Manufactured homes shall not be installed in floodways and 25-foot floodway setback except 
in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision. All manufactured homes installed in flood hazard 
areas shall be installed by an installer that is licensed pursuant to Section 320.8249, F. S. and shall 
comply with the requirements of Chapter 15C-1, F. A. C. and the requirements of this article.

B. Foundations. All manufactured homes and replacement manufactured homes installed in flood hazard 
areas shall be installed on permanent, reinforced foundations that:

1. In flood hazard areas (Zone A) other than coastal high hazard areas, are designed in accordance with 
the foundation requirements of the Florida Building Code Residential Section R322.2 and this 
article. Foundations for manufactured homes subject to Section 10.02.14.F of this article are 
permitted to be reinforced piers or other foundation elements of at least equal strength.

2. In coastal high hazard areas (Zone V), are designed in accordance with the foundation requirements 
of the Florida Building Code, Residential Section R322.3 and this article.

C. Anchoring. All new manufactured homes and replacement manufactured homes shall be installed using 
methods and practices which minimize flood damage and shall be securely anchored to an adequately 
anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse or lateral movement. Methods of anchoring 
include, but are not limited to, use of over the top or frame ties to ground anchors. This anchoring 
requirement is in addition to applicable state and local anchoring requirements for wind resistance.

D. Elevation. All manufactured homes that are placed, replaced, or substantially improved in flood hazard 
areas shall be elevated such that the bottom of the frame is at or above the elevation required, as 
applicable to the flood hazard area, in the Florida Building Code, Residential Section R322.2 (Zone A) 
or Section R322.3 (Zone V and Coastal A Zone). Manufactured homes that are placed, replaced, or 
substantially improved shall comply with Section 10.02.14.E or Section 10.02.14.F of this article, as 
applicable.

E. General elevation requirement. Unless subject to the requirements of Section 10.02.14.F of this article, 
all manufactured homes that are placed, replaced, or substantially improved on sites located:

1. Outside of a manufactured home park or subdivision; 2. In a new manufactured home park or 
subdivision;

2. In a new manufactured home park or subdivision

3. In an expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision; or

4. In an existing manufactured home park or subdivision upon which a manufactured home has 
incurred “substantial damage” as the result of a flood, shall be elevated such that the bottom of the 
frame is at or above the elevation required, as applicable to the flood hazard area, in the Florida 
Building Code Residential Section R322.2 (Zone A) or Section R322.3 (Zone V).

F. Elevation requirement for certain existing manufactured home parks and subdivisions. Manufactured 
homes that are not subject to Section 10.02.14.E of this article, including manufactured homes that are 
placed, replaced, or substantially improved on sites located in an existing manufactured home park or 
subdivision, unless on a site where substantial damage as result of flooding has occurred, shall be 
elevated such that either the:

51



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 16 of 20

1. Bottom of the frame of the manufactured home is at or above the elevation required, as applicable 
to the flood hazard area, in the Florida Building Code Residential Section R322.2 (Zone A) or 
Section R322.3 (Zone V); or

2. Bottom of frame is supported by reinforced piers or other foundation elements of at least equivalent 
strength that are not less than thirty-six (36) inches in height above grade.

GE. Enclosures. Enclosed areas below elevated manufactured shall comply with the requirements 
of the Florida Building Code Residential Section R322.2 or Section R322.3 for such enclosed 
areas, as applicable to the flood hazard area.

HF. Utility equipment. Utility equipment that serves manufactured homes, including electric, heating, 
ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment and other service facilities, shall comply with the 
requirements of the Florida Building Code, Residential Section R322.

10.02.15            Recreational Vehicles and Trailer Parks.

A. Temporary placement. Recreational vehicles and park trailers placed temporarily in flood hazard areas 
shall:

1. Be prohibited to park or store a recreational vehicle for more than a total of three days, or any part 
thereof in any consecutive seven-day period on a residential driveway; or

2. Be fully licensed and ready for highway use, which means the recreational vehicle or park model is 
on wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick-disconnect type utilities and 
security devices, and has no permanent attachments such as additions, rooms, stairs, decks and 
porches.

B. Permanent placement. Recreational vehicles and park trailers that do not meet the limitations in Section
10.02.15.A of this article for temporary placement shall meet the requirements of Section 10.02.14 of 
this article for manufactured homes.

10.02.16        Tanks.

A. Underground tanks. Underground tanks in flood hazard areas shall be anchored to prevent flotation, 
collapse or lateral movement resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads during conditions of 
the design flood, including the effects of buoyancy assuming the tank is empty.

B. Above-ground tanks, not elevated. Above-ground tanks that do not meet the elevation requirements of 
Section 10.02.16.C of this article shall:

1. Be permitted in flood hazard areas (Zone A) other than coastal high hazard areas, provided the 
tanks are anchored or otherwise designed and constructed to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral 
movement resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads during conditions of the design 
flood, including the effects of buoyancy, assuming the tank is empty, and the effects of flood- 
borne debris.

2. Not be permitted in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V).

C. Above-ground tanks, elevated. Above-ground tanks in flood hazard areas shall be attached to and 
elevated to or above the design flood elevation on a supporting structure that is designed to prevent 
flotation, collapse or lateral movement during conditions of the design flood. Tank-supporting structures 
shall meet the foundation requirements of the applicable flood hazard area.

D. Tank inlets and vents. Tank inlets, fill openings, outlets and vents shall be:

1. At or above the design flood elevation or fitted with covers designed to prevent the inflow of 
floodwater or outflow of the contents of the tanks during conditions of the design flood; and

52



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 17 of 20

2. Anchored to prevent lateral movement resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, 
including the effects of buoyancy, during conditions of the design flood.

10.02.17            Other development.

A. General requirements for other development. All development, including man-made changes to 
improved or unimproved real estate for which specific provisions are not specified in this article or the 
Florida Building Code, shall:

1. Be located and constructed to minimize flood damage;

2. Meet the limitations of Section 10.02.13.E of this article if located in a regulated floodway;

3. Be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement resulting from hydrostatic loads, 
including the effects of buoyancy, during conditions of the design flood;

4. Be constructed of flood damage-resistant materials; and

5. Have mechanical, plumbing, and electrical systems above the design flood elevation or meet the 
requirements of ASCE 24, except that minimum electric service required to address life safety and 
electric code requirements is permitted below the design flood elevation provided it conforms to the 
provisions of the electrical part of building code for wet locations.

B. Fences in regulated floodways. Fences in regulated floodways that have the potential to block the 
passage of floodwaters, such as stockade fences and wire mesh fences, shall meet the limitations of 
Section 10.02.13.E of this article.

C. Retaining walls, sidewalks and driveways in regulated floodways. Retaining walls and sidewalks and 
driveways that involve the placement of fill in regulated floodways shall meet the limitations of Section
10.02.13.E of this article.

D. Roads and watercourse crossings in regulated floodways. Roads and watercourse crossings, including 
roads, bridges, culverts, low-water crossings and similar means for vehicles or pedestrians to travel from 
one side of a watercourse to the other side, that encroach into regulated floodways, shall meet the 
limitations of Section 10.02.13.E of this article. Alteration of a watercourse that is part of a road or 
watercourse crossing shall meet the requirements of Section 10.02.07.C.3 of this article.

E. Concrete slabs used as parking pads, enclosure floors, landings, decks, walkways, patios and similar 
nonstructural uses in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V). In coastal high hazard areas, concrete slabs 
used as parking pads, enclosure floors, landings, decks, walkways, patios and similar nonstructural uses 
are permitted beneath or adjacent to buildings and structures provided the concrete slabs are designed 
and constructed to be:

1. Structurally independent of the foundation system of the building or structure;

2. Frangible and not reinforced, so as to minimize debris during flooding that is capable of causing 
significant damage to any structure; and

3. Have a maximum slab thickness of not more than four inches.

F. Decks and patios in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V). In addition to the requirements of the Florida 
Building Code, in coastal high hazard areas decks and patios shall be located, designed, and constructed 
in compliance with the following:

1. A deck that is structurally attached to a building or structure shall have the bottom of the lowest 
horizontal structural member at or above the design flood elevation and any supporting members 
that extend below the design flood elevation shall comply with the foundation requirements that 
apply to the building or structure, which shall be designed to accommodate any increased loads 
resulting from the attached deck.

53



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 18 of 20

2. A deck or patio that is located below the design flood elevation shall be structurally independent 
from buildings or structures and their foundation systems, and shall be designed and constructed 
either to remain intact and in place during design flood conditions or to break apart into small pieces 
to minimize debris during flooding that is capable of causing structural damage to the building or 
structure or to adjacent buildings and structures.

3. A deck or patio that has a vertical thickness of more than 12 inches or that is constructed with more 
than the minimum amount of fill necessary for site drainage shall not be approved unless an analysis 
prepared by a qualified registered design professional demonstrates no harmful diversion of 
floodwaters or wave runup and wave reflection that would increase damage to the building or 
structure or to adjacent buildings and structures.

4. A deck or patio that has a vertical thickness of 12 inches or less and that is at natural grade or on 
nonstructural fill material that is similar to and compatible with local soils and is the minimum 
amount necessary for site drainage may be approved without requiring analysis of the impact on 
diversion of floodwaters or wave runup and wave reflection.

G. Other development in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V). In coastal high hazard areas, development 
activities other than buildings and structures shall be permitted only if also authorized by the appropriate 
federal, state or local authority; if located outside the footprint of, and not structurally attached to, 
buildings and structures; and if analyses prepared by qualified registered design professionals 
demonstrate no harmful diversion of floodwaters or wave runup and wave reflection that would increase 
damage to adjacent buildings and structures. Such other development activities include but are not 
limited to:

1. Bulkheads, seawalls, retaining walls, revetments, and similar erosion control structures;

2. Solid fences and privacy walls, and fences prone to trapping debris, unless designed and con- 
structed to fail under flood conditions less than the design flood or otherwise function to avoid 
obstruction of floodwaters; and

3. On-site sewage treatment and disposal systems defined in 64E-6.002, F.A.C., as filled systems or 
mound systems.

H. Nonstructural fill in coastal high hazard areas (Zone V). In coastal high hazard areas:

1. Minor grading and the placement of minor quantities of nonstructural fill shall be permitted for 
landscaping and for drainage purposes under and around buildings.

2. Nonstructural fill with finished slopes that are steeper than one unit vertical to five units horizontal 
shall be permitted only if an analysis prepared by a qualified registered design professional 
demonstrates no harmful diversion of floodwaters or wave runup and wave reflection that would 
increase damage to adjacent buildings and structures.

3. Where authorized by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection or applicable local 
approval, sand dune construction and restoration of sand dunes under or around elevated buildings 
are permitted without additional engineering analysis or certification of the diversion of floodwater 
or wave runup and wave reflection if the scale and location of the dune work is consistent with local 
beach-dune morphology and the vertical clearance is maintained between the top of the sand dune 
and the lowest horizontal structural member of the building.

10.02.18 Critical Facilities.
A. New critical facilities shall be directed and sited away from special flood hazard areas. A critical facility 

shall have at least one access road connected to land outside the special flood hazard area that is capable 
of supporting a 4,000-pound vehicle. The top of the road shall be no lower than six inches below base 
flood elevation.

54



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 19 of 20

B. New critical facilities proposed for constructioned within a Special Flood Hazard Area without a 
determined base flood elevation shall not be constructed be permitted unless with an issued Letter of 
Map Change demonstrating that the entire project area is outside the Special Flood Hazard Area. base 
flood elevations are determined and certified data is provided from a Florida licensed professional 
engineer, The technical data shall be submitted to the Federal Emergency Agency with the City’s 
endorsement for a Letter of Map Change to remove the entire project area from the Special Flood Hazard 
Area. Prior to close out of the permit, a Letter of Map Change determination shall be submitted to the 
Floodplain Administrator.

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 14.02. – “GLOSSARY” OF CHAPTER 14 – GLOSSARY

OF THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE. Section 14.02. - “Glossary” of the City of Palm Coast Unified 

Land Development Code is hereby amended as follows:

Sec. 14.02. Glossary

Accessory use or accessory structure: A use or structure on the same lot with, and of nature customarily 
incidental and subordinate to, the principal use or structure.

***

Detailed methods: Relating to flood damage protection, this term means a method of determining a base flood 
elevation with a site-specific engineering analysis as described in FEMA publication “Managing Floodplain Development 
in Approximate Zone A Areas -A Guide for Obtaining and Developing Base (100-Year) Flood Elevations,” also known 
as FEMA publication 265.

***

Manufactured home (mobile home) park/subdivision, existing: Relating to flood damage protection, this term means 
a manufactured home (mobile home) park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on 
which the manufactured homes (mobile homes) are to be affixed (including at a minimum the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before February 5, 1986 
or standard based upon specific technical base flood elevation data which established the area of special flood hazard.

 

Manufactured home/mobile home/park/subdivision, expansion to an existing: Relating to flood damage protection, 
this term means the preparation of additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes (mobile homes) are to be affixed (including the minimum installation of utilities, the construction of 
streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before February 5, 1986.

 

Manufactured home/mobile home park/subdivision, new: Relating to flood damage protection, this term is defined 
as a manufactured (mobile home) park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on 
which the manufactured homes (mobile homes) are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed on or after February 5, 
1986.

SECTION 4. APPLICABILITY. For the purposes of jurisdictional applicability, this ordinance shall apply in 
the City of Palm Coast, Florida. This ordinance shall apply to all applications for development, including building permit 
applications and subdivision proposals, submitted on or after the effective date of this ordinance.

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 

or section of this Ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and 

55



Ordinance 2021-  
Page 20 of 20

sections of this Ordinance.

SECTION 6. CODIFICATION. It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, Florida, and it 

is hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinance of the 

City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the Sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such 

intention; that the word, “Ordinance” may be changed to Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate word.

SECTION 7. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby 

repealed.

SECTION 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its passage and 

adoption.

Approved on first reading this day of , 2021.

Adopted on second reading after due public notice and hearing this day of 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY

WILLIAM E. REISCHMANN, JR. ESQ. 
CITY ATTORNEY

56



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21, 2021

Department FINANCIAL SERVICES Amount  
Item Key Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, 
DIVISION 3 OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF ORDINANCES

Presenter: Helena Alves, Financial Services Director

Background:  
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop. Council did not 
suggest any changes to this item. However, upon further staff review, the Ordinance was 
redlined to reflect the updated timeline in the Section 287.057(3), Fla. Stat. The PowerPoint 
presentation is available in the City Clerk’s office.

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
City staff will be presenting on proposed changes to the City’s Purchasing Policy, Chapter 2 Article 1 
Division 3 of the City Palm Coast Code of Ordinances. The ordinance was last updated on May 25, 
2017. 

The proposed changes reflect staff titles and department division name changes, an improved bid 
protest process, best practice updates with respect to solicitation thresholds, and the addition of 
Public-Private Partnership requirements in compliance with Florida Statute 255.065. 

In support of the proposed changes, attached to this Agenda Item are:

1. PowerPoint presentation
2. The Public Procurement Guide for Elected and Senior Government Officials, published 

by the National Institute for Public Procurement (NIGP).
3. Ordinance repealing and replacing Purchasing Ordinance with proposed changes 

redlined
4. Ordinance repealing and replacing Purchasing Ordinance final clean version

Recommended Action:  
ADOPT ORDINANCE 2021-XX REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2 ARTICLE 1 
DIVISION 3 OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF ORDINANCES

 

57



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 1 of 11

ORDINANCE 2021- 
PROCUREMENT POLICY

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, 
ARTICLE 1, DIVISION 3-PURCHASES AND CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 
SECTIONS 2-24 THROUGH 2-31; OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF PALM COAST; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, in October 2003, City Council adopted an Ordinance amending Ordinance 
2002-06, which provides for the City’s procurement policies; and

WHEREAS, in March 2017, City Council adopted an Ordinance amending Ordinance 
2002-06, revising and updating the City’s procurement policies; and

WHEREAS, the overall goal of the City’s procurement policies is to provide the most 
appropriate quality of goods and services needed by the City to provide agreed to services to its’ 
citizens at the least total public expense considering, as a minimum, initial cost, operating and 
maintenance costs, and estimated useful life; and

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast to continue to 
provide the most cost-effective purchases in the competitive marketplace, as well as ensuring 
fairness and impartiality in the City’s dealings with vendors; and

WHEREAS, in order to keep with the overall goal and continue to provide the most cost- 
effective purchases, City Council desires to repeal and replace Chapter 2, Article 1, Division 3 as 
stated hereinafter.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above 
recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings 
of the City Council.

SECTION 2. REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, DIVISION 3. The City 
Council of the City of Palm Coast hereby repeals Chapter 2, Article 1, Division 3-
Purchases and Contractual Services, Sections 2-24 through 2-31 of the Code of Ordinances 
of the City of Palm Coast and replaces Division 3 Purchases and Contractual Services as 
stated hereinafter:

58



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 2 of 11

DIVISION 3. - PURCHASES AND CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
Sec. 2-24. – Quotes and Formal Solicitations

A. Informal Quotes ($5,000 to $29,999.99)
Except as provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including leases) with 
an estimated value greater than or equal to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) but less than or 
equal to twenty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine and 99/100 dollars ($29,999.99) 
require two or more written quotes in accordance with the procedures adopted by the City.

B. Formal Request for Quotes ($30,000.00 to $49,999.99)

C. Except as otherwise provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including 
leases) with an estimated value greater than or equal to thirty thousand dollars ($30,000.00) but 
less than or equal to forty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine and 99/100 dollars 
($49,999.99) require a formal request for quotes which shall be posted on the City’s procurement 
portal in an attempt to obtain two or more written quotes. The requesting department shall submit 
the supporting documentation of proper quote vetting to the procurement staff. 

D. Request for Formal Sealed Competitive Solicitation ($50,000.00 or greater) Except as otherwise 
provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including leases) with an estimated value 
greater than or equal to fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) shall require a formal sealed competitive 
solicitation. Such solicitations may be in the form of an invitation to bid (ITB), request for proposal 
(RFP), request for statement of qualifications (RFSQ), request for information (RFI) or any other formal 
solicitation process.

E. Items may not be purchased in divided quantities to avoid the requirements of this division. 
For example, a department may have several similar items that are needed for their operation 
throughout the fiscal year and individually these items are less than $50,000.00 but in aggregate 
the items are in excess of $50,000.00. These items should not be split into several requisitions 
but should be consolidated and procured following the applicable solicitation process.

F. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for professional services covered by the 
Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act (CCNA) shall be accomplished in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 287.055, Florida Statutes.

G. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for any City construction project that is 
projected to cost more than $200,000 shall be accomplished in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 255.0525, Florida Statutes.

H. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for City utility projects shall be accomplished 
in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 180, Florida Statutes.

I. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City reserves its right to reject 
any quote, bid, or proposal deemed non-responsive or non-responsible at any time prior to 
award of a contract.

59



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 3 of 11

Sec. 2-25. – Exemptions to Quotes and Formal Solicitations

A. Small Purchases: Non-recurring purchases of goods or services under five thousand dollars 
($5,000.00).

B. Emergency Purchase: An emergency exemption occurs when i) certain conditions might 
adversely affect the life, health, safety and welfare of City employees or citizens of the City,
ii) when City property or equipment are endangered, iii) when it is necessary to maintain or 
restore vital services, or iv) situations arise which may cause major financial impact to the City 
should immediate action not be taken. In the case of an emergency, the City Manager, or 
designee may authorize certain imminent needs purchases. Those delegated the authority to 
implement emergency purchases are authorized to waive the bid process within their authority. A 
report listing all emergency purchases and the circumstances of the emergency shall be 
submitted to the City Council on a monthly basis. It shall be the responsibility of all authorized 
personnel implementing this exemption to ensure such emergency purchase is accomplished in 
accordance with City policy and that emergency purchase procedures are invoked properly and 
not used solely to circumvent the regular established procurement procedures.

C. Piggybacking: Piggybacking is a procedure of procuring goods or services without the formal 
solicitation process by means of utilizing another public entities' award of an Invitation for bid 
or request for proposal. This procedure includes but is not limited to piggybacks of State 
Contracts with the State of Florida, Department of Management Services, and Division of 
Purchasing, SNAPS Contracts, and Federal GSA contracts.

(1) The City may forego the formal solicitation process by Piggybacking. The award will be 
in accordance with all the terms and conditions, prices, time frames, and other criteria as 
included in the other public entities’ invitation for bid or request for proposal. Additional 
options may be included in a procurement unless the total dollar value of the options is in 
excess of the City's bid limit. Expired bids cannot be piggybacked.

(2) The City Manager, Department Head, or designee may make purchases/awards, utilizing 
other public entity bids, provided the contract being piggybacked is approved by City 
Council, if applicable, the amounts are within the City Council approved budget and the 
purchase is made in the best interests of the City. For amounts within the City Manager 
approval authority, the City Manager must approve the piggyback or contract after review 
by procurement staff. For amounts within the Department Head’s approval authority, the 
Department Head must approve the piggyback or contract after review by procurement 
staff.

D. Sole Source: Sole source purchasing is when there is only one person or company that can 
provide the goods and/or services needed because of the specialized or unique characteristics 
of the goods and/or services.

(1) The following criteria must be met in order to procure goods and services that are a sole 
source.

60



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 4 of 11

a. It is the only item that will produce the desired results (or fulfill the specific need) 
and,

b. The item is available from only one source of supply, or
c. The item is available from more than one vendor, but due to other circumstances 

(such as exclusive sales territory by manufacturer, prohibitive delivery time and 
cost, etc.), only one vendor is suited to provide the goods or services.

(2) Any purchase of goods and/or services with an estimated value greater than or equal to 
the amount established under Florida Statute 287.017, Category 2, that is intended to be 
purchased from a sole source, must be electronically posted for seven (7) business days, in 
accordance with Florida Statute 287.057(3). The notice must include a request that 
potential vendors provide information regarding their ability to supply the goods and/or 
services described.

(3) Purchases of goods and/or services from a sole source are exempt from competitive 
requirements upon written approval of the City Manager, or designee and other 
appropriate City personnel within their expenditure authority as set forth in this section.

(4) The request for sole source purchases shall set forth the purpose and need, an explanation 
why the item will exclusively produce the desired results (or fulfill the specific need) and 
the criteria. Compatibility to existing equipment shall be an acceptable justification for 
this exemption, provided the item is only available from a sole source of supply.

(5) The user department and/or the buyer shall attempt to locate competition (alternate 
sources of supply).

(6) Procurement staff shall keep a log of sole source purchases, which includes the vendor 
name, the amount, item description, justification, and the purchase order number, which 
shall be filed with the City Manager and reported monthly to the City Council.

(7) Procurement staff shall conduct negotiations, as appropriate, as to price, delivery, and 
terms.

E. Special Circumstances: Under circumstances where, after competitive bidding, no bids meeting 
bid requirements are received or all bids are rejected for failure to meet bid requirements.

F. Additional Exemptions: The purchase of the following goods and services is exempt from 
quotes and formal solicitations.

(1) Water, Sewer, Gas, Electrical and Other Utility Services; Telecommunication Services 
including, but not limited to, cable television, telephone lines, internet connectivity, data 
and voice circuits, voice over internet protocol ("VOIP"), cellular/wireless phones, wide 
area network ("WAN") connectivity, pagers, and wireless adapters for cellular data ("air 
cards").

(2) Postage

61



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 5 of 11

(3) Advertisements

(4) Membership Fees

(5) Subscriptions

(6) Any items covered under the City’s travel policy

(7) Software/Technology Maintenance and Support renewal fees for existing software or 
technology licenses

(8) Goods and/or services provided by governmental entities

Sec. 2-26. - Approval requirements.

A. City Council approval shall be required for all contracts and bid awards, piggybacking awards, 
and sole source awards with an estimated value greater than or equal to fifty thousand dollars 
($50,000.00).

B. The City Manager or designee shall have approval authority as follows:

(1) Any purchases less than or equal to forty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine and 
99/100 dollars ($49,999.99); or

(2) Any purchases of capital items, goods and services pursuant to contracts and bid awards, 
piggybacking awards, and sole source awards approved by City Council and as set out in 
the annual budget as adopted by the City Council.

(3) Any purchases of capital items, goods and services as set forth in a Resolution adopted 
by City Council.

C. Department heads or their designee shall have authority to approve purchases of capital items, 
goods and services less than or equal to thirty thousand dollars ($30,000.00), where such 
purchase does not exceed the item and/or department budget limit.

D. Emergency purchases shall be accomplished in accordance with section 2-25(B).

Sec. 2-27. - Additional procedures/powers of City Manager.

The City Manager is hereby granted authority to adopt any and all such additional administrative 
policies and procedures supplemental to the provisions of this division that are in the best interests 
of the City, and not inconsistent with the intent of this division.

Sec. 2-28. - Disposal of surplus property.

Surplus property may be disposed of by trade, sealed bid, donated, or sold at public auction 

62



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 6 of 11

depending on the item, its value, or other factors all as may be in accordance with law and City 
policy. If the surplus property is determined to be only of scrap value or have no commercial 
value, City staff is authorized sell the surplus property as scrap if possible, or dispose in any other 
appropriate manner. City Council may approve of disposal of surplus property that has 
commercial value by any method other than as provided herein.

Sec. 2-29 – Intent to Award and Award Protest Procedures

A. Intent to Award Protest Procedure

(1) In any case where a bidder wishes to protest the results of an intended disposition of any 
bid, the following action is required:

a. The bidder must file a written protest to the Financial Services Director or designee 
explaining in detail the nature of the protest and the grounds on which it is based. 
This protest must be received by the Financial Services Director or designee no later 
than three (3) business days after the City's Notice of Intent to Award. 

b. The Financial Services Director or designee shall respond in writing to the written 
protest in a timely manner, determine whether the protest is with or without merit, 
and revise the administrative decision or recommendation, if necessary.

(2) In any case where a bidder wishes to appeal the Financial Services Director or designee’s 
protest determination, the following action is required:

a. The bidder must file a written appeal to the City Manager explaining in detail the 
nature of the appeal and the grounds on which it is based. This written appeal must 
be received by the City Manager no later than three (3) business days after the 
Financial Services Director or designee’s written protest determination. Each 
written appeal must be accompanied by a bid protest appeal bond in the form of a 
certified check, cashier's check or money order made payable to the City of Palm 
Coast, in the amount not less than five percent (5%) of the lowest responsive bid 
and in an amount to secure any City damages or costs arising from the appeal, to be 
determined by the Financial Services Director or designee. In the case of request 
for qualifications where there is no bid amount, the bond amount shall be an amount 
to be determined by the Financial Services Director, however, in an amount no less 
than $10,000.

b. Upon timely receipt of the formal written appeal and bid protest appeal bond, the 
City Manager shall respond in writing to the written appeal, determine whether the 
appeal is with or without merit, and revise the administrative decision or 
recommendation, if necessary.

(3) In any case where a bidder wishes to appeal the determination by the City Manager, the 
following action is required:

63



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 7 of 11

a. The bidder must file a written appeal to City Council, addressed to the City Clerk, 
explaining in detail the nature of the appeal and the grounds on which it is based. 
This notice must be received by the City Clerk no later than three (3) business days 
after the date of the City Manager’s written response. 

b. The City Clerk shall schedule the bid protest appeal to be heard at an upcoming 
City Council meeting and provide all relevant documents in the agenda package.

c. The bidder must attend the scheduled City Council meeting. City staff and the 
bidder will be provided an opportunity to present evidence related to the bid protest 
appeal.

d. At the scheduled City Council meeting, City Council will determine whether the 
appeal is with or without merit, and revise the administrative decision or 
recommendation, if necessary.

(4) Upon receipt by the Financial Services Director or designee of the written protest to the 
City’s Notice of Intent to Award, the final bid award shall be delayed until the entirety of 
the protest procedure, as herein described, has been completed.

B. Award Protest Procedure

(1) Should the City Council make an award to a bidder, other than the bidder selected in the 
Notice of Intent to Award, the only bidder with the right to protest the award and file a 
written appeal is the selected bidder identified in the Notice of Intent to Award. A City 
Council decision not to make an award to any bidder is not appealable.  Each written appeal 
must be accompanied by a bid protest appeal bond in the form of a certified check, cashier's 
check or money order made payable to the City of Palm Coast, in an amount not less than 
five percent (5%) of the lowest responsive bid and in an amount to secure any City damages 
or costs arising from the appeal, to be determined by the Financial Services Director or 
designee. In the case of request for qualifications where there is no bid amount, the bond 
amount shall be an amount to be determined by the Financial Services Director, however, 
in an amount no less than $10,000. The following action is required to protest an award:

a. The bidder must file a written appeal to City Council, addressed to the City Clerk, 
explaining in detail the nature of the appeal and the grounds upon which it is based. 
This notice must be received by the City Clerk no later than three (3) business days 
after the date of the City Council’s award. At that time, the final bid award shall be 
delayed until the protest procedure, as herein described, has been completed, unless 
City Council decides to otherwise move forward with the award.

b. The City Clerk shall schedule the bid protest appeal to be heard at an upcoming 
City Council meeting and provide all relevant documents in the agenda package.

 
c. The protesting bidder must attend the scheduled City Council meeting. City staff 

and the bidder will be provided an opportunity to present their position on the bid 

64



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 8 of 11

protest appeal and evidence to the City Council.

d. At the scheduled City Council meeting, City Council shall determine whether the 
appeal is with or without merit, and revise their prior decision, if necessary, or City 
Council may, at its discretion, order that the appeal be heard by a Hearing Officer 
pursuant to Chapter 2, Article III, Division 3 of this Code of Ordinances.

e. If the City Council refers the appeal to a Hearing Officer, the protesting bidder must 
attend the Hearing Officer hearing.  City staff and the bidder will be provided an 
opportunity to present their position on the bid protest appeal and evidence to the 
Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer will determine whether the appeal is with or 
without merit and provide a recommendation to the City Council as to whether or 
not the City Council should revise its prior decision.

f. The City Council shall have final decision making authority on all award protest 
appeals.

(2) The bid protest bond shall be forfeited to the City if one of the following occurs:

a. The bid protest appeal is determined to be without merit or non-valid by the City 
Manager and no further appeal is filed;

b. The bid protest appeal is determined to be without merit or non-valid by the City 
Council, or

c. The bidder who filed the appeal did not attend the scheduled City Council 
meeting and/or Hearing Officer meeting.

Sec. 2-30 – Local Business Preference

(1) Excepted as provided in this division or as may be exempted by applicable State or Federal 
law, a local business preference shall apply to all purchases or acquisitions of products, 
materials and services of the City of Palm Coast.  Local Business Preference applies to 
persons, firms, and/or corporations residing or located in the City of Palm Coast, which 
meet the established criteria, set forth below. In all quotes and formal solicitations covered 
in Section 2-24 of this division, qualified Palm Coast persons, firms, and/or corporations 
shall receive a local business preference. The Local Business Preference as set forth herein 
shall apply and shall result in the otherwise qualified local Palm Coast business being 
awarded the contract, at the amount of the submitted quote or bid, if the local Palm Coast 
vendor’s quote or bid is the next lowest bid and the bid amount is within the applicable 
percentage of the lowest bid submitted by a non-local business, as set forth herein.

(2) If the Local Business Preference does not result in the Palm Coast business being awarded 
the contract, then the Local Business Preference applies to persons, firms, and/or 

65



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 9 of 11

corporations residing or located in Flagler County, which meet the established criteria, set 
forth below. In all quotes and formal solicitations covered in Section 2-24 of this division, 
qualified persons, firms, and/or corporations shall receive a local business preference. The 
Local Business Preference as set forth herein shall apply and shall result in the otherwise 
qualified Flagler County business being awarded the contract, at the amount of the 
submitted quote or bid, if the local vendor’s quote or bid is the next lowest bid and the bid 
amount is within the applicable percentage of the lowest bid submitted by a non-local 
business, as set forth herein.

(3) Local Business Preference Amounts and Limit are as follows:

a. Five percent (5%) of the net quote or bid price up to $200,000.00 as referenced on 
the quote tabulation or bid price schedule.

b. Three percent (3%) of the net bid price above $200,000.00 as referenced on the bid 
price schedule.

c. The total local business preference shall be limited to $20,000.00 for each quote or 
project.

Example: Local Business Bid of $250,000 would be provided a Local Business 
Preference of $11,500.00. ((5% x $200,000.00) + (3% x $50,000.00))

(4) To qualify as a Palm Coast person, firm and/or corporation, a vendor must have its 
headquarters, manufacturing facility, or locally-owned franchise located in, or having a 
street address within, the legal boundaries of the City of Palm Coast for at least one (1) 
year immediately prior to the request for a quote or formal bid solicitation (Post office 
boxes do not qualify as a verifiable business address).

(5) To qualify as a Flagler County person, firm and/or corporation, a vendor must have its 
headquarters, manufacturing facility, or locally-owned franchise located in, or having a 
street address within, the legal boundaries of Flagler County for at least one (1) year 
immediately prior to the request for a quote or formal bid solicitation (Post office boxes 
do not qualify as a verifiable business address).

(6) Local Business Preference shall not apply to:

a. Purchases that are funded in whole or part by assistance from any federal, state, or 
local agency that disallows local preference;

b. Purchases exempt from obtaining quotes or soliciting formal proposals or bids as 
described in Sec. 2-25. – Exemptions to Quotes and Formal Solicitations.

(7) The local business preference established in this section does not prohibit the right of the 
City Council or other purchasing authority to compare quality or fitness for use of 
supplies, materials, equipment and services proposed for purchase and compare 

66



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 10 of 11

qualifications, character, responsibility and fitness of all persons, firms, or corporations 
submitting bids or proposals.

(8) Application of local businesses preference to a particular purchase, contract, or category 
of contracts for which the City Council is the awarding authority may be waived upon 
written justification and recommendation by the City Manager and approval of the City 
Council.

(9) The local business preference established in this section does not prohibit the City 
Council, or other authorized purchasing authority, from giving any other preference 
permitted by law in addition to the local business preference.

Sec. 2-32 – Public-Private Partnerships 

A. The submission by private entities and the processing by City of public-private partnership (P3) 
Proposals, whether solicited or unsolicited, shall be in accordance with Section 255.065 Florida 
Statutes.

B. The City Manager may establish a reasonable application fee for the submission of unsolicited 
P3 proposals.  If the initial application fee does not cover the City’s costs to evaluate the 
unsolicited proposal, the City Manager may request in writing the additional amounts required. 
The private entity must pay the requested additional amounts within 30 days after receipt of the 
noticed request. The City may stop its review of the unsolicited proposal if the private entity 
fails to pay the additional amounts. If the City does not evaluate the unsolicited proposal, the 
City must return the application fee.

C. The City Manager or designee shall have the authority to decide whether to evaluate any 
unsolicited proposals.  Should the City Manager or designee decide not to evaluate the 
unsolicited proposal, the City shall return the evaluation fee.

D. The City Manager or designee shall have the authority to solicit proposals from other parties in 
accordance with Section 255.065 Florida Statutes for the same or similar P3 concept of any 
unsolicited proposal, whether or not the unsolicited proposal has been evaluated.

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, 
and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared 
unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance

SECTION 4. CODIFICATION. It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm 
Coast, Florida, and it is hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become 
and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the 
Sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; 
that the word, “Ordinance” may be changed to “Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate 
word.

67



ORDINANCE 2021- ____
Page 11 of 11

SECTION 5. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance 
are hereby repealed.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately 
upon its passage and adoption.

Approved on first reading this 21st day of September, 2021.

Adopted on second reading after due public notice and hearing this 5th day of October, 2021.

ATTEST: CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

_______________________________ _______________________________
VIRGINIA A. SMITH, CITY CLERK DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

_______________________________________
WILLIAM E. REISCHMANN, JR., ESQ.

68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 1 of 11

ORDINANCE 2021- 
PROCUREMENT POLICY

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, 
ARTICLE 1, DIVISION 3-PURCHASES AND CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 
SECTIONS 2-24 THROUGH 2-31; OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF PALM COAST; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, in October 2003, City Council adopted an Ordinance amending Ordinance 
2002-06, which provides for the City’s procurement policies; and

WHEREAS, in March 2017, City Council adopted an Ordinance amending Ordinance 
2002-06, revising and updating the City’s procurement policies; and

WHEREAS, the overall goal of the City’s procurement policies is to provide the most 
appropriate quality of goods and services needed by the City to provide agreed to services to its’ 
citizens at the least total public expense considering, as a minimum, initial cost, operating and 
maintenance costs, and estimated useful life; and

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast to continue to 
provide the most cost-effective purchases in the competitive marketplace, as well as ensuring 
fairness and impartiality in the City’s dealings with vendors; and

WHEREAS, in order to keep with the overall goal and continue to provide the most cost- 
effective purchases, City Council desires to repeal and replace Chapter 2, Article 1, Division 3 as 
stated hereinafter.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above 
recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings 
of the City Council.

SECTION 2. REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, DIVISION 3. The City 
Council of the City of Palm Coast hereby repeals Chapter 2, Article 1, Division 3-
Purchases and Contractual Services, Sections 2-24 through 2-31 of the Code of Ordinances 
of the City of Palm Coast and replaces Division 3 Purchases and Contractual Services as 
stated hereinafter:

93



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 2 of 11

DIVISION 3. - PURCHASES AND CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

Sec. 2-24. – Quotes and Formal Solicitations
A. Informal Quotes ($53,000 to $29,999.99)

Except as provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including leases) with 
an estimated value greater than or equal to fivethree thousand dollars ($53,000.00) but less 
than or equal to twenty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine and 99/100 dollars 
($29,999.99) require two or more written quotes in accordance with the procedures adopted by 
the City.

B. Formal Request for Quotes ($30,000.00 to $49,999.99)
C. Except as otherwise provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including 

leases) with an estimated value greater than or equal to thirty thousand dollars ($30,000.00) but 
less than or equal to forty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine and 99/100 dollars 
($49,999.99) require a formal request for quotes which shall be posted on the City’s 
procurement portal in an attempt to obtain two or more written quotes. The requesting 
department shall submit the required specificationssupporting documentation of proper quote 
vetting to the procurement staffCentral Services Division. 

D.C. Request for Formal Sealed Competitive Solicitation ($50,000.00 or greater)
Except as otherwise provided in this division, procurement of goods or services (including 
leases) with an estimated value greater than or equal to fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) 
shall require a formal sealed competitive solicitation. Such solicitations may be in the form of 
an invitation to bid (ITB), request for proposal (RFP), request for statement of qualifications 
(RFSQ), request for information (RFI) or any other formal solicitation process.

E.D. Items may not be purchased in divided quantities to avoid the requirements of this division. 
For example, a department may have several similar items that are needed for their operation 
throughout the fiscal year and individually these items are less than $530,000.00 but in 
aggregate the items are in excess of $530,000.00. These items should not be split into several 
requisitions but should be consolidated and procured following the applicable solicitation 
process.

F.E. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for professional services covered by the 
Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act (CCNA) shall be accomplished in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 287.055, Florida Statutes.

G.F. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for any City construction project that is 
projected to cost more than $200,000 shall be accomplished in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 255.0525, Florida Statutes.

G. The solicitation of competitive bids or proposals for City utility projects shall be accomplished 
in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 180, Florida Statutes.

H. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City reserves its right to reject 
any quote, bid, or proposal deemed non-responsive or non-responsible at any time prior to 
award of a contract.

94



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 3 of 11

Sec. 2-25. – Exemptions to Quotes and Formal Solicitations
A. Small Purchases: Non-recurring purchases of goods or services under fivethree thousand 

dollars ($53,000.00).).
B. Emergency Purchase: An emergency exemption occurs when i) certain conditions might 

adversely affect the life, health, safety and welfare of City employees or citizens of the City,
ii) when City property or equipment are endangered, iii) when it is necessary to maintain or 
restore vital services, or iv) situations arise which may cause major financial impact to the City 
should immediate action not be taken. In the case of an emergency, the City Manager, or 
designee may authorize certain imminent needs purchases. Those delegated the authority to 
implement emergency purchases are authorized to waive the bid process within their authority. 
A report listing all emergency purchases and the circumstances of the emergency shall be 
submitted to the City Council on a monthly basis.at the next Council meeting after the purchase 
and the termination of the emergency. It shall be the responsibility of all authorized personnel 
implementing this exemption to ensure such emergency purchase is accomplished in accordance 
with City policy and that emergency purchase procedures are invoked properly and not used 
solely to circumvent the regular established purchasing procurement procedures.

C. Piggybacking: Piggybacking is a procedure of procuring goods or services without the formal 
solicitation process by means of utilizing another public entities' award of an Invitation for bid 
or request for proposal. This procedure includes but is not limited to piggybacks of State 
Contracts with the State of Florida, Department of Management Services, and Division of 
Purchasing, SNAPS Contracts, and Federal GSA contracts.

(1) The City may forego the formal solicitation process by Piggybacking. The award will be 
in accordance with all the terms and conditions, prices, time frames, and other criteria as 
included in the other public entities’ invitation for bid or request for proposal. Additional 
options may be included in a procurement unless the total dollar value of the options is 
in excess of the City's bid limit. Expired bids cannot be piggybacked.

(2) The City Manager, Department Head, or designee may make purchases/awards, utilizing 
other public entity bids, provided the contract being piggybacked is approved by City 
Council, if applicable, the amounts are within the City Council approved budget and the 
purchase is made in the best interests of the City. For amounts within the City Manager 
approval authority, the City Manager must approve the piggyback or contract after review 
by procurement staff.Central Services Division Staff. For amounts within the Department 
Head’s approval authority, the Department Head must approve the piggyback or contract 
after review by procurement staffCentral Services Division Staff.

D. Sole Source: Sole source purchasing is when there is only one person or company that can 
provide the goods and/or services needed because of the specialized or unique characteristics 
of the goods and/or services.
(1) The following criteria must be met in order to procure goods and services that are a sole 

source.
a. It is the only item that will produce the desired results (or fulfill the specific need) 

and,
b. The item is available from only one source of supply, or

95



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 4 of 11

c. The item is available from more than one vendor, but due to other circumstances 
(such as exclusive sales territory by manufacturer, prohibitive delivery time and 
cost, etc.), only one vendor is suited to provide the goods or services.

(2) Any purchase of goods and/or services with an estimated value greater than or equal to 
the amount established under Florida Statute 287.017, Category 2, $30,000 that is intended 
to be purchased from a sole source, must be electronically posted for seven (7) business 
days, in accordance with Florida Statute 287.057(3). The notice must include a request 
that potential vendors provide information regarding their ability to supply the goods 
and/or services described.

(3) Purchases of goodsgood and/or services from a sole source are exempt from competitive 
requirements upon written approval of the City Manager, or designee and other 
appropriate City personnel within their expenditure authority as set forth in this section.

(4) The request for sole source purchases shall set forth the purpose and need, an explanation 
why the item will exclusively produce the desired results (or fulfill the specific need) and 
the criteria. Compatibility to existing equipment shall be an acceptable justification for 
this exemption, provided the item is only available from a sole source of supply.

(5) The user department and/or the buyer shall attempt to locate competition (alternate 
sources of supply).

(6) Procurement staffCentral Services Division shall keep a log of sole source purchases, 
which includes the vendor name, the amount, item description, justification, and the 
purchase order number, which shall be filed with the City Manager and reported quarterly 
monthly to the City Council.

(7) Procurement staffCentral Services Division shall conduct negotiations, as appropriate, as 
to price, delivery, and terms.

E. Special Circumstances: Under circumstances where, after competitive bidding, no bids 
meeting bid requirements are received or all bids are rejected for failure to meet bid 
requirements.

F. Additional Exemptions: The purchase of the following goods and services is exempt from 
quotes and formal solicitations.
(1) Water, Sewer, Gas, Electrical and Other Utility Services; Telecommunication Services 

including, but not limited to, cable television, telephone lines, internet connectivity, data 
and voice circuits, voice over internet protocol ("VOIP"), cellular/wireless phones, wide 
area network ("WAN") connectivity, pagers, and wireless adapters for cellular data ("air 
cards").

(2) Postage
(3) Advertisements
(4) Membership Fees
(5) Subscriptions
(6) Any items covered under the City’s travel policy

96



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 5 of 11

(7) Software/Technology Maintenance and Support renewal fees for existing software or 
technology licenses

(8) Goods and/or services provided by governmental entities
Sec. 2-26. - Approval requirements.
A. City Council approval shall be required for all contracts and bid awards, piggybacking awards, 

and sole source awards with an estimated value greater than or equal to thirty fifty thousand 
dollars ($530,000.00).

B. The City Manager or designee shall have approval authority as follows:
(1) Any purchases less than or equal to twentyforty-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine 

and 99/100 dollars ($429,999.99); or
(2) Any purchases of capital items, goods and services pursuant to contracts and bid awards, 

piggybacking awards, and sole source awards approved by City Council and as set out in 
the annual budget as adopted by the City Council.

(3) Any purchases of capital items, goods and services as set forth in a Resolution adopted 
by City Council.

C. Department heads or their designee shall have authority to approve purchases of capital items, 
goods and services less than or equal to fifteen thirty thousand dollars ($1305,000.00), where 
such purchase does not exceed the item and/or department budget limit.

D. Emergency purchases shall be accomplished in accordance with section 2-25(B).
Sec. 2-27. - Additional procedures/powers of City Manager.
The City Manager is hereby granted authority to adopt any and all such additional administrative 
policies and procedures supplemental to the provisions of this division that are in the best interests 
of the City, and not inconsistent with the intent of this division.

Sec. 2-28. - Disposal of surplus property.
Surplus property may be disposed of by trade, sealed bid, donated, or sold at public auction 
depending on the item, its value, or other factors all as may be in accordance with law and City 
policy. If the surplus property is determined to be only of scrap value or have no commercial 
value, City staff is authorized sell the surplus property as scrap if possible, or dispose in any other 
appropriate manner. City Council may approve of disposal of surplus property that has 
commercial value by any method other than as provided herein.
Sec. 2-29 – Bid Intent to Award and Award Protest Procedures
A. Intent to Award Protest Procedure

(1) In any case where a bidder or interested bidder wishes to protest either the results of or an 
intended disposition of any bid, the following action is required:

a. The bidder or interested bidder must file a written notice protest to the 
FinancialAdministrative Services & Economic Development Director or designee 
explaining in detail the nature of the protest and the grounds on which it is based. 

97



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 6 of 11

This notice protest must be received by the FinancialAdministrative Services and 
Economic Development Director or designee no later than three (3) business days 
after the City's Notice of Intent to Award. At that time, the final bid award shall be 
delayed until the protest procedure, herein described, has been completed.

b. The FinancialAdministrative Services & Economic Development Director or 
designee shall respond in writing to the written protest in a timely manner, 
determine whether the protest is with or without merit, and revise the administrative 
decision or recommendation, if necessary.

(2) In any case where a bidder, or interested bidder wishes to appeal the determination by the 
FinancialAdministrative Services & Economic Development Director or designee’s 
protest determination, the following action is required:

a. The bidder or interested bidder must file a written appeal to the City Manager 
explaining in detail the nature of the appeal and the grounds on which it is based. 
This notice written appeal must be received by the City Manager no later than three 
(3) business days after the Financial Services Director or designee’s& Economic 
Development Director’s written protest determination. response. At that time, the 
final bid award shall be delayed until the protest procedure, herein described, has 
been completed. Each written appeal must be accompanied by a bid protest appeal 
bond in the form of a certified check, cashier's check or money order made payable 
to the City of Palm Coast, in the amount not less than five percent (5%) of the 
lowest responsiveble bid and in an amount to secure any City damages or costs 
arising from the appeal, to be determined by the FinancialAdministrative Services 
and Economic Development Director or designee. In the case of request for 
qualifications where there is no bid amount, the bond amount shall be an amount to 
be determined by the Financial Services Director, however, in an amount  and shall 
be no less than $10,000.

b. Upon timely receipt of the formal written protestappeal and bid protest appeal bond, 
the City Manager shall respond in writing to the written appeal, determine whether 
the appeal is with or without merit, and revise the administrative decision or 
recommendation, if necessary.

(3) In any case where a bidder, or interested bidder wishes to appeal the determination by the 
City Manager, the following action is required:

a. The bidder or interested bidder must file a written appeal to City Council, addressed 
to the City Clerk, explaining in detail the nature of the appeal and the grounds on 
which it is based. This notice must be received by the City Clerk no later than three 
(3) business days after the date of the City Manager’s written response. At that time, 
the final bid award shall be delayed until the protest procedure, herein described, 
has been completed.

b. The City Clerk shall schedule the bid protest appeal to be heard at an upcoming 
City Council meeting and provide all relevant documents in the agenda package.

c. The bidder or interested bidder must attend the scheduled City Council meeting. 
City staff and the bidder or interested bidder will be provided an opportunity to 

98



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 7 of 11

present evidence related to the bid protest appeal.
d. At the scheduled City Council meeting, City Council will determine whether the 

appeal is with or without merit, and revise the administrative decision or 
recommendation, if necessary.

(4) Upon receipt by the Financial Services Director or designee of the written protest to the 
City’s Notice of Intent to Award, the final bid award shall be delayed until the entirety of 
the protest procedure, as herein described, has been completed.

B. Award Protest Procedure
(1) Should If the challenge is tothe City Council make an award to a bidder, other than the 

bidder identified as selected oin the Notice of Intent to Award, the only protest permitted is 
by the bidder with the right to protest the award and file a written appeal is the selected 
bidder identified asin the selected bidder in the Notice of Intent to Award who was not 
selected by City Council. A City Council decision not to make an not awardthe contract to 
any bidder is not appealable.  Each written appeal must be accompanied by a bid protest 
appeal bond in the form of a certified check, cashier's check or money order made payable 
to the City of Palm Coast, in thean amount not less than five percent (5%) of the lowest 
responsiveble bid and in an amount to secure any City damages or costs arising from the 
appeal, to be determined by the Financial Services Director or designee. In the case of 
request for qualifications where there is no bid amount, the bond amount shall be an amount 
to be determined by the Financial Services Director, however, and shall bein an amount no 
less than $10,000. The following action is required to protest an award:

a. The bidder must file a written appeal to City Council, addressed to the City Clerk, 
explaining in detail the nature of the appeal and the grounds upon which it is based. 
This notice must be received by the City Clerk no later than three (3) business days 
after the date of the City Council’s award. At that time, the final bid award shall be 
delayed until the protest procedure, as herein described, has been completed, unless 
City Council decides to otherwise move forward with the award.

b. The City Clerk shall schedule the bid protest appeal to be heard at an upcoming 
City Council meeting and provide all relevant documents in the agenda package. 

c. The protesting bidder must attend the scheduled City Council meeting. City staff 
and the bidder will be provided an opportunity to present their position on the bid 
protest appeal and evidence related to the City Councilbid protest appeal.

d. At the scheduled City Council meeting, City Council mayshall determine whether 
the appeal is with or without merit, and revise their prior decision, if necessary, or 
City Council may, at its discretion, order that the appeal be heard by a Hearing 
Officer pursuant to Chapter 2, Article III, Division 3 of this Code of Ordinances at 
a Hearing Board meeting.

e. If the City Council refers the appeal to a Hearing Officer, the protesting bidder must 
attend the Hearing Officer hearing. If applicable, the bidder must attend the 
scheduled Hearing Board meeting. City staff and the bidder will be provided an 
opportunity to present their position on the bid protest appeal and evidence to the 
Hearing Officerrelated to the bid protest appeal. The Hearing Officer will determine 

99



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 8 of 11

whether the appeal is with or without merit and provide a recommendation to the 
City Council as to whether or not the City Council should revise its prior decision.

f. The City Council shall have final decision making authority on all award protest 
appeals.

If applicable, the Hearing Officer will determine whether the appeal is with or without merit, and 
may recommend that City Council revise their prior decision.

2. The bid bond protest bond shall be forfeited to the City if one of the following occurs:
a.The bid protest appeal is determined to be without merit or non-valid by the City Manager 

and no further appeal is filed;
b.The bid protest appeal is determined to be without merit or non-valid by the City Council, 

or
c.The bidder or interested bidder who filed the appeal did not attend the scheduled City 

Council meeting and/or Hearing BoardOfficer meeting, if applicable.

Sec. 2-30 – Local Business Preference
(1) Excepted as provided in this division or as may be exempted by applicable State or Federal 

law, a local business preference shall apply to all purchases or acquisitions of products, 
materials and services of the City of Palm Coast.Local Business Priority Preference applies 
to Palm Coast persons, firms, and/or corporations residing or located in the City of Palm 
Coast, which meet the established criteria, set forth below. In all quotes and formal 
solicitations covered in Section 2-24 of this division, qualified Palm Coast persons, firms, 
and/or corporations shall receive a local business preference. The Local Business 
PreferenceThe local business priority preference as set forth herein shall apply and shall 
result in the otherwise qualified local Palm Coast business being awarded the contract, at 
the amount of the submitted quote or bid, if the local Palm Coast vendor’s quote or bid is 
the next lowest bid and the bid amount is within the applicable percentage of the lowest bid 
submitted by a non-local business, as set forth herein.

(2) If the Local Business Priority Preference does not result in the Palm Coast business being 
awarded the contract, then the Local Business Preference applies to Flagler County 
persons, firms, and/or corporations residing or located in Flagler County, which meet the 
established criteria, set forth below. In all quotes and formal solicitations covered in 
Section 2-24 of this division, qualified persons, firms, and/or corporations shall receive a 
local business preference. The Local Business PreferenceThe local business priority 
preference as set forth herein shall apply and shall result in the otherwise qualified Flagler 
County local business being awarded the contract, at the amount of the submitted quote 
or bid, if the local vendor’s quote or bid is the next lowest bid and the bid amount is within 
the applicable percentage of the lowest bid submitted by a non-local business, as set forth 
herein.

(3) Local Business Preference Amounts and Limit are as follows:
a. Five percent (5%) of the net quote or bid price up to $200,000.00 as referenced on 

the quote tabulation or bid price schedule.

100



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 9 of 11

b. Three percent (3%) of the net bid price above $200,000.00 as referenced on the bid 
price schedule.

c. The total local business preference shall be limited to $20,000.00 for each quote or 
project.
Example: Local Business Bid of $250,000 would be provided a Local Business 
Preference of $11,500.00. ((5% x $200,000.00) + (3% x $50,000.00))

(4) To qualify as aan Palm Coast person, firm and/or corporation, a vendor must have its 
headquarters, manufacturing facility, or locally-owned franchise located in, or having a 
street address within, the legal boundaries of the City of Palm Coast for at least one (1) 
year immediately prior to the request for a quote or formal bid solicitation (Post office 
boxes do not qualify as a verifiable business address).

(5) To qualify as aan Flagler County person, firm and/or corporation, a vendor must have its 
headquarters, manufacturing facility, or locally-owned franchise located in, or having a 
street address within, the legal boundaries of Flagler County for at least one (1) year 
immediately prior to the request for a quote or formal bid solicitation (Post office boxes 
do not qualify as a verifiable business address).

(6) Local Business Preference shall not apply to:
Purchases that are funded in whole or part by assistance from any federal, state, or 
local agency that disallows local preference;Purchases exempt from obtaining 
quotes or soliciting formal proposals or bids as described in Sec. 2-25. – 
Exemptions to Quotes and Formal Solicitations.

(7) The local business preference established in this section does not prohibit the right of the 
City Council or other purchasing authority to compare quality or fitness for use of 
supplies, materials, equipment and services proposed for purchase and compare 
qualifications, character, responsibility and fitness of all persons, firms, or corporations 
submitting bids or proposals.

(8) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City reserves its right to 
reject any quote, bid, or proposal deemed non-responsive or non-responsible at any time 
prior to award of a contract.

(9) Application of local businesses preference to a particular purchase, contract, or category 
of contracts for which the City Council is the awarding authority may be waived upon 
written justification and recommendation by the City Manager and approval of the City 
Council.

(10) The local business preference established in this section does not prohibit the City 
Council, or other authorized purchasing authority, from giving any other preference 
permitted by law in addition to the local business preference.

Sec. 2-32 – Public-Private Partnerships 

A. The submission by private entities and the processing by City of public-private partnership (P3) 
Proposals, whether solicited or unsolicited, shall be in accordance with Section 255.065 Florida 

101



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 10 of 11

Statutes.
B. The City Manager may establish a reasonable application fee for the submission of unsolicited 

P3 proposals.  If the initial application fee does not cover the City’s costs to evaluate the 
unsolicited proposal, the City Manager may request in writing the additional amounts required. 
The private entity must pay the requested additional amounts within 30 days after receipt of the 
noticed request. The City may stop its review of the unsolicited proposal if the private entity 
fails to pay the additional amounts. If the City does not evaluate the unsolicited proposal, the 
City must return the application fee.

C. The City Manager or designee shall have the authority to decide whether to evaluate any 
unsolicited proposals.  Should the City Manager or designee decide not to evaluate the 
unsolicited proposal, the City shall return the evaluation fee.

D. The City Manager or designee shall have the authority to solicit proposals from other parties in 
accordance with Section 255.065 Florida Statutes for the same or similar P3 concept of any 
unsolicited proposal, whether or not the unsolicited proposal has been evaluated.

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, 
and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared 
unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance
SECTION 4. CODIFICATION. It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm 
Coast, Florida, and it is hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become 
and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the 
Sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; 
that the word, “Ordinance” may be changed to “Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate 
word.
SECTION 5. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed.
SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately 
upon its passage and adoption.

Approved on first reading this _______ day of _________ 2021.

Adopted on second reading after due public notice and hearing this _____ day of __________ 

2021.

ATTEST: CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

_________________________________ _______________________________

102



ORDINANCE 2021-____
Page 11 of 11

VIRGINIA A. SMITH, CITY CLERK DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

_______________________________________

WILLIAM E. REISCHMANN, JR., ESQ.

103



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11568 Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
DESIGNATION FOR 70.2+/- ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM MIXED USE TO 
RESIDENTIAL AND ADDING A SITE SPECIFIC POLICY TO LIMIT 
DEVELOPMENT ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY KNOWN AS SEMINOLE 
TRAILS TO 227 RESIDENTIAL DWELLING (SEMINOLE TRAILS)

Presenter :  Jose Papa

Background :
The subject area is an approximately 70 acre site located 2.5 miles south of State Road 100 on 
the eastside of Seminole Woods Blvd. The application is a proposed FLUM amendment to 
change the current Mixed Use designation to Residential along with a site specific policy to limit 
development to 227 dwelling units. There is a companion zoning map amendment for the 
subject parcel to change the current designation of Master Planned Development (MPD) to 
Single-family reside The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds 
Application #4796 consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council 
approve the FLUM amendment from Mixed Use to Residential. As well as add a site specific 
policy to limit development on the subject property to 227 dwelling units.
ntial (SFR-1).

The proposed amendment was reviewed for the following:
 Analysis of the proposed amendment’s impacts on public facilities and 

infrastructure. Consistent with the required analysis to compare the proposed land use 
designation with the existing land use designation, staff conducted a maximum potential 
development analysis for public facilities and infrastructure. The proposed amendment 
will limit development on the property to 227 dwelling units. This cap compared to a 
maximum potential of 1,053 dwelling units (currently there is no limiting cap on 
development) will result in a reduction of impacts on public facilities and infrastructure.  

 Impacts on the environmental/cultural resources. There are no additional 
environmental impacts on the subject parcel since the amendment will not increase the 
potential developable area of the site. 

 Compatibility with surrounding land uses. The proposed FLUM designations are 
generally consistent with the surrounding properties.

Finally the proposed amendment is consistent with comprehensive plan policies regarding:

 Directing development where existing infrastructure is available,
 Promoting diversity in housing opportunities.

104



Neighborhood Meeting
As required by the Land Development Code, a neighborhood meeting was hosted by the 
applicant. There were no comments received at the Neighborhood meeting held on August 10, 
2021.
   
Planning and Land Development Regulation Board
The PLDRB held a public hearing to consider the proposed amendment on August 18, 2021. 
After a brief discussion, the PLDRB voted 7-0 to recommend that City Council approve the 
proposed amendment.

Recommended Action : 
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds Application #4796 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council approve the FLUM 
amendment from Mixed Use to Residential. As well as add a site specific policy to limit 
development on the subject property to 227 dwelling units.

 

105



Seminole Trails

Future Land Use Map Amendment
& 

Zoning Map Amendment

City Council
Public Hearing

106



Seminole Trails–  BACKGROUND

• 70.2+/- acres

• Vacant

State Road 100

Sesame Blvd.

Seminole Woods Blvd.

107



Seminole Trails –  Future Land Use Map Amendment

Subject Property of Application #4796 
shall be limited to 227 dwelling units.

108



Seminole Trails –  Zoning Map Amendment

109



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment
Public Facilities Impact Analysis

• The proposed FLUM designation will reduce the demand on public 
facilities

110



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment
Environmental Impact Analysis

• The proposed amendment will not have additional impact on the 
environmental features found on the subject property since the 
amendment does not expand the developable area. 

111



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment
Consistency with Surrounding Land Uses

• The proposed FLUM designation of Residential is consistent with the 
existing neighborhood to the west.

• The proposed amendment will not impact uses to the east (FPL 
easement and stormwater facility)

• Development plans will need to take into account the existing Mixed 
Use/Commercial parcel to the north.

112



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan Policies

• Various Policies promoting urban densities and intensities where utilities (transportation, 
water, and sewer) are available

Analysis: 
• The site is adjacent to a major arterial and existing water and sewer service.

• Objective and Policy to diversify housing types, prices, and opportunities

Analysis:
• There is demand for housing in development with sidewalk and private 

amenities

113



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment
Findings

• No significant impact on Level of Service for public infrastructure
• No significant impact on environmental conditions
• Generally consistent with surrounding land uses
• Consistent with Comprehensive Plan

114



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment

Recommendation

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) 
finds Application #4796 consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and recommends that the City Council approve the FLUM 
amendment from Mixed Use to Residential. As well as add a site 
specific policy to limit development on the subject property to 227 
dwelling units.

115



Zoning Map Amendment

116



Seminole Trails –  Zoning Map Amendment

117



Seminole Trails – Zoning Map Amendment
Findings

• Criteria – Consistency with Comprehensive Plan
• Consistent with policies for infrastructure availability & 

expanding urban uses where infrastructure is available
• Consistent with policy to diversify housing types, prices, & 

opportunities

• Criteria – Impact on natural environment
• No additional impact

118



Seminole Trails – Zoning Map Amendment
Findings

• Criteria – Impact on Public Facilities
• Limits impact on public facilities

• Criteria – Impact on Economy
• No negative impact on economy. Job opportunities remain 

during construction phase.

119



Seminole Trails – Zoning Map Amendment

Findings

• Criteria – Changes in circumstances or conditions
• No changes. Proposed change will reflect market demand for 

more residential development

120



Seminole Trails – Zoning Map Amendment
Findings
• Criteria – Compatibility with proximate uses and 

development patterns
• Compatible with residential development to the west. No impact 

on uses to the east but will require buffering from uses to the 
north.

• Criteria – Accomplishes legitimate public purpose
• Provides opportunities for housing diversity.

121



Seminole Trails – Zoning Map Amendment
Recommendation

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds the 
proposed rezoning (Application #4795) consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council approve the 
rezoning of 70.2 +/- acres from Master Planned Development (MPD) to the 
Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) zoning district.

122



Seminole Trails – Future Land Use Map Amendment

Next Steps

• Transmittal of FLUM amendment after 1st reading with City Council

• 2nd reading of proposed FLUM and zoning map amendment

• Subdivision Master Plan/Plat 

123



Seminole Trails- Applications

• Applicant is present to answer questions

124



Questions?

125



Ordinance 2021-__
Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE 2021-________
SEMINOLE TRAILS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 

(APPLICATION #4796)

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
PALM COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT 
OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST 2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 
AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, PURSUANT TO SECTION 163, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE 
MAP (FLUM) DESIGNATION FOR 70.2+/- ACRES OF CERTAIN 
REAL PROPERTY FROM  MIXED USE TO RESIDENTIAL AS 
DESCRIBED IN MORE DETAIL IN THE LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
WHICH IS AN EXHIBIT TO THIS ORDINANCE; AND ADDING A 
NOTE ON THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP TO LIMIT THE 
SUBJECT PROPERTY TO  MAXIMUM OF 227 DWELLING 
UNITS FOR THE SUBJECT PARCEL; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS, RATIFICATION OF PRIOR ACTS, 
CODIFICATION, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast enacted Ordinance 2010-
07, adopting the  City of Palm Coast 2035 Comprehensive Plan which includes the City 
of Palm Coast Future Land Use Map (FLUM), which Plan and FLUM have been 
amended from time-to-time; and 

WHEREAS, Section 163.3161 et seq., Florida Statutes established the 
Community Planning Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes, establishes a process for 
adoption of comprehensive plans or plan amendments amending the future land use 
designation of property; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast is desirous of amending the future land use 
designation of property located within the City from Mixed Use to Residential; and

WHEREAS, the proposed future land use map amendment will include a note on 
the Future Land Use Map to limit development on the subject property to 227 dwelling 
units; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Board (PLDRB) acting as the City’s Local Planning Agency, considered the proposed 
map amendments at a public hearing on August 18, 2021 and voted to recommend  
Approval of the proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment; and 

126



Ordinance 2021-__
Page 2 of 5

WHEREAS, on ___________________ and _____________, 2021 the City of 
Palm Coast City Council held public hearings on this Comprehensive Plan amendment 
after due public notice and upon thorough and complete consideration and deliberation, 
adopted the proposed Comprehensive Plan amendment; and

WHEREAS,  the Comprehensive Plan amendments adopted by this Ordinance 
complies with the requirements of the Community Planning Act, the State 
Comprehensive Plan as set forth in Chapter 187, Florida Statutes, as well as other 
applicable law, and is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies and the overall 
land use plan of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast hereby reaffirms its 
commitment to the goal of enacting and implementing sound growth management 
practices within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast finds that this Ordinance 
is in the best interests of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Palm Coast.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
PALM COAST, FLORIDA, THAT THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP IS 
AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS.

The above recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and 
administrative findings of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast.

SECTION 2. FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDED.  

The 70.2+/- acres subject area, generally located south of Sesame Blvd. and east 
of Seminole Woods Blvd., as depicted and legally described in “Exhibit A”, attached 
hereto, is hereby amended from Mixed Use to Residential including a note on the FLUM 
limiting the subject property to 227 dwelling units as depicted on “Exhibit B”.

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 4. CODIFICATION. 

It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, Florida, and it is 
hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of 
the Code of Ordinance of the City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the Sections of this 
Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; that the word, 
“Ordinance” may be changed to Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate word.

127



Ordinance 2021-__
Page 3 of 5

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or provision of this Ordinance 
is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render unconstitutional 
or invalid the remaining provision of the Ordinance.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

The effective date of this plan amendment, if the amendment is not timely 
challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies the local 
government that the plan amendment package is complete. If timely challenged, this 
amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning agency or the 
Administration Commission enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 
be in compliance. No development orders, development permits, or land uses dependent 
on this amendment may be issued or commence before it has become effective. If a final 
order of noncompliance is issued by the Administration Commission, this amendment 
may nevertheless be made effective by adoption of a resolution affirming its effective 
status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to the state land planning agency. 

APPROVED on first reading after due public notice and hearing the 21st  day of 
September, 2021.

ADOPTED on second reading after due public notice and hearing the ____ day 
of ____________, 2021.

ATTEST: CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

_________________________ ______________________________
Virginia Smith, City Clerk David Alfin, Mayor

Approved as to form and legality:

___________________________
William E. Reischmann, Jr., Esq. 

128



Ordinance 2021-__
Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Exhibit A – Legal Description – Continued

129



Ordinance 2021-__
Page 5 of 5

EXHIBIT B
AMENDED FUTURE LAND USE MAP

130



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT STAFF REPORT

CITY COUNCIL
September 21, 2021

OVERVIEW
Case Number: 4796

      Applicant:  Walker Douglas, Agent/Broker on behalf of Palm Coast Land 
Opportunities Inc.

Size of subject property:   Approximately 70.2+/- acres

Property Description:  An approximately 70.2 acre parcel located 2.5 miles south of State Road 
100 on the eastside of Seminole Woods Blvd.  

Property Owner: Palm Coast Land Opportunities Inc.

       Real Estate ID #:   07-11-31-5380-00000-0020, 07-11-31-5380-00000-0030, 07-11-31-
5380-00000-0040, 07-11-31-5380-00000-0050, 07-11-31-5380-00000-
0060, & 07-11-31-5380-00000-0070

Current FLUM Designation:    Mixed Use

Current Zoning Designation:  Master Planned Development

 Current Use: Vacant, the property is platted as commercial lots.

Requested Action: Large-scale Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment to change 70.2+/- 
acres of Mixed Use to Residential along with a policy to limit development 
on subject property to 227 dwelling units. 

There is a companion zoning map amendment that will change the 
zoning on the designated parcels to be consistent with the proposed 
FLUM designations of the subject property.

 
Recommendation: The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) 

finds Application #4796 consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and recommends that City Council approve the FLUM amendment 
from Mixed Use to Residential. As well as add a site specific policy 
to limit development on the subject property to 227 dwelling units.

Project Planner: José Papa, AICP, Senior Planner

131



Page 2 APPLICATION # 4796 

ANALYSIS
BACKGROUND
The application is for a large-scale Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment for a 70.2 +/- acre 
subject area located approximately 2.5 miles south of State Road 100 on the eastside of Seminole 
Woods Blvd.  

At the time of the City’s incorporation in 1999, the Subject property was designated as Industrial, 
Commercial: High Intensity and Residential High Density (8-10 units/acre).

In 2004, when the City adopted its first Comprehensive Plan, the Subject property was designated 
as Mixed Use with a Neighborhood Scale Village Center Overlay.

The subject property was platted as Seminole Woods Commerce Center (with 7 commercial lots) 
in 2001.

Neighborhood Meeting
As required by the Land Development Code, a neighborhood meeting was hosted by the 
applicant. There were no comments received at the Neighborhood meeting held on August 10, 
2021.   

Planning and Land Development Regulation Board
The PLDRB held a public hearing to consider the proposed amendment on August 18, 
2021. After a brief discussion, the PLDRB voted 7-0 to recommend that City Council 
approve the proposed amendment.

DENSITY/INTENSITY AND POPULATION

Note: The analysis for comprehensive plan map amendments takes into consideration the 
maximum development potential under the current and proposed Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) categories and represent the theoretical maximum development potential within 
the land use category. 

The 70.2+/- acre subject area currently has a FLUM designation of Mixed Use. The proposed 
amendment will result in having land use configuration of 70.2 +/- acres of Residential with a site 
specific policy to limit development potential to a maximum of 227 dwelling units. 

The net result of the FLUM amendment (due to the policy limitations imposed on the property) is 
a limit on the potential population of 545 (based on 2.4 persons per housing unit) as well as a 
maximum of 227 dwelling units. As shown on Table 1 below the maximum development potential 
with the current Mixed Use designation is 1,458 dwelling units and a potential population of 2,954 
persons.

132



Page 3 APPLICATION # 4796 

# of Acres
Maximum 
Density(1) Maximum # of units(2)

Population 
(2.4 

persons/dwel
ling unit)

Proposed FLUM: Residential 97 12 du/acre 227 545

Current FLUM: Mixed Use 97 15 du/acre 1,458 3,499
NET CHANGE 0 -1,231 -2,954
Footnotes:
(1) M aximum densities are established by Comprehensive Plan Policy.
(2) M aximum # of units are established by Comprehensive Plan Policy or limitation based on site specific policy.

TABLE 1 - FLUM DESIGNATION MAXIMUM DENSITY/INTENSITY ALLOWED
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

PUBLIC FACILITIES AVAILABILITY /IMPACT ANALYSIS (BASED ON THEORETICAL 
YIELD OF MAXIMUM DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL)
Objective 1.1.3-Evaluation of Amendments to the FLUM
Review proposed amendments to the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) based upon environmental 
conditions, the availability of facilities and services, school capacity, compatibility with surrounding 
uses, and other generally accepted land use planning principles.
Policy 1.1.3.2 - At a minimum, infrastructure availability and capacity, specified as follows, shall 
be considered when evaluating proposed FLUM amendments:

A. Existing and future capacity of roadways based on functional classifications and best 
available data for traffic modeling.  For the purposes of evaluating capacity, roadway 
improvements programmed in the FDOT 5-year Work Plan or listed in either the City or 
the County 5-year Capital Improvement Program shall be considered.

B. Large-scale, high-intensity commercial projects shall be concentrated at intersections of 
the following arterials

C. Existing and future availability and capacity of central utility systems.
D. Availability and capacity of receiving watercourses and drainage systems to convey 

design storm events.

PUBLIC FACILITIES CAPACITY/IMPACT ANALYSIS
As previously stated the analysis for comprehensive plan map amendments takes into 
consideration the maximum development potential under the current and proposed land use 
category and represents the theoretical maximum development potential within the existing and 
proposed land use categories. Based on an analysis of the development potential under the 
existing and proposed FLUM with consideration of the proposed policy to limit development on 
the subject parcel to 227 dwelling units, the proposed amendment will mainly result in a decrease 
in the impact on public facilities with the exception of solid waste, recreation and schools. The 
increase in impacts to these facilities are accounted for by the higher maximum number of 
residential units.

The results of the net impact analysis are shown on Table 3, and are summarized below:

Transportation
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease of 826 peak hour 
trips. A more in-depth traffic study will be required as part of the site plan/plat review process.

Potable Water

133



Page 4 APPLICATION # 4796 

The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand for 
potable water of .25 MGD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the property owner and/or 
developer will need to coordinate with the City of Palm Coast Utility Department to determine the 
appropriate engineering requirements (size of water line, pump stations, etc.) for potable water 
service. 
Wastewater
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand for 
sanitary sewer treatment of .16 MGD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the property 
owner and/or developer will need to coordinate with the City of Palm Coast Utility Department to 
determine the appropriate engineering requirements (size of sewer line, lift stations, etc.) for 
wastewater service. 
Solid Waste
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net increase of 17,068 lbs. of 
solid waste/day. The City currently has an interlocal agreement with Volusia County for solid 
waste disposal. There is adequate capacity at the Volusia County landfill to accommodate the 
additional demand.
Public Recreation and Open Space 
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand of 15.9 
acres of park facilities. The City currently has adequate capacity to accommodate the additional 
demand.
Public Schools  
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a potential net decrease in demand of 24 student 
stations. At the time of site plan review/plat process, the property owner and/or developer will 
need to coordinate with the School district to determine the current availability of student stations.  
Stormwater
N/A. Stormwater treatment facilities are reviewed for consistency with LOS during site plan 
review.

*Proposed FLUM designation includes site specific policy to limit development to 227 dwelling units.

Density(1)

# of units or 
square feet 

of 
development

Transportation 
(PHT)(2)

Potable Water 
(GPD)(3)

Sanitary Sewer 
(GPD)(4)

Solid Waste 
(lbs./capita/day)

(5)

Recreation 
and Parks 
(8 acres/ 

1000 
pop.)(6)

Public 
Education 

(students)(7)
Stormwater 
Drainage(8)

esidential (70.2 acres) 12 du/acre 227 227 68100 44674 4691 4.4 56 N/A
Total 227 68100 44674 4691 4 56 N/A

Mixed Use (70.2 ac.) 15 du/acre 1053 1053 315900 207230 21759 20.2 80 N/A
Total 1053 315900 207230 21759 20 80

Net Change -826 -826 -247,800 -162,557 -17,068 -15.9 -24 N/A

Footnotes:

(8) Stormwater/Drainage: Stormwater Treatment will be reviewed for consistency with adopted LOS, during site plan approval process. 

(5) Solid Waste: Residential Demand =  # of units*2.40*8.61 lbs/capita/day

Table 2 Public Facilities Impact Analysis

Proposed FLUM designation*

Current FLUM designation

(1) Calculation of Density: Lot Size (acre)*# of units/acre, or determined by site specific policy

(3)  Potable Water: Residential = # of units*2.4*125 gallons/capita/day
(4) Wastewater: Residential = # of units*2.4*82 gallons/capita/day

(2) Transportation: Residential PM Peak Hour Trips (PHT), Residential Development:  = # of units*1.0 PM-PHT (Average Rate), ITE Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition

(6)  Recreation and Parks: Residential Demand = # of units * 2.40 *8 acres/1000 persons 
(7)  Public Education Residential: = Based on multiplier provided by Flagler County School District. 

134



Page 5 APPLICATION # 4796 

ENVIRONMENTAL/CULTURAL RESOURCES ANALYSIS
Objective 1.1.3-Evaluation of Amendments to the FLUM
Review proposed amendments to the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) based upon environmental 
conditions, the availability of facilities and services, school capacity, compatibility with surrounding 
uses, and other generally accepted land use planning principles.
Policy 1.1.3.1- At a minimum, the following environmental factors shall be evaluated each time 
FLUM amendments are proposed:

A. Topography and soil conditions including the presence of hydric soils.
B. Location and extent of floodplains and the Coastal Planning Area, including areas subject 

to seasonal or periodic flooding.
C. Location and extent of wetlands, certain vegetative communities, and protected wildlife 

species.
D. Location and extent of other environmentally sensitive features.
E. Proximity to wellfields and aquifer recharge areas.
F. Impacts to potable water supply.

A. TOPOGRAPHY AND SOIL CONDITIONS

The analysis area is vacant and naturally vegetated. The site is bounded by Seminole Woods 
Boulevard to the west, vacant land to the south, Citation Boulevard to the north, and single-family 
residential to the east along with an FPL corridor. According to the July 2021 Carter 
Environmental Services (CES) assessment, the land use proposal area does contain St. Johns 
River Water Management District (SJRWMD) and Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP) jurisdictional wetlands; the total analysis area contains 57.91 acres of uplands 
and 12.34 acres of wetlands. The wetlands detailed on CES “Wetland Delineation Assessment 
Map” Figure, reflect the boundaries that were delineated in the field pursuant to state and federal 
guidelines (Chapter 62-340 F.A.C. and the 1987 Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation 
Manual). Further description of these features may be found in the Section C, Vegetative 
Communities.

As detailed within the CES report, the Soil Survey of Flagler County, Florida indicates four (4) 
soil types within the property.

Analysis: There are no indicators of unique topographical reliefs or soils that would 
be affected by the FLUM change.

FINDING: It is not anticipated that the proposed FLUM change from Mixed Use 
to impact the local topography or prevent the proposed development permissible 
within the FLUM designation.

B. FLOODPLAINS

Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (FEMA), Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 
source indicates that the subject property lies outside a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) 
and has a designation of a “X” Zone.

Analysis: The Subject Property is not located within a SFHA.

FINDING: It is not anticipated that the proposed FLUM change will negatively impact 
the function of a SFHA.

135



Page 6 APPLICATION # 4796 

C. VEGETATIVE COMMUNITIES
According to the CES report, the assessment area is comprised of the following vegetative 
community types and features.

1. Pine Flatwoods (441): 58.32 acres
2. Disturbed Lands (740): 6.59 acres
3. Wetland Forested Mixed (630): 12.34 acres
4. Upland-Cut Ditch/Canal (510d): 0.95 acres

Analysis: There are wetlands located on the property and any impacts will need 
to be permitted through either St. Johns River Water Management District 
(SJRWMD) or the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). State 
404 permitting used to go through the Army Corps of Engineers but has since been 
transferred to the FDEP. Any wetland impacts proposed through this program will 
now go through FDEP.

FINDING: There is no anticipated additional impact from the proposed amendment. 
The proposed amendment does not propose to expand the development area on the 
subject property.

D. PROTECTED SPECIES DISTRIBUTION/ WILDLIFE UTILIZATION

The submitted CES report documents that no species of listed or management status have high 
or moderate likelihood of occurrence with the site area.

Analysis: The subject property is suitable for foraging and mobility; however, the 
site is directly influenced by neighboring residential land uses. Wildlife utilization 
may change over time due to various factors. To ensure that the referenced species 
and any potentially occurring species in the future, the Unified Land Development 
Code (Section 10.04.03.A, LDC) requires that a listed species study is performed 
by a Qualified Environmental Professional (QEP) at site plan or preliminary plat. 
Further, a study is valid for one year for the property that was investigate to capture 
any changes in wildlife utilization.

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact listed 
species. These is no expansion to the footprint of the development area.

E. GROUNDWATER RESOURCE PROTECTION
According to City maintained data, the nearest production well is not within 500 feet of the site 
but is 2,300 feet to the south west. The site is not located within the Secondary Protection 
Zone or the Primary Protection Zone as defined by Section 10.03.02.B, LDC.

Analysis: The amendment is not within an aquifer recharge area or within a 
wellhead protection zone(s).

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact groundwater 
resources.

F. HISTORICAL RESOURCES

A Phase I report from Dana Ste. Claire report provided the history of the site and noted no 
cultural resources on site.

136



Page 7 APPLICATION # 4796 

Analysis: According to the information provided by Dana Ste. Claire, impacts to 
historical or archaeological resources are not anticipated as no sites were located.

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact cultural 
and historical resources.

LAND USE COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS

Policy 1.1.3.3 – At a minimum, compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns shall 
be considered when evaluating proposed FLUM amendments.

A. This policy shall not be construed to mean that different categories of uses are inherently 
incompatible; rather, it is intended to promote the use of transitional areas where densities 
and intensities can be appropriately scaled.

B. Buffers are encouraged as an effective means of transition between areas where there is 
a greater degree of disparity in terms of densities and intensities.

C. Impacts to the health, safety, and welfare of surrounding residents shall be considered.

Surrounding Future Land Use Map Designation:
North: Mixed Use 
South: Greenbelt
East:  Mixed Use
West: Residential, & Agriculture & Timberlands (Flagler County designation)

Surrounding Zoning Designation:
North: Master Planned Development & High Intensity Commercial 
South: Suburban Estate-1
East: Master Planned Development 
West: Master Planned Development & Agriculture (Flagler County designation) 

Surrounding Property Existing Uses:
North: Vacant Commercial
South: Vacant Residential
East: City Stormwater facility (Dry Lake)
West: Grand Landings Subdivision & Vacant Residential

The proposed FLUM designation of Residential is generally consistent with the current land use 
designations and uses in the adjacent areas. The areas to the north are zoned commercial and if 
developed for commercial use will need to provide the appropriate buffer to protect the potential 
residential uses on the subject property. The area to east is commonly known as “Dry Lake” and 
serves as a retention area for the City’s stormwater system. Finally, the areas to the west and 
south are currently developed or are intended for development as single-family homes. Staff does 
not find any inconsistency in the proposed designation that would be a detriment to future 
development in the surrounding areas.

CONSISTENCY WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
In addition to being consistent with Objective 1.1.3 and Policy 1.1.3.3 which establishes the 
criteria for review of Future Land Use Map Amendments as provided in the previous section. The 
proposed amendment is consistent with the following policies in the Comprehensive Plan:

Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not disproportionately 
increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well as providing housing and 
transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

137



Page 8 APPLICATION # 4796 

Analysis: The proposed amendment is consistent with Policy 1.1.4.5, the expansion of 
residential use along an arterial is appropriate. 

Policy 1.3.1.1 - The City shall ensure that the location and timing of new development is 
coordinated with the provision of public facilities through the use of growth management 
measures being included in the LDC such as development phasing, programming, and 
appropriate sizing of public facilities.

Analysis: The proposed amendment is consistent with Policy 1.3.1.1, the public facilities 
impacts can be accommodated by the existing infrastructure capacity. There are existing 
water and sewer mains adjacent to the property. 

Policy 3.3.2.4 - The City shall encourage infill housing and cluster subdivisions in order to protect 
environmentally sensitive lands and to promote energy conservation.

Analysis: The proposed amendment to allow residential uses on the subject property is an 
example of encouraging infill housing within an established residential area served by an 
arterial that is 2.5 miles away from one of the City’s main commercial corridor (State Road 
100). 

Objective 3.4.1 – Diversity in Housing Opportunities - Increase the diversity of the housing types, 
prices, and opportunities

Policy 3.4.1.1 – Through the FLUM and the zoning district regulations of the LDC, the City shall 
make provisions to supply land that can be developed with various types of residential uses, 
including single-family homes of various sizes, duplexes, multi-family dwellings, and residential 
units in mixed use developments

Analysis: The proposed amendment will allow the potential to diversify the housing 
opportunities in the City consistent with the Objective and Policy stated above. The 
proposed FLUM amendment along with the companion Zoning Map amendment will 
provide an opportunity to provide residential opportunity in a “planned development 
community” that will provide private amenities such as sidewalks, parks for use by 
residents within the subdivision development.

Policy 5.1.3.2 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for potable water facilities and 
wastewater facilities where connection is available consistent with Policies 1.1.1.2 and 1.1.3.2. 
For the purposes of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one (1) dwelling unit per acre 
shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed amendment to Residential is consistent with Comprehensive Plan 
policy to create urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or 
planned capacity for potable water and wastewater facilities.

Policy 5.2.2.3 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities and 
where connection is available as set forth in State law and City regulations. The City shall 
minimize the use of septic tanks in accordance with the provisions of Objective 5.2.3 and policies 
implementing that objective. For the purpose of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one 
(1) dwelling unit per acre shall be deemed to be an urban density.

138



Page 9 APPLICATION # 4796 

Analysis: The proposed amendment to Residential land use designation is consistent with 
Comprehensive Plan policy above to designate urban densities or intensities in areas that 
have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities.

RECOMMENDATION
 
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds Application #4796 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council approve the 
FLUM amendment from Mixed Use to Residential. As well as add a site specific policy to 
limit development on the subject property to 227 dwelling units.

139



Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails

Map Provided by Planning Division
µ0 1,250 2,500625

Feet 140



RES-LOW-RE

AG-TIMBER

EDU

AG-TIMBER

COM-LOW
AG-TIMBER

Residential

Mixed Use

Greenbelt
Institutional

Canals

Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails

Palm Coast FLUM

Canals
Greenbelt
Institutional

Mixed Use
Residential

Flagler FLUM
AG & Timber
Com: Low Intensity

Educaitonal Uses
Res: Low Density/Rural Estate

Map Provided by Planning Division
µ

0 1,250 2,500625
Feet

141

JPapa
Text Box
Seminole Trails-Existing FLUM



AC

PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

MPD

SFR-1

PSP

I

AC

PUD

DPX

COM-2

P&G

COM-3

SFR-5

EST-1

SFR-3

SFR-2

PRS

Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails
Palm Coast Zoning

AC
COM-2
COM-3

DPX
EST-1
I
MPD

P&G
PRS
PSP
SFR-1

SFR-2
SFR-3
SFR-5

Flagler Zoning
AC
NRC-PUD
PUD Map Provided by Planning Division

µ
0 1,250 2,500625

Feet

142

JPapa
Text Box
Seminole Trails-Existing Zoning



RES-LOW-RE

AG-TIMBER

EDU

AG-TIMBER

COM-LOW
AG-TIMBER

Residential

Mixed Use

Greenbelt
Institutional

Canals

Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails

Palm Coast FLUM

Canals
Greenbelt
Institutional

Mixed Use
Residential

Flagler FLUM
AG & Timber
Com: Low Intensity

Educaitonal Uses
Res: Low Density/Rural Estate

Map Provided by Planning Division
µ

0 1,250 2,500625
Feet

143

JPapa
Stamp

JPapa
Text Box
Seminole Trails-Proposed FLUM



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11593 Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR A 
70.2+/- ACRE PARCEL FROM MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) TO 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SEMINOLE TRAILS)

Presenter : Jose Papa

Background: 
The subject area is an approximately 70 acre site located 2.5 miles south of State Road 100 on 
the eastside of Seminole Woods Blvd. The zoning map amendment application is a proposed to 
change the current designation from Master Planned Development (MPD) to Single-family 
residential (SFR-1). There is a companion Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment to change 
the current Mixed Use designation to Residential along with a site specific policy to limit 
development to 227 dwelling units. 

The proposed SFR-1 zoning mainly permits Single-family residential dwelling units. SFR-1 
requires a 50’ minimum lot width with a minimum lot size of 6,000 sq, ft. Other development 
standards such as maximum height (35’), minimum sq. ft. of dwelling area (1,200 sq.ft.), and 
front setbacks are similar to other single family zoning districts in the City. There are varying 
requirements for the side and rear setbacks.

Staff analyzed the proposed rezoning based on the criteria in the City of Palm Coast Land 
Development Code. In summary, staff makes the following findings:

- the proposed rezoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, the proposed 
rezoning will reduce impacts on public infrastructure and services,

- the proposed rezoning is consistent with the surrounding land uses and does not cause 
a nuisance or threat to the general welfare and safety of the public. The proposed SFR-1 
is generally consistent with the development pattern with the residential uses to the east 
and south. The site is abutted by an FPL easement and stormwater facility to the east. 

-  the proposed amendment will not cause undue hardship or liability to the City since 
public infrastructure (water, sewer, roadways) are immediately available.

Public Process
Neighborhood Meeting
As required by the Land Development Code, a neighborhood meeting was hosted by the 
applicant. There were no comments received at the Neighborhood meeting held on August 10, 
2021.
   
Planning and Land Development Regulation Board
The PLDRB held a public hearing to consider the proposed amendment on August 18, 2021. 
After a brief discussion, the PLDRB voted 7-0 to recommend that City Council approve the 
proposed amendment.

144



Recommended Action: 
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds the proposed rezoning 
(Application #4795) consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council 
approve the rezoning of 70.2 +/- acres from Master Planned Development (MPD) to the Single-
Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) zoning district.

 

145



Ordinance 2021-_____
Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE 2021 - ____
SEMINOLE TRAILS ZONING MAP AMENDMENT (APPLICATION #4795)

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AS ESTABLISHED IN SECTION 2.06 OF 
THE CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING THE ZONING DESIGNATION FOR 
APPROXIMATELY 70.2+/- ACRES, FROM MASTER PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT (MPD) TO SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 
(SFR-1); SUBJECT PROPERTY IS MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” AND GRAPHICALLY DEPICTED IN 
EXHIBIT “B”; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR NON-CODIFICATION AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast, pursuant to the authority vested in Chapter 163 
and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the City of Palm Coast Unified Land Development Code, 
is authorized and empowered to consider applications relating to zoning; and 

WHEREAS, the notice and public hearing requirements, as provided for in Chapter 2 
(Review Authority, Enforcement, and Procedures) of the City of Palm Coast Unified Land 
Development Code have been satisfied; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast has considered the evidence 
and testimony presented by the applicant and other interested parties, the recommendations of 
the various City reviewing departments, and the recommendation of the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board (PLDRB); and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the findings in the staff report and the 
following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies 
of the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible as defined in the Unified Land Development 
Code and generally consistent with the uses and character of the land 
surrounding and in the vicinity of the land proposed for rezoning;

146



Ordinance 2021-_____
Page 2 of 5

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are 
changed circumstances, which would require the rezoning request. 

WHEREAS, the City now intends to change the zoning of the subject property from 
Master Planned Development (MPD) to Single Family Residential-1 (SFR-1).  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are fully 
incorporated herein by this reference.

SECTION 2. Rezoning of Subject Property.  The zoning designations for the subject 
parcel is hereby changed from Master Planned Development (MPD) to Single Family 
Residential-1 (SFR-1). 

SECTION 3.  Conflicts.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 4.  Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Code are severable, and if 
any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Code shall be declared 
unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs 
and sections of this Code.

SECTION 5.   Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately 
upon the effective date of Ordinance No. 2021-____ as adopted by the City Council of the City 
of Palm Coast, Florida, and pursuant to the City Charter.  If Ordinance No. 2021-____ does 
not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and void. 

147



Ordinance 2021-_____
Page 3 of 5

APPROVED on first reading the 21st day of September, 2021, at a public hearing.
ADOPTED on the second reading the ____ day of ___________________ 2021, at a 

public hearing.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

                                                           _____________________________
David Alfin, Mayor

ATTEST:

_______________________________
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

Approved as to form and legality                            

___________________________________
William E. Reischmann, Jr.
City Attorney

148



Ordinance 2021-_____
Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

EXHIBIT A – LEGAL DESCRIPTION CONTINUED

A PARCEL OF LAND BEING A PORTION OF RESERVED PARCEL "B-5", ACCORDING TO THE 
SUBDIVISION MAP SEMINOLE PARK SECTION 59 PALM COAST, RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 19, 
PAGES 41 THROUGH 50 AND MAP BOOK 20, PAGES 1 THROUGH 8, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

LOTS 2-7, OF THE SUBDIVISON PLAT OF SEMINOLE WOODS COMMERCE CENTER, AS RECORDED 
IN MAP BOOK 33, PAGES 5-7, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PARCELS CONTAIN 70.23 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

149



Ordinance 2021-_____
Page 5 of 5

EXHIBIT B
PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

150



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STAFF REPORT

CITY COUNCIL
SEPTEMBER 21, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application Number: 4795

Applicant: Walker Douglas, Agent/Broker
Property Description: 70.2 +/- acres located 2.5 miles south of State Road 100 on the eastside 

of Seminole Woods Blvd.
Property Owner:  Palm Coast Land Opportunities Inc.

Parcel ID #: 07-11-31-5380-00000-0020, 07-11-31-5380-00000-0030, 07-11-31-
5380-00000-0040, 07-11-31-5380-00000-0050, 07-11-31-5380-00000-
0060, & 07-11-31-5380-00000-0070

   Parcel Address: Not yet established
Current FLUM: Mixed Use (Proposed for Residential via FLUM Amendment)

Current Zoning: Master Planned Development (MPD)
Current Use: Vacant

Size of Property:  70.2 +/- acres
Requested Action: Rezoning from the Master Planned Development (MPD) Zoning District 

to the Single-Family Residential – 1 (SFR-1) Zoning District

ANALYSIS
REQUESTED ACTION
Walker Douglas as Agent/Broker has applied to rezone 70.2 +/- acres of vacant land located 
approximately 2.5 miles south of State Road 100 on the eastside of Seminole Woods Blvd. There 
is a companion Future Land Use Map Amendment application to change the Land Use 
designation of the subject property from Mixed Use to Residential.

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY
At the time of the City’s incorporation in 1999, the subject property was zoned C-2 General 
Commercial and Shopping Center. 
The 2005 Zoning Map designated the property as Village Center-1 (VGC-1).
The Official Zoning Map adopted in 2008 designated the property as Master Planned 
Development (MPD). Although zoned as an MPD, the subject parcel does not have an 
accompanying MPD Agreement which spells out the permitted uses and development standards 
and conditions for the subject property. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

151



Page 2                                                                                               Application # 4795

Walker Douglas as Agent/Broker on behalf of the property owner has applied to change the 
designation of the subject parcel from Mixed Use to Residential (via a separate FLUM 
Amendment application) and modify the property’s zoning from Master Planned Development 
(MPD) to Single-Family Residential – 1 (SFR-1) in order to develop a single-family homes 
community. The proposed SFR-1 Zoning District allows for a minimum 50’ wide and 6,000 sq. ft. 
lots but does not limit the number of units in a project which is normally done in the MPD 
Development Agreement. However, in this case the number of units would be limited by the 
applicant’s FLUM Amendment to the Residential designation which includes a site specific policy 
to limit development to 227 dwelling units. 

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

USE SUMMARY TABLE:
CATEGORY: EXISTING: PROPOSED:
Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) Mixed Use Residential

Zoning District
Master Planned Development 
(MPD)

Single-family Residential-1 
(SFR-1) 

Use Vacant land
Single-family community with 
amenities

Acreage 70.2 +/- acres 70.2 +/- acres 

SURROUNDING LAND USES:

  NORTH: FLUM: Mixed Use
Zoning: High Intensity Commercial (COM-3)

    EAST: FLUM:             Mixed Use
Zoning: Master Planned Development

SOUTH: FLUM: Greenbelt
Zoning: Estate-1

WEST:         FLUM: Residential, Agriculture & Timberlands (Flagler County 
Designation)  

Zoning:            Master Planned Development (MPD), Agriculture (Flagler County 
Designation)

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
SFR-1)

Min. Lot/Development Size 6,000 sq. ft. lot size
Min. Lot Width 50 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.75
Min. Front Setback 20 ft.
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback  5 ft.

152



Page 3                                                                                               Application # 4795

Max. Building Height 35 ft.
Max. Floor Area Ratio NA
Max. Density* up to 7 units/per acre*

*Density in the Single-Family Residential - 1 (SFR-1) Zoning District is calculated based on Table 
3-3 and Section 3.05.03.A of the Land Development Code, which allow up to 7 units/per acre on 
upland areas and up to 1.75 units/per acre on wetland areas that are preserved. However, in this 
case the FLUM Amendment will restrict the number of units to 227.

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.05.05

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When reviewing 
a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient factual 
data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order shall 
be based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

Staff Finding: The proposed project with SFR-1 zoning is an allowed zoning district in areas 
designated Residential on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and will not create a conflict with 
protecting public interest. The proposed zoning designation is compatible with other designations 
and existing uses adjacent to the subject property. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the 
provisions of this LDC;

Staff Finding: The proposed zoning map amendment includes a companion Future Land Use 
Map amendment. The consistency of the proposed FLUM amendment with policies in the 
Comprehensive Plan are presented below as part of the analysis for the proposed zoning map 
amendment. 

Policy 1.1.1.2 – The future land use designations shall permit the zoning districts listed and 
generally described in the following table. 

Analysis: The proposed FLUM Amendment designates the subject property as Residential 
and Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) is an allowable zoning district for areas with the 
Residential designation on this FLUM table. 

Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not disproportionately 
increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well as providing housing and 
transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

Analysis: The proposed zoning map amendment is consistent with Policy 1.1.4.5, the 
expansion of residential uses along an arterial is appropriate. Additionally, water and 
sewer mains are available adjacent to the site.

Policy 1.3.1.1 - The City shall ensure that the location and timing of new development is 
coordinated with the provision of public facilities through the use of growth management 
measures being included in the LDC such as development phasing, programming, and 
appropriate sizing of public facilities.

153



Page 4                                                                                               Application # 4795

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy 1.3.1.1, the public facilities 
impacts can be accommodated by the existing infrastructure capacity. There are existing 
water and sewer mains adjacent to the property. 

Policy 3.3.2.4 - The City shall encourage infill housing and cluster subdivisions in order to protect 
environmentally sensitive lands and to promote energy conservation.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning to allow residential uses on the subject property is an 
example of encouraging infill housing within an established residential area served by an 
arterial that is 2.5 miles away from one of the City’s main commercial corridor (State Road 
100). 

Objective 3.4.1 – Diversity in Housing Opportunities - Increase the diversity of the housing types, 
prices, and opportunities

Policy 3.4.1.1 – Through the FLUM and the zoning district regulations of the LDC, the City shall 
make provisions to supply land that can be developed with various types of residential uses, 
including single-family homes of various sizes, duplexes, multi-family dwellings, and residential 
units in mixed use developments

Analysis: The proposed rezoning will allow the potential to diversify the housing 
opportunities in the City consistent with the Objective and Policy stated above. The 
proposed Zoning Map amendment will provide an opportunity for residential development 
within a newly platted subdivision that will provide private amenities such as sidewalks, 
parks for use by residents within the subdivision development.

Policy 5.1.3.2 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for potable water facilities and 
wastewater facilities where connection is available consistent with Policies 1.1.1.2 and 1.1.3.2. 
For the purposes of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one (1) dwelling unit per acre 
shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Comprehensive Plan policy to create 
urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for 
potable water and wastewater facilities.

Policy 5.2.2.3 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities and 
where connection is available as set forth in State law and City regulations. The City shall 
minimize the use of septic tanks in accordance with the provisions of Objective 5.2.3 and policies 
implementing that objective. For the purpose of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one 
(1) dwelling unit per acre shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Comprehensive Plan policy above to 
designate urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or planned 
capacity for sanitary sewer facilities.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

Staff Finding:  Potable water and sewer services are available to serve the project. Seminole 
Woods Blvd. has existing traffic capacity to serve the future residents of this project. 
 

154



Page 5                                                                                               Application # 4795

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or constitute 
a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Staff Finding:  The proposed rezoning will be compatible with the overall neighborhood as it is 
located within an area of primarily residential uses and preserved lands and the project’s 
residential uses will provide demand for existing and future commercial land uses in nearby Mixed 
Use areas. 

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal laws, 
statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes.

Staff Finding: The subject property will be required to comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Comprehensive Plan, and the requirements of all other applicable local, state and federal 
agencies throughout the development process. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.06.03 
 

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Sec. 2.06.03 states: “The Planning and 
Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall consider the following criteria, in 
addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning application”:

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it 
furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;

Staff Finding: As noted previously in the analysis prepared for LDC Chapter 2, Part II, Section 
2.05.05 of this staff report, the requested zoning district is in conformance with the 
Comprehensive Plan elements, and their goals, objectives and policies. 

B. Its impact upon the environment and natural resources;

Staff Finding:  Upon submittal of the subdivision master plan a thorough environmental analysis 
will be provided by the applicant and reviewed by applicable City staff and other governmental 
review agencies.  Additionally, there is no additional impact on the environment and natural 
resources since the development area of the subject property is not being expanded.

C.   Its impact on the economy of any affected area;

Staff Finding: Impacts to the Palm Coast economy are anticipated to be positive since the project 
will provide numerous construction jobs over the first few years and will provide additional tax 
revenues to the City. Additionally, the residential homes will increase demand for commercial 
services in reasonably close proximity to the site.
 
D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, potable 

water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation;

Staff Finding: The impact on the necessary governmental services including: wastewater, 
potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste and transportation systems will be 
covered by concurrency regulations and impact fees paid by the developer during the Preliminary 
Plat and construction drawing review process. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area;

155



Page 6                                                                                               Application # 4795

Staff Finding:  Due to increasing housing costs and especially infrastructure costs typical lot 
sizes have shrunk over the last 10 – 20 years. Additionally, a strong demand exists for single-
family homes.
 
F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the health, 
safety, and welfare of surrounding residents;

Staff Finding:  As previously described the proposed rezoning will be compatible with the existing 
and future planned commercial uses in the overall neighborhood. Positive impacts should be 
created by the proposed project as it will create housing opportunity in a “planned community” 
which offers private amenities such as sidewalks and recreation areas. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose:

Staff Finding: The subject property is proposed via a FLUM Amendment to be located within the 
Residential designation on the FLUM and the proposed zoning district of SFR-1 is an allowable 
zoning district within that FLUM designation. Staff believes the site is very appropriate for the 
proposed residential community. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.02 requires developers or 
property owners who are requesting to rezone property within the City to notify neighboring 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property boundaries and hold a neighborhood 
meeting. 

Neighborhood Meeting
As required by the Land Development Code, a neighborhood meeting was hosted by the 
applicant. There were no comments received at the Neighborhood meeting held on August 10, 
2021.
   
Planning and Land Development Regulation Board
The PLDRB held a public hearing to consider the proposed amendment on August 18, 2021. 
After a brief discussion, the PLDRB voted 7-0 to recommend that City Council approve the 
proposed amendment.

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) finds the proposed rezoning 
(Application #4795) consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommends that City Council 
approve the rezoning of 70.2 +/- acres from Master Planned Development (MPD) to the Single-
Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) zoning district.

156



AC

PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

MPD

SFR-1

PSP

I

AC

PUD

DPX

COM-2

P&G

COM-3

SFR-5

EST-1

SFR-3

SFR-2

PRS

Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails
Palm Coast Zoning

AC
COM-2
COM-3

DPX
EST-1
I
MPD

P&G
PRS
PSP
SFR-1

SFR-2
SFR-3
SFR-5

Flagler Zoning
AC
NRC-PUD
PUD Map Provided by Planning Division

µ
0 1,250 2,500625

Feet

157

JPapa
Text Box
Seminole Trails-Existing Zoning



AC

PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

NRC-PUD

AC

AC

NRC-PUD

MPD

SFR-1

PSP

I

AC

PUD

DPX

COM-2

P&G

COM-3

SFR-5

EST-1

SFR-3

SFR-2

PRS

Seminole Trails

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Trails
Palm Coast Zoning

AC
COM-2
COM-3

DPX
EST-1
I
MPD

P&G
PRS
PSP
SFR-1

SFR-2
SFR-3
SFR-5

Flagler Zoning
AC
NRC-PUD
PUD Map Provided by Planning Division

µ
0 1,250 2,500625

Feet

158

JPapa
Text Box
SFR-1

JPapa
Text Box
Seminole Trails-Proposed Zoning



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 7, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11561 Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX SECRET GARDENS, APPLICATION NO. 4816 TO 
REZONE 52.4 +/- ACRES FROM THE GENERAL OFFICE (OFC-2) ZONING 
DISTRICT TO THE HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3), PRESERVATION 
(PRS) AND PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC (PSP) ZONING DISTRICTS

Presenter: Bill Hoover 

Background: 
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 7, 2021 Business Meeting. There 
were no changes suggested to this item. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 7, 2021
Steve Hyman of Coastal Collections, LLC, who purchased the site in October 2020, is 
requesting a rezoning on 52.4 +/- acres of land located on the east side of Old Kings Road 
about 1.5 miles south of Palm Coast Parkway, from General Office (OFC-2) to the High 
Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and Public/Semi-Public (PSP) Zoning 
Districts.

Coastal Collections, LLC wants to rezone the westerly portion of the site that is uplands and 
fronts along Old Kings Road to High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), a small narrow area along 
the easterly portion of the site that is also uplands to Public/Semi-Public (PSP) and the 
remaining central wetland areas to Preservation (PRS). There is roughly 18 acres of buildable 
land that is proposed for COM-3. In this case buildable is referring to land that is designated 
uplands and unencumbered by drainage easements. There is also about 3 -4 acres of buildable 
land along the easterly boundary of the site that is proposed for Public/Semi-Public (PSP). 
However, the proposed PSP lands do not have an access through the wetlands area that 
separates the proposed COM-3 and PSP lands so the developer plans on using it for mitigation 
purposes or land banking it.

The property owner wants to develop a portion of the proposed COM-3 lands as a retail 
landscape nursery. Coastal Collections, LLC also wants to develop an office park for 
tradespeople or residential contractors on some of the COM-3 lands where those businesses 
would have offices or retail showrooms facing Old Kings Road and then the rear half of the 
buildings with rear accesses could be used for the storage of their supplies, equipment and 
some vehicles. Note the COM-3 Zoning District does not allow light industrial uses so uses in 
the back half of the buildings would be restricted. Examples of these would be residential home 
builders, air-conditioning contractors, electricians, plumbers and pool maintenance contractors. 

Public Participation: The developer notified all neighboring property owners within 300 feet of 
the subject property via standard USPS mail of a neighborhood meeting that was held on 
August 4th, 2021 at 5:30 P.M at the Hilton Garden Inn located NW of the intersection of Town 

159



Center Boulevard and SR 100. The developer erected two City provided signs on the subject 
property and newspaper ads have been run approximately two weeks before each of the three 
public hearings.

Planning and Land Development Regulation Board: The Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) meeting was held at 5:30 PM on August 18, 2021. No one from the 
public attended spoke regarding this project. The PLDRB found this project in compliance with 
the Comprehensive Plan and recommended approval to City Council by a 6 – 0 vote.

Recommended Action: 
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board recommends that City Council approve 
Secret Gardens, Application No. 4816 to rezone 52.4 +/- acres from the General Office (OFC-2) 
Zoning District to the High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and Public/Semi-
Public (PSP) Zoning Districts.

 

160



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE 2021-_______
REZONING APPLICATION NO. 4816

SECRET GARDEN REZONING

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AS  ESTABLISHED IN SECTION 2.06 OF THE 
CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 
AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP FOR 52.4 +/- ACRES OF 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS TAX PARCEL 
IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 20-11-31-0000-01030-0000, LOCATED ON 
THE EAST SIDE OF OLD KINGS ROAD ABOUT 1.5 MILES SOUTH OF 
PALM COAST PARKWAY AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED 
IN THE ATTACHED EXHIBIT A, FROM THE GENERAL OFFICE (OFC-
2) ZONING DISTRICT TO THE HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL 
(COM-3), PRESERVATION (PRS) AND PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC (PSP) 
ZONING DISTRICTS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast, as the governing body of the City, pursuant to the 
authority vested in Chapter 163 and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the City of Palm Coast 
Unified Land Development Code, is authorized and empowered to consider applications relating 
to zoning; and 

WHEREAS, the notice and public hearing requirements, as provided for in Chapter 2 
(Review Authority, Enforcement, and Procedures) of the City of Palm Coast Unified Land 
Development Code have been satisfied; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast has considered the evidence and 
testimony presented by the applicant and other interested parties, the recommendations of the 
various City reviewing departments, and the recommendation of the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board (PLDRB); and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the findings in the staff report and the 
following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of 
the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible as defined in the Unified Land Development Code 
and generally consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and 
in the vicinity of the land proposed for rezoning;

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

161



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 2 of 5

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed 
circumstances, which would require the rezoning request. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBYORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM 

COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. Legislative and Administrative Findings.  The above recitals (whereas 
clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the City Council. 

SECTION 2. Official Zoning Map Amended. The 52.4 +/- acres of land, identified 
as tax parcel identification number 20-11-31-0000-01030-0000, located on the east side of Old 
Kings Road about 1.5 miles south of Palm Coast Parkway, legally described in “Exhibit A” and 
as depicted in “Exhibit B”, attached hereto, is hereby amended from the General Office (OFC-2) 
Zoning District to the High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and Public/Semi-
Public (PSP) Zoning Districts. 

SECTION 3. Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Code are severable, and if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Code shall be declared unconstitutional by 
the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall 
not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Code.

SECTION 4. Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 
its passage and adoption. 

Approved on first reading this 7th  day of September, 2021.

Adopted on the second reading after due public notice and hearing City of Palm Coast this 
21st day of September, 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST:  DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK

Attachments: 
Exhibit “A” – Legal Description of property subject to Official Zoning Map amendment
Exhibit “B” – Revised Official Zoning Map

162



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 3 of 5

EXHIBIT “A”
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

163



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT “B”
REVISED OFFICIAL ZONING MAP

                                  

164



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
STAFF REPORT FOR SECRET GARDENS REZONING

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING 
SEPTEMBER 7, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application Number: 4816

Applicant: Steve Hyman, of Coastal Collections, LLC of Palm Coast, FL
Property Description: 52.4 +/- acres located on the east side of Old Kings Road about 1.5 

miles south of Palm Coast Parkway
Property Owner:  Steve Hyman, Coastal Collections, LLC, Palm Coast, FL

Parcel ID #: 20-11-31-0000-01030-0000
   Parcel Address: NA

Current FLUM: Mixed Use
Current Zoning: General Office (OFC-2)

Current Use: Vacant
Size of Property:  52.4 +/- acres

Requested Action: Rezoning from the General Office (OFC-2) Zoning District to the High 
Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and Public/Semi-
Public (PSP) Zoning Districts

ANALYSIS
REQUESTED ACTION

Steve Hyman of Coastal Collections, LLC is requesting a rezoning on 52.4 +/- acres of land 
located on the east side of Old Kings Road about 1.5 miles south of Palm Coast Parkway, from 
General Office (OFC-2) to the High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and 
Public/Semi-Public (PSP) Zoning Districts.

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

The subject property was purchased by Coastal Collections, LLC on October 13, 2020. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION

165



Page 2                                                                                               Application # 4816

Coastal Collections, LLC wants to rezone the westerly portion of the site that is uplands and 
fronts along Old Kings Road to High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), a small narrow area along 
the easterly portion of the site that is also uplands to Public/Semi-Public (PSP) and the 
remaining central wetland areas to Preservation (PRS). There is roughly 18 acres of buildable 
land that is proposed for COM-3. In this case buildable is referring to land that is designated 
uplands and unencumbered by drainage easements. There is also about 3 -4 acres of buildable 
land along the easterly boundary of the site that is proposed for Public/Semi-Public (PSP). 
However, the proposed PSP lands do not have an access through the wetlands area that 
separates the proposed COM-3 and PSP lands so the developer plans on using it for mitigation 
purposes or land banking it.

The property owner wants to develop a portion of the proposed COM-3 lands as a retail 
landscape nursery. Coastal Collections, LLC also wants to develop an office park for 
tradespeople or residential contractors on some of the COM-3 lands where those businesses 
would have offices or retail showrooms facing Old Kings Road and then the rear half of the 
buildings with rear accesses could be used for the storage of their supplies, equipment and 
some vehicles. Note the COM-3 Zoning District does not allow light industrial uses so uses in 
the back half of the buildings would be restricted. Examples of these would be residential home 
builders, air-conditioning contractors, electricians, plumbers and pool maintenance contractors. 

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

USE SUMMARY TABLE:
CATEGORY: EXISTING: PROPOSED:
Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM)

Mixed Use, Conservation and 
Institutional 

Mixed Use, Conservation and 
Institutional

Zoning District General Office (OFC-2)

High Intensity Commercial 
(COM-3), Preservation (PRS) 
and Public/Semi-Public (PSP)

Use Vacant land
Commercial center, preserved 
land and semi-public area

Acreage 52.4 +/- acres 52.4 +/- acres 

SURROUNDING LAND USES:

  NORTH:  FLUM: Conservation
Zoning: Preservation (PRS)

    EAST:  FLUM:            Institutional
Zoning: Public/Semi-Public

SOUTH:  FLUM: Mixed Use/Conservation
Zoning: General Office (OFC-2)

WEST:          FLUM: Mixed Use  
Zoning:            High Intensity Commercial (COM-3)/General Commercial (COM-

2)/Limited Office (OFC-1)

166



Page 3                                                                                               Application # 4816

COMMERCIAL SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
COM-3)

Min. Lot Size 30,000 sq. ft.
Min. Lot Width 100 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.70
Min. Front Setback 25 ft. major roads/20 ft. local
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback 10 ft.
Max. Building Height 75 ft.
Max. Floor Area Ratio 0.50

INSTITUTIONAL SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
PSP)

Min. Lot Size 20,000 sq. ft.
Min. Lot Width 100 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.70
Min. Front Setback 25 ft. major roads/20 ft. local
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback 10 ft.
Max. Building Height 100 ft.
Max. Floor Area Ratio 0.30

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.05.05

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When 
reviewing a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether 
sufficient factual data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a 
development order shall be based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

Staff Finding: The COM-3, PRS and PSP zoning districts are allowed zoning districts in areas 
designated respectively Mixed Use, Conservation and Institutional on the Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) and will be compatible with the variety of other uses currently allowed within close 
proximity to the site. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the 
provisions of this LDC;

167



Page 4                                                                                               Application # 4816

Staff Finding: The request is consistent with the following policies and goal of the 
Comprehensive Plan:

 Chapter 1 Future Land Use Element:  

Goal 1.1: Preserve the character of residential communities, prevent urban sprawl and 
protect open space and environmental resources, while providing a mix of land uses, 
housing types, services, and job opportunities in mixed use centers and corridors. 

The proposed somewhat isolated location of these COM-3 uses will assist in providing a 
mix of non-residential land uses in the Old Kings Road Corridor while not negatively 
impacting residential uses located further south and north of the project. Additionally, the 
applicant is rezoning about one-half of the site to Preservation uses so those 
environmentally sensitive lands can be retained as conservation lands in perpetuity.

-Policy 1.1.1.2 – The future land use designations shall permit the zoning districts listed 
and generally described in the following table. 

The FLUM designates the westerly half of the subject property as Mixed Use and High 
Intensity Commercial (COM-3) is an allowable zoning district for areas with the Mixed 
Use designation on this FLUM table. The upland areas along the eastern boundary of 
the site are proposed for Public/Semi-Public (PSP) and those are allowed in areas 
designated Institutional on this FLUM table. Preservation (PRS) lands are an allowed 
zoning district in areas designated Conservation on the FLUM table.

-Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not 
disproportionately increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well 
as providing housing and transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

The proposed COM-3 lands would provide the opportunity for having an area in 
reasonable proximity to the large volume of existing general retail services that are 
provided along the Palm Coast Parkway Corridor east of I-95. This would allow these 
higher intensity commercial uses to be located separately about 1.5 miles south of Palm 
Coast Parkway rather than mix those uses together in what can be argued as Palm 
Coast’s most highly desirable retail location. Having contractor’s offices in the proposed 
location would shorten their employees’ trips to provide residential services for residents 
residing in the central portion of Palm Coast and thus likely reducing the costs of those 
services. The proposed garden center would be easily compatible with other uses along 
this section of Old Kings Road.  Public services are available to serve the site or will be 
extended by the developer at the developer’s expense.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

Staff Finding:  Potable water and sewer services are available to serve the project. 
 
D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Staff Finding:  The proposed rezoning will be compatible with the overall neighborhood as it is 
located within an area of primarily medium to high intensity non-residential zoning districts and 
uses and preserved lands. 

168



Page 5                                                                                               Application # 4816

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal 
laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes.

Staff Finding: The subject property will be required to comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Comprehensive Plan, and the requirements of all other applicable local, state and federal 
agencies throughout the development process. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.06.03 
 

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Sec. 2.06.03 states: “The Planning and 
Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall consider the following criteria, in 
addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning application”:

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it 
furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;

Staff Finding: As noted previously in the analysis prepared for LDC Chapter 2, Part II, Section 
2.05.05 of this staff report, the requested zoning districts are in conformance with the 
Comprehensive Plan elements, and their goals, objectives and policies. 

B. Its impact upon the environment and natural resources;

Staff Finding:  Upon submittal of the non-residential Subdivision Master Plan or Technical Site 
Plan a thorough environmental analysis will be provided by the applicant and reviewed by 
applicable City staff and other governmental review agencies. Additionally, all lands within the 
Conservation designated area on the FLUM will be preserved.

C.   Its impact on the economy of any affected area;

Staff Finding: Impacts to the Palm Coast economy are anticipated to be positive since the 
project will provide numerous construction jobs over the first few years, will provide a convenient 
location for residents to purchase garden supplies and landscaping materials, will also provide a 
convenient central location for residential home contractors, and will provide additional tax 
revenues for the City. 
 
D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, 

potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation;

Staff Finding: The impact on the necessary governmental services including: wastewater, 
potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste and transportation systems will 
be covered by concurrency regulations and impact fees paid by the developer during the 
Preliminary Plat and construction drawing or Technical Site Plan review process. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area;

Staff Finding:  The office market has been very soft especially since the Great Recession with 
many employees now working remotely from home since March of 2020. The demand for 
general or medical offices at this location does not look promising over at least the next few 
years.
 

169



Page 6                                                                                               Application # 4816

F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the 
health, safety, and welfare of surrounding residents;

Staff Finding:  As previously described the proposed rezoning will be compatible with the 
existing and future planned commercial in the overall neighborhood and the City’s existing water 
treatment facility uses along the subject property’s eastern boundary. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose:

Staff Finding: The westerly portion of the subject property is located within the Mixed Use 
designation on the FLUM and the proposed zoning district of COM-3 is an allowable zoning 
district within that FLUM designation. The uplands along the eastern portion of the site will be 
rezoned to PSP and that is an appropriate zoning district for lands designated Institutional on 
the FLUM. With this rezoning all of the lands within the Conservation designated area on the 
FLUM will have to be preserved. Staff believes the site is appropriate for the proposed high 
intensity commercial and semi-public uses on the site’s upland areas. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.02 requires developers or 
property owners who are requesting to rezone property within the City to notify neighboring 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property boundaries and hold a neighborhood 
meeting. 

To comply with this standard, the developer notified the neighboring property owners via 
standard USPS mail of an upcoming neighborhood meeting that was held on August 4, 2021 at 
5:30 P.M. at the Hilton Garden Inn nearby SR 100 and Town Center Boulevard.  The applicant 
and City staff attended this meeting but no one from the public attended.

The developer erected two City provided signs along Old Kings Road at least 14 days prior to 
each public hearing, notifying the general public of the PLDRB and two City Council hearings. 

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) meeting was held at 5:30 PM 
on August 18, 2021. No one from the public spoke regarding this project. The PLDRB found this 
project in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and recommended approval to City Council 
by a 6 – 0 vote.

RECOMMENDATION

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board recommends that City Council approve 
Secret Gardens, Application No. 4816 to rezone 52.4 +/- acres from the General Office (OFC-2) 
Zoning District to the High Intensity Commercial (COM-3), Preservation (PRS) and Public/Semi-
Public (PSP) Zoning Districts.

170



0 3,7501,875
Feet µ

Secret Gardens Distant Aerial

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits
Secret Garden

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Palm Coast Pkwy.

Belle Terre Pkw
y.

I-95

Royal Palms Pkwy.

O
ld Kings Rd.

I-95

White View Pkwy.

171



0 2,0001,000
Feet µ

Secret Gardens Closeup Aerial

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits
Secret Garden

Map Provided By: Planning Division

White View 

Pkwy.

Graham 
Swamp

I-95

I-95
O

ld Kings Rd.

Oak TrailsBlvd.

172



Conservation

Institutional

Mixed Use

Residential

DRI-Residential Area

Canals

Greenbelt

DRI-Urban Core
0 2,0001,000

Feet

µ

Secret Gardens FLUM

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits
Secret Garden

FLUM
Canals

Conservation
DRI-Residential Area
DRI-Urban Core
Greenbelt

Institutional
Mixed Use
Residential

Map Provided By: Planning Division

O
ld Kings Rd.

I-95

Oak TrailsBlvd.

White View 

Pkwy.

Conservation

Institutional

M
ixed Use

Residential

Residential

I-95

SIte

173



PRS

PSP

OFC-2

COM-2

MPD

COM-3

MFR-2

OFC-1

SFR-1

SFR-2

SFR-3

SFR-5

0 1,250625
Feet

µ

Secret Garden Existing Zoning

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits
Secret Garden

Zoning
COM-2
COM-3

MFR-2
MPD
OFC-1

OFC-2
PRS
PSP

SFR-1
SFR-2
SFR-3

SFR-5

Map Provided By: Planning Division

PRS

PSP

CO
M

-2

Site

OFC-2

O
FC

-1
O

ld  Kings R
d.

I-95 COM-3

174



PRS

PSP

COM-2

COM-3

MFR-2

SFR-2

MPD

OFC-1

SFR-1

SFR-3

SFR-5

0 1,250625
Feet

µ

Secret Garden Proposed Zoning Map

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits
Secret Garden

Zoning
COM-2
COM-3

MFR-2
MPD
OFC-1

OFC-2
PRS
PSP

SFR-1
SFR-2
SFR-3

SFR-5

Map Provided By: Planning Division

PRS

PSP

INTERSTATE 95

COM-3
O

FC
-1

O
FC-2

PRS

MFR-2

OLD KINGS RD.

SFR-1

SFR-3

PSP

COM-2

175



GENERAL APPLICATION: Rezoning Special Exception 
Nonstatutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration Vacating Plat 
Subdivision Master Plan 
Master Site Plan 
Technical Site Plan 
Variance 

Preliminary Plat Final Plat 
Nonresidential Controlling Master Site Plan 
Site Plan Addition 
Parking Flexibility 

Development Order Modification 

Wireless Communication Facility (new structure) 

A. PROJECT NAME:    

B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS):    

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER’S PARCEL NUMBER(s):    

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  Subdivision Name;  Section;  Block;  Lot 

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:    

F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION:  EXISTING ZONING DISTRICT:    

OVERLAY DISTRICT:     

G. FLOOD ZONE:  COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER:  DATE:    

H. PRESENT USE OF PROPERTY:    

I. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST / PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (MAY ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS):   

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS:    
K. CHECK APPROPRIATE BOX FOR SITE PLAN: 

Tier 1 

Tier 2 

(up to 40,000 sq. ft. / 40 units) 

(up to 100,000 sq. ft. / 100 units) 

Tier 3 (exceeding 100,000 sq. ft. / 100 units) 

L. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH 
THIS APPLICATION: 

M. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:    

N. IS THERE AN EXISTING MORTGAGE? Yes No 

General Application (sheet 1 of 2) 

October 1, 2009 (Revised 1-8-2020) VIII-43 

  

 
 
 

        
    

 

 

CD Plus Application #:     Application Submittal Date:    
Fee Paid: $     Date of Acceptance:     
Employee Name Accepting Application (print name):       
Rejected on  Rejected by:       
Reason for Rejection:          

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

176


Text Box
Secret Gardens


Text Box
East side of Old Kings Road, south of Palm Coast Parkway


Text Box
20-11-31-0000-01030-0000


Text Box
See Appendix "A"


Text Box
52.37 acres


Text Box
Mixed Use &Conservation


Text Box
OFC-2


Text Box
X


Text Box
12035C0120E


Text Box
06/06/2018


Text Box
Undeveloped


Text Box
Rezone from OFC-2 to COM-3, Preservation and Public / Semipublic


Text Box
X


Text Box
N/A


Text Box
N/A


Text Box
None


Text Box
COPC


Text Box
X



177


Text Box
Charlie Faulkner


Text Box
291 Byrd Road,Crescent City, FL 32112


Text Box
386-931-9147


Text Box
cfaulkner8@cfl.rr.com


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
None


Text Box
COASTAL COLLECTIONS LLC


Text Box
47 RIVERS EDGE LANEPALM COAST, FL 32137


Text Box
386-225-7164


Text Box
sjhyman@hotmail.com


Text Box
Palm Coast, Florida 32137


Text Box
391 Palm Coast Parkway SW, Ste. 1


Text Box
jay.livingston314@gmail.com


Text Box
386-439-2945


Text Box
JAY LIVINGSTON



2.05.05.  Review findings. When reviewing a development order application, the approval authority shall 
determine whether sufficient factual data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a 
development order shall be based upon the following including, but not limited to: 

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest: 

 We are proposing to rezone 26.56 acres from Office (OFC-2) to Commercial (COM-3).  The FLUM 
designation is Mixed Use. Currently there is minimal demand for office and a healthy demand for more 
intensive Commercial in a centrally located area of the City. We propose to leave the southern portion of 
the site as Office for a buffer to our neighbors; We have no neighbors to our east and north and COM-2 
and COM-3 across the street to the west. 

This request is not contrary or in conflict to the public interest. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the provisions of this LDC: 

 Three of the stated goals of the City’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan (CP) are: 

• Discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl, 
• Protect vital natural resources, such as environmentally sensitive lands and aquifer recharge areas, 
• Identify needed public services and revenues based on projected population and employment 

growth. 

Five of the stated goals of the Future Land Use Element of the City’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan 
(CP) are: 

• Economic and business development to provide a proper balance of jobs, shopping opportunities, 
and tax base, 

• Provision of an efficient transportation system to maximize vehicular and pedestrian accessibility 
and roadway capacity, 

• Protection of the City’s existing suburban areas from encroachment of noncompatible uses, 
• Preservation of environmental resources, 
• Provision of parks, public facilities, and infrastructure. 

The proposed Rezoning will: 

• Be an “Infill” project and not contribute to Urban Sprawl, 
• Protect vital natural resources; wetlands are currently zones “OFC-2”, we propose to rezone them to 

“Preservation.  
• Foster employment centers, 
• Help fund future 4-laning of Old Kings Road through Special Taxing District and Impact fees, 
• Have no impact on existing residential areas, 

This proposed Rezoning is consistent with the Goals of the Comprehensive Plan and comply with all 
minimum standards of the City’s LDC. 

 

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the City: 

 The proposed Rezoning and resulting development will be a contributing element of the City tax 
base, the future 4-laning of Old Kings Road and will not impose a hardship or liability on the City. 

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or constitute a threat to the 
general health, welfare, or safety of the City's inhabitants: 

 The resulting development will be required to comply with all elements of the City’s LDC and will 
not result in any hardship for the City’s inhabitants. 

07/05/2021 08:29 pm IP:[10.10.250.10] Packet No: 51056

178



E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state, and federal laws, statutes, 
ordinances, regulations, or codes: 

 All applicable regulations will be adhered to. 

2.06.03.  Review findings. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall 
consider the following criteria, in addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning 
application: 

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it furthers the goals 
and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 See response in paragraph “B” above. 

B. Its impact upon the environment or natural resources. 

 The FLUM Designations are for the property are “Mixed Use” for the uplands and “Conservation” 
for the main wetland system. We propose to rezone this wetland system to “Preservation”. 

C. Its impact on the economy of any affected area. 

 Both this and all adjacent parcels of land currently have a Mixed Use FLUM designation.  This 
proposed Rezoning will further the Goal of achieving a complimenting diversified mix of land uses in the 
area. 

D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, potable water, drainage, 
fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation systems. 

 The subject parcel of land is included in the Old Kings Road Special Assessment District.  As 
such, it enjoys a certain amount of already anticipated infrastructure impacts.  The resulting development 
will be subject to all applicable City impact fees. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area. 

 There are no changes in conditions or circumstances involving the subject parcel that would 
impact the Rezoning request review that we are aware of. 

F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the health, safety, and 
welfare of surrounding residents. 

 We expect the future development to be complimentary to the expected adjacent developments 
and have no adverse impacts.  There are no surrounding residents. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose. 

 As stated above, this proposed Rezoning will: 

• not contribute to Urban Sprawl,  
• will protect vital natural resources, 
• Foster employment centers in a central location, 
• Contribute Road Impact Fees to future 4-laning of Old Kings Road, 

While not impacting existing residential areas and meeting the needs of a growing population. 

 

179



180



181



182



CITY OF PALM COAST
160 LAKE AVENUE
PALM COAST, FL 32164

COASTAL COLLECTIONS LLC
47 RIVERS EDGE LANE
PALM COAST, FL 32137

FLAGLER COUNTY
1769 E MOODY BLVD BLDG 2, STE 303
BUNNELL, FL 32110

KINGS BUSINESS CENTER LLC
PO BOX 670
TORRINGTON, WY 82240

MAN 110, LLC
4370 LA JOLLA VILLAGE DR #650
SAN DIEGO, CA 92122

OLD KINGS STORAGE LLC
1604 JACKSON SCHOOLHOUSE RD
PASCOAG, RI 02859

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
719 SOUTH WOODLAND BLVD
DELAND, FL 32720

SZYMANSKI RONALD J & CAROL
LYNN H&W TRUSTEES
84 COMANCHE CT
PALM COAST, FL 32137

 

183



184



 

185



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 7, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11560 Account 

#
 

Subject ORDINANCE 2021-XX SEMINOLE POINTE, APPLICATION NO. 4820 TO REZONE 
71.74 +/- ACRES FROM THE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) AND 
GENERAL COMMERCIAL (COM-2) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE MULTI-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL-2 (MFR-2) AND HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3) ZONING 
DISTRICTS

Presenter:  Bill Hoover 

Background:
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 7, 2021 Business Meeting. There 
were no changes suggested to this item. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 7, 2021
David M. Trandel of Stonestreet Partners is proposing to rezone 71.74 +/- acres of vacant land 
located on the north side of the intersection between Seminole Woods Blvd. and US Highway 1 
from the Master Planned Development (MPD) and General Commercial (COM-2) Zoning 
Districts to the Multi-Family Residential – 2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) 
Zoning Districts.

The subject property was purchased back in March 2006 by Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC 
and the 131 +/- acre Seminole Pointe Subdivision plat was recorded in March 2006. The plat 
included Lot 1 (23.38 acres to the west of the subject property) and the north part of Lot 4 
(36.05 acres where Integra Woods Apartments are located). The land for Integra Woods 
Apartments was sold off with MFR-2 Zoning and those apartments were constructed in 2009.

On August 16, 2011 the City Council approved a rezoning for all of the Seminole Pointe 
subdivision lands, except for the Integra Woods parcel and Lot 3 which was zoned COM-2, from 
COM-3 and MFR-2 to Seminole Pointe MPD. The Seminole Pointe MPD expired on August 17, 
2018 and per the Land Development Code expired MPD lands revert back to their previous 
zoning.

Stonestreet Partners wants to rezone the site so it will allow 62.39 +/- acres of Multi-Family 
Residential – 2 (MFR-2) lands at a density of 12 units/per acre on the uplands and 3 units/per 
acre on wetlands which would equate to roughly 653 units by the applicant’s estimate. There 
would also be a 9.35 +/- acre tract for High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) uses located where 
the project abuts the intersection of US Highway 1 and Seminole Woods Boulevard.

Public Participation: The developer notified all neighboring property owners within 300 feet of 
the subject property via standard USPS mail of a neighborhood meeting that was held on 
August 2nd, 2021 at 6:00 P.M at the Hilton Garden Inn located NW of the intersection of Town 
Center Boulevard and SR 100. Seven members of the public attended this meeting as well as 

186



the developer and two staff members.  The developer erected two City provided signs on the 
subject property and newspaper ads have been run approximately two weeks before each of 
the three public hearings.

Planning and Land Development Regulation Board: The Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) meeting was held at 5:30 PM on August 18, 2021. No one from the 
public attended spoke regarding this project. The PLDRB found this project in compliance with 
the Comprehensive Plan and recommended approval to City Council by a 7 – 0 vote.

Recommended Action: 
The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board recommends that City Council approve 
Seminole Pointe, Application No. 4820 to rezone 71.74 +/- acres from the Master Planned 
Development (MPD) and General Commercial (COM-2) Zoning Districts to the Multi-Family 
Residential-2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) Zoning Districts. 

 

187



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE 2021-_______
REZONING APPLICATION NO. 4820

SEMINOLE POINTE REZONING

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AS  ESTABLISHED IN SECTION 2.06 OF THE 
CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 
AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP FOR 71.74 +/- ACRES OF 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS TAX PARCEL 
IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS 31-12-31-5371-00000-0020, 31-12-31-5371-
00000-0030 AND 31-12-31-5371-00000-0041 LOCATED ON THE NORTH 
SIDE OF THE INTERSECTION BETWEEN US HIGHWAY 1 AND 
SEMINOLE WOODS BOULEVARD AND MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED IN THE ATTACHED EXHIBIT A, FROM THE MASTER 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) AND GENERAL COMMERCIAL  
(COM-2) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE MULTI-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL-2 (MFR-2) AND HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL 
(COM-3) ZONING DISTRICTS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast, as the governing body of the City, pursuant to the 
authority vested in Chapter 163 and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the City of Palm Coast 
Unified Land Development Code, is authorized and empowered to consider applications relating 
to zoning; and 

WHEREAS, the notice and public hearing requirements, as provided for in Chapter 2 
(Review Authority, Enforcement, and Procedures) of the City of Palm Coast Unified Land 
Development Code have been satisfied; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast has considered the evidence and 
testimony presented by the applicant and other interested parties, the recommendations of the 
various City reviewing departments, and the recommendation of the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board (PLDRB); and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the findings in the staff report and the 
following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of 
the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible as defined in the Unified Land Development Code 
and generally consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and 
in the vicinity of the land proposed for rezoning;

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed 
circumstances, which would require the rezoning request. 

188



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 2 of 5

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBYORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM 

COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. Legislative and Administrative Findings.  The above recitals (whereas 
clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the City Council. 

SECTION 2. Official Zoning Map Amended. The 71.74 +/- acres of land, identified 
as tax parcel identification numbers 31-12-31-5371-00000-0020, 31-12-31-5371-00000-0030 and 
31-12-31-5371-00000-0041, located on the north side of the intersection between US Highway 1 
and Seminole Woods Boulevard, legally described in “Exhibit A” and as depicted in “Exhibit B”, 
attached hereto, is hereby amended from the Master Planned Development (MPD) and General 
Commercial (COM-2) Zoning Districts to the Multi-Family Residential-2 (MFR-2) and High 
Intensity Commercial (COM-3) Zoning Districts. 

SECTION 3. Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Code are severable, and if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Code shall be declared unconstitutional by 
the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall 
not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Code.

SECTION 4. Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 
its passage and adoption. 

Approved on first reading this 7th day of September, 2021.

Adopted on the second reading after due public notice and hearing City of Palm Coast this 
21st day of September, 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST:  DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK

Attachments: 
Exhibit “A” – Legal Description of property subject to Official Zoning Map amendment
Exhibit “B” – Revised Official Zoning Map

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

_______________________________________
William E. Reischmann, Jr., Esq. 

189



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 3 of 5

EXHIBIT “A”
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

190



Ordinance 2021-____
Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT “B”
REVISED OFFICIAL ZONING MAP

                                  

191



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
STAFF REPORT FOR SEMINOLE POINTE REZONING

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING 
SEPTEMBER 7, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application Number: 4820

Applicant: David M. Trandel of Stonestreet Partners, Chicago, IL
Property Description: 71.74 +/- acres located on the north side of the intersection between 

Seminole Woods Blvd. and US Highway 1
Property Owner:  Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC and PRP Management Services, LLC 

of Boynton Beach, FL
Parcel ID #: Lot 2 = 31-12-31-5371-00000-0020, Lot 3 = 31-12-31-5371-00000-0030, 

and Lot 4 = 31-12-31-5371-00000-0041 
   Parcel Address: 245 Seminole Woods Blvd. and 4210 and 4410 US Highway 1 South

Current FLUM: Mixed Use
Current Zoning: Master Planned Development (MPD) and General Commercial (COM-2)

Current Use: Vacant
Size of Property:  71.74 +/- acres

Requested Action: Rezoning from the Master Planned Development (MPD) and General 
Commercial (COM-2) Zoning Districts to the Multi-Family Residential – 
2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) Zoning Districts

ANALYSIS
REQUESTED ACTION

David M. Trandel of Stonestreet Partners is proposing to rezone 71.74 +/- acres of vacant land 
located on the north side of the intersection between Seminole Woods Blvd. and US Highway 1 
from the Master Planned Development (MPD) and General Commercial (COM-2) Zoning 
Districts to the Multi-Family Residential – 2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) 
Zoning Districts.

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

The subject property was purchased back in March 2006 by Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC 
and the 131 +/- acre Seminole Pointe Subdivision plat was recorded in March 2006. The plat 
included Lot 1 (23.38 acres to the west of the subject property) and the north part of Lot 4 
(36.05 acres where Integra Woods Apartments are located). The land for Integra Woods 
Apartments was sold off with MFR-2 Zoning and those apartments were constructed in 2009.
On August 16, 2011 the City Council adopted a rezoning for all of the Seminole Pointe 
subdivision lands, except for the Integra Woods parcel and Lot 3 which was zoned COM-2, from 
COM-3 and MFR-2 to Seminole Pointe MPD. The Seminole Pointe MPD expired on August 17, 

192



Page 2                                                                                               Application # 4820

2018 and per the Land Development Code expired MPD lands revert back to their previous 
zoning.
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Stonestreet Partners wants to rezone the site so it will allow 62.39 +/- acres of Multi-Family 
Residential – 2 (MFR-2) lands at a density of 12 units/per acre on the uplands and 3 units/per 
acre on wetlands which would equate to roughly 653 units by the applicant’s estimate. There 
would also be a 9.35 +/- acre tract for High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) uses located where 
the project abuts the intersection of US Highway 1 and Seminole Woods Boulevard.

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

USE SUMMARY TABLE:
CATEGORY: EXISTING: PROPOSED:
Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) Mixed Use Mixed Use

Zoning District

General Commercial (COM-2) 
and Master Planned 
Development (MPD)

Multi-family Residential – 2 
(MFR-2) and High Intensity 
Commercial (COM-3)

Use Vacant land
Multi-family community with 9 + 
acre commercial center

Acreage 71.74 +/- acres 71.74 +/- acres 

SURROUNDING LAND USES:

  NORTH:  FLUM: Mixed Use/Flagler County Conservation
Zoning: Multi-Family Residential – 2 (MFR-2)/Flagler County PUD

    EAST:  FLUM:           Greenbelt/Residential
Zoning: Preservation (PRS)/Duplex Residential (DPX)

SOUTH:  FLUM: Residential
Zoning: Duplex Residential (DPX)

WEST:          FLUM: Mixed Use and Flagler County Industrial  
Zoning:            Master Planned Development (MPD)/Flagler County Industrial

193



Page 3                                                                                               Application # 4820

RESIDENTIAL SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
MFR-2)

Min. Development Size 4 acres
Min. Lot Width 100 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.70
Min. Front Setback 25 ft.
Min. Rear Setback 20 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback 10 ft.
Max. Building Height 60 ft.
Min. Living Area 650 sq. ft.
Max. Density* 12 units/per acre*

*Density in the Multi-Family Residential - 2 (MFR-2) Zoning District is calculated based on Table 
3-3 and Section 3.05.03.A of the Land Development Code, which allow up to 12 units/per acre 
on upland areas and up to 3 units/per acre on wetland areas that are preserved. 

COMMERCIAL SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
COM-3)

Min. Lot Size 30,000 sq. ft.
Min. Lot Width 100 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.70
Min. Front Setback 25 ft. major roads/20 ft. local
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback 10 ft.
Max. Building Height 75 ft.
Max. Floor Area Ratio 0.50

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.05.05

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When 
reviewing a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether 
sufficient factual data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a 
development order shall be based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

Staff Finding: The proposed project with MFR-2 and COM-3 zoning districts are allowed zoning 
district in areas designated Mixed Use on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and will be 
compatible with the variety of other uses currently allowed within close proximity to the site. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the 
provisions of this LDC;

194



Page 4                                                                                               Application # 4820

Staff Finding: The request is consistent with the following policies and goal of the 
Comprehensive Plan:

 Chapter 1 Future Land Use Element:  

Goal 1.1: Preserve the character of residential communities, prevent urban sprawl and 
protect open space and environmental resources, while providing a mix of land uses, 
housing types, services, and job opportunities in mixed use centers and corridors. 

Homes developed under MFR-2 standards typically allow a much smaller portion of the 
site to be residentially developed which allows for more of the site to be retained as 
natural areas and combats urban sprawl. Additionally, the numerous homes will make 
nearby existing and future commercial uses more viable.
 
-Policy 1.1.1.2 – The future land use designations shall permit the zoning districts listed 
and generally described in the following table. 

The FLUM designates the subject property as Mixed Use and Multi--Family Residential-
2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) are allowable zoning districts for 
areas with the Mixed Use designation on this FLUM table. 

-Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not 
disproportionately increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well 
as providing housing and transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

The proposed MFR-2 zoning would provide the opportunity for vehicular energy 
efficiency by having a significant number of homes in a community on upland tracts 
located between the wetland areas being preserved. Public services are available to 
serve the site or will be extended by the developer at the developer’s expense.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

Staff Finding:  Potable water and sewer services are available to serve the project. 
 
D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Staff Finding:  The proposed rezoning will be compatible with the overall neighborhood as it is 
located within an area of primarily multi-family or duplex residential uses and preserved lands 
and the project’s residential uses will provide demand for existing and future commercial land 
uses in nearby Mixed Use areas. 

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal 
laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes.

Staff Finding: The subject property will be required to comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Comprehensive Plan, and the requirements of all other applicable local, state and federal 
agencies throughout the development process. 

195



Page 5                                                                                               Application # 4820

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.06.03 
 

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Sec. 2.06.03 states: “The Planning and 
Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall consider the following criteria, in 
addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning application”:

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it 
furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;

Staff Finding: As noted previously in the analysis prepared for LDC Chapter 2, Part II, Section 
2.05.05 of this staff report, the requested zoning district is in conformance with the 
Comprehensive Plan elements, and their goals, objectives and policies. 

B. Its impact upon the environment and natural resources;

Staff Finding:  Upon submittal of the Master Site Plan or a Technical Site Plan a thorough 
environmental analysis will be provided by the applicant and reviewed by applicable City staff 
and other governmental review agencies. 

C.   Its impact on the economy of any affected area;

Staff Finding: Impacts to the Palm Coast economy are anticipated to be positive since the 
project will provide numerous construction jobs over the first few years and will provide 
additional tax revenues to the City. Additionally, the residential homes will increase demand for 
commercial services in reasonably close proximity to the site.
 
D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, 

potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation;

Staff Finding: The impact on the necessary governmental services including: wastewater, 
potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste and transportation systems will 
be covered by concurrency regulations and impact fees paid by the developer during the 
Preliminary Plat and construction drawing review process. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area;

Staff Finding:  Housing costs and infrastructure costs have increased substantially over the last 
few years and the City has a substantial shortage of both multi-family and single-family housing 
units. 
 
F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the 
health, safety, and welfare of surrounding residents;

Staff Finding:  As previously described the proposed rezoning will be compatible with the 
existing and future planned commercial uses in the overall neighborhood. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose:

Staff Finding: The subject property is located within the Mixed Use designation on the FLUM 
and the proposed zoning districts of MFR-2 and COM-3 are allowable zoning districts within that 

196



Page 6                                                                                               Application # 4820

FLUM designation. Staff believes the site is very appropriate for the proposed multi-family 
residential community and high intensity commercial uses. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.02 requires developers or 
property owners who are requesting to rezone property within the City to notify neighboring 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property boundaries and hold a neighborhood 
meeting. 

To comply with this standard, the developer notified the neighboring property owners via 
standard USPS mail of an upcoming neighborhood meeting that was held on August 2, 2021 at 
6:00 P.M. at the Hilton Garden Inn nearby SR 100 and Town Center Boulevard.  Seven 
neighbors, the applicant and his team, and two City staff members attended this meeting.

The developer erected City provided signs along Seminole Woods Boulevard and US Highway 
1 at least 14 days prior to each public hearing by the PLDRB and City Council. 

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) meeting was held at 5:30 PM 
on August 18, 2021. No one from the public spoke regarding this project. The PLDRB found this 
project in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and recommended approval to City Council 
by a 7 – 0 vote.

RECOMMENDATION

The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board recommends that City Council approve 
Seminole Pointe, Application No. 4820 to rezone 71.74 +/- acres from the Master Planned 
Development (MPD) and General Commercial (COM-2) Zoning Districts to the Multi-Family 
Residential-2 (MFR-2) and High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) Zoning Districts.

197



0 4,2002,100
Feet µ

Seminole Pointe Distant Aerial

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Pointe

Map Provided By: Planning Division

SR 100 SR 100

I-95
Flagler County Airport

O
ld Kings Rd.

US 1

US 1

Belle Terre
Blvd.

Sem
inole W

oods Blvd.

Seminole Woods 

Blvd.

Belle Terre Blvd.

198



0 1,000500
Feet µ

Seminole Pointe Close-In Aerial

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Pointe

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Unincorporated Flagler County

Unincorporated Flagler County

Florida East Coast RR

US 1

US 1

Seminole Woods Blvd.

Integra 
Woods 
Apts.

Lot 1
(Excluded)

Lot 2

Lot 4

Lot 3

199



MFR-2

COM-3

PUD

AC

IND

NRC-PUD

PRS

MFR-2

PUD

PSP

SFR-3

DPX

SFR-2

EST-1

0 1,000500
Feet

µ

Seminole Pointe Proposed Zoning Map

Legend
Seminole Pointe

COM-3

MFR-2

Palm Coast Zoning
DPX

EST-1

MFR-2

PRS

PSP

PUD

SFR-2

SFR-3

Flagler Zoning
AC

IND

NRC-PUD

PUD

Map Provided By: Planning Division

FC - PUD

US 1

COM-3

FC - NRC-PUD

FC - AC

FC - AC

Seminole Woods Blvd.

MFR-2

FC - IND

PSP

DPX

SFR-3

PRS

200



CONS RES-LOW-RE

IND

AG-TIMBER

Mixed Use

Greenbelt

Residential

Industrial

Canals

Conservation

0 1,000500
Feet

µ

Seminole Pointe FLUM

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Pointe

Palm Coast FLUM
Canals

Conservation

Greenbelt

Industrial

Mixed Use

Residential

LandUse
AG & TIMBER

CONSERVATION

INDUSTRIAL

RES:LOW DENSITY/RURAL ESTATE

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Seminole Woods Blvd.
FC - Conservation FC - Res. Low Density

FC - Ind.

FC - Ag & Timber

Residential

Greenbelt
US 1

Mixed  Use

Lot 1
(Excluded)

Lot 2

Lot 4 Lot 2

Integra
Woods
Apts.

Resid
ential

FC - Ag & Timber

201



PUD

AC

IND

NRC-PUD

MPD

PRS

MFR-2

PUD

PSP

COM-2

SFR-3

DPX

SFR-2

EST-1

0 1,000500
Feet

µ

Seminole Pointe Existing Zoning Map

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Seminole Pointe

Palm Coast Zoning
COM-2

DPX

EST-1

MFR-2

MPD

PRS

PSP

PUD

SFR-2

SFR-3

Flagler Zoning
AC

IND

NRC-PUD

PUD

Map Provided By: Planning Division

FC - PUD

FC - AC

FC - 
IND

FC - 
NRC-
PUD

FC - AC

MPD

MFR-2

DPX

PRS

SFR-3

COM-2
Seminole Woods Blvd.

US 1

202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



4820

224



225



226



 
September 1, 2021 
 
 
Mayor David Alfin  Via Email (dalfin@palmcoastgov.com) 
City of Palm Coast 
160 Lake Avenue 
Palm Coast, FL 32164 
 
Re: Seminole Pointe Rezoning Application 
 
Dear Mayor Alfin: 
 
Congratulations on your election as Mayor of the City of Palm Coast! 
 
I am writing to express our support for the rezoning of Seminole Pointe and the general development plans of 
Stonestreet Partners, LLC.   EBSCO Integra Woods, LLC is the owner of Integra Woods Apartments, which is located 
immediately east and adjacent to Seminole Pointe. 
 
We have had the opportunity to speak on several occasions with the developers of the proposed project and we 
believe that the proposed project will complement our apartment community and would be a good neighbor for us. 
 
Our support is based primarily on the following two significant elements of the proposed changes: 
 

• The development plan will significantly reduce the intensity of development along the US Highway 1 
corridor by reducing the amount of Seminole Pointe zoned COM-III; and  

• The surrounding area, including the residents of Integra Woods, will benefit greatly by bringing much 
needed neighborhood retail to this corner of the City through the proposed relocation of the commercial zoning district 
from the interior of the property to the US Highway 1 corridor. 
 
Thank you for your consideration; we look forward to the further development of Seminole Pointe. 
 
Should you or anyone on your team have any questions, please feel free to reach out to me at lyeilding@ebsco.com or 
205-981-5135. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
Leslie L. Yeilding 
President of EBSCO Integra Woods, LLC 
 
C:  Jason DeLorenzo (jdelorenzo@palmcoastgov.com) 
 Ray Tyner (rtyner@palmcoastgov.com)  
 

   
    

5724 HIGHWAY 280 EAST, BIRMINGHAM, AL  35242                                        WWW.EBSCOINCOMEPROPERTIES.COM 

Leslie L. Yeilding, CCIM, CAPS 
President, General Manager 

lyeilding@ebsco.com 
205.981.5135 

227



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount  
Item Key 11673 Account 

#
 

Subject RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING THE TERMINATION OF THE SEMINOLE 
POINTE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (MPD)

Presenter: Bill Hoover 

Background:
The subject property was purchased back in March 2006 by Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC 

and the 131 +/- acre Seminole Pointe Subdivision plat was recorded in March 2006. The plat 

included Lot 1 (23.38 acres to the west of the subject property) and the north part of Lot 4 

(36.05 acres where Integra Woods Apartments are located). The land for Integra Woods 

Apartments was sold off with MFR-2 Zoning and those apartments were constructed in 2009.

On August 16, 2011 the City Council adopted a rezoning for all of the Seminole Pointe 

subdivision lands, except for the Integra Woods parcel and Lot 3 which was zoned COM-2, from 

COM-3 and MFR-2 to Seminole Pointe MPD. The Seminole Pointe MPD expired on August 17, 

2018 and per the Land Development Code expired MPD lands revert back to their previous 

zoning. 

PRP Management Services, LLC purchased part of the subject property in the first half of 2021. 

On July 6, 2021, Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC and PRP Management Services, LLC 

submitted an application that would rezone the subject property to the High Intensity 

Commercial (COM-3) and Multi-Family Residential-2 (MFR-2) Zoning Districts.

City Council was presented with the rezoning application for this property at their September 7, 

2021 business meeting for consideration and was presented to Council for second read at this 

meeting. 

Recommended Action:
The Planning staff recommends City Council approve the Resolution to terminate the Seminole 
Pointe MPD.

 

228



Resolution 2021-____
Page 1 of 2

Return to:
City Clerk 
City of Palm Coast
160 Lake Avenue
Palm Coast, FL  32164

RESOLUTION 2021 -____ 
TERMINATION OF SEMINOLE POINTE MPD

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA TERMINATING THE 2011 SEMINOLE POINTE 
MASTER  PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE

WHEREAS, the City and Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC and Palm Coast One Group, 

LLC (hereinafter “Original Owners”) entered into that certain Master Planned Development 

(MPD) Agreement approved on August 2, 2011 and adopted on August 16, 2011, (recorded with 

Ordinance 2011-13), recorded on August 18, 2011, in O.R. Book 1829, Page 980, et seq., Public 

Records of Flagler County, Florida (collectively the “MPD Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Original Owners later sold off part of the subject property so the current 

owners are Palm Coast Seminole Group, LLC and PRP Management Services, LLC (hereinafter 

“Current Owners”); and 

WHEREAS, the City and Current Owners wish to terminate the MPD Agreement and 

wish to release the Current Owners from the terms and conditions of said MPD Agreement, as the 

subject property has a new zoning of High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) and Multi-Family 

Residential–2 (MFR-2).

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA,

SECTION 1. The City Council hereby approves the termination of the MPD Agreement 

and releases the Current Owners from the terms and conditions of said MPD Agreement.  

SECTION 2.  RECORDING.  This Resolution shall be recorded upon the Public Records 

of Flagler County, Florida, at the Current Owners’ expense.

229



Resolution 2021-____
Page 2 of 2

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section or portion of a section of this Resolution 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of this Resolution.

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any 

of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption by the City Council.

PASSED and ADOPTED at the meeting of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast 

on the 17th day of  September 2021.

ATTEST: CITY OF PALM COAST

________________________ ________________________
Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk David Alfin, Mayor

Approved as to form and legality

________________________________
William E. Reischmann, Jr., Esquire

230



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 14, 2021

Department Amount  
Item Key 11137 Account 

#
 

Subject COUNCIL DECISION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF ON WHETHER TO AMEND 
THE COMMERCIAL VEHICLE ORDINANCE IN CHAPTER 44, ARTICLE II

Presenter: Jason DeLorenzo, Chief Development Officer 

Background: 
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
This item was heard by City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop.  Council requested 
to make a decision whether to change the Commercial Vehicle Ordinance or to have the 
existing Ordinance remain the same at the next business meeting. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
FY 21/22 City Council Priorities (Resolution 2021-81), B5 Business Friendly Initiative
Staff to evaluate and report to City Council on codes associated with working vehicles in 
residential driveways to restrict to a maximum of one vehicle. A survey shall be conducted as 
part of staff’s evaluations. 

Chapter 44, Article II of the Code of Ordinances prohibits certain vehicles from parking 
overnight in residential zones. At the March 2, 2021 City Council workshop, staff was tasked to 
develop an open survey related to parking of one commercial vehicle, of limited size, in 
residential driveways.

The Commercial Vehicle Ordinance Survey was a single question survey with three possible 
answers (yes, no, or undecided), citizens entered their responses through the City website.  The 
total survey response was 16,491 submissions.  To maintain survey integrity, the City captured 
the user’s IP address in an effort to group potential duplicates. The City used the data from all of 
the submissions (5/1/2021 – 5/31/2021) for the analysis. The analysis consisted of calculating a 
statistical average grouped by the IP addresses. The response(s) for each IP address were 
averaged.  The final percentages represent a total average of the averaged responses for all IP 
addresses.

City staff will present the survey results for discussion and direction.

Recommended Action: 
FOR COUNCIL DECISION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF ON WHETHER TO AMEND THE 
COMMERCIAL VEHICLE ORDINANCE IN CHAPTER 44, ARTICLE II

 

231



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date :  September 21, 2021

Department CITY CLERK Amount  
Item Key 11604 Account 

#
 

Subject APPOINT A MEMBER TO FLAGLER COUNTY HOUSING TASK 
FORCE/AFFORDABLE HOUSING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Presenter : 

Background :
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
This item was presented to City Council to appoint a member to the Affordable Housing 
Advisory Committee.  Council requested the applicants appear before City Council. 
Unfortunately, one applicant has withdrawn his application due to family matters. Council then 
requested at their September 14, 2021 Workshop to obtain more applications for this 
appointment.  However, on Friday, September 17, 2021, the City Clerk was notified by the 
Program Coordinator that the City does need to appoint a member to this Committee by 
October 1, 2021. The remaining candidate is Ms. Vasilevsky. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
The Affordable Housing Advisory Committee has an opening on the board.  In accordance with 
the Interlocal Agreement, the City of Palm Coast appoints a resident to this Committee.  It is the 
City of Palm Coast’s opportunity to appoint to this Committee a resident at this time. 

Recommended Action :
APPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE FLAGLER COUNTY AFFORDABLE HOUSING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

 

232



Page 1 of 5 
Revised 1/12/16

VOLUNTEER BOARD AND COMMITTEE APPLICATION 

Thank you for your interest in serving the City of Palm Coast. 

Your completion of this application is necessary so that the members of the City Council can thoroughly review each 
application as part of their consideration of your appointment. 

Please be advised that background screening of all applicants is required. 

Résumés may be attached.

Please check the Board/Committee/Council for which you are applying: 

Beautification & Environmental Advisory Committee* Planning & Land Development Regulation Board* 
Code Enforcement Board* Volunteer Firefighters’ Pension Fund Board*
Leisure Services Advisory Committee 

Flagler County Housing Task Force/Affordable Housing Advisory Council: 
Citizen from the City of Palm Coast representing essential services personnel
Representative of residential home building industry

River to Sea Transportation Planning Organization Advisory Committees: 
Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC)
Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee (BPAC)

* Appointees must file a Financial Disclosure Form 1 with the City Clerk at time of appointment and ANNUALLY
thereafter with the Flagler County Supervisor of Elections.

Requires at least one board member to be appointed from EACH City Council District, when possible.

ALL CITY BOARDS AND COMMITTEES ARE SUBJECT TO THE SUNSHINE LAW AND PUBLIC RECORDS LAW.

RE-APPOINTMENT  Yes  No 

1. PERSONAL

Name: E-mail address

Residence Address: District # 

City: State: Zip: 

Mailing Address (If Different from 
Residence): 

Home Phone Business Phone: 

Date of Birth:  Place of Birth: 

How long have you been a permanent resident of Palm Coast?  

What year did you become a continuous resident of the City of Palm Coast? 

List all places of residence for the last five years. 

233



Page 2 of 5 
Revised 1/12/16

Address City & State From To

Are you a registered voter in Flagler County?   Yes  No 

Have you ever used or been known by any other legal name?   Yes   No 

If yes, explain: 

Are you a citizen of the United States?   Yes  No 

If no, explain: 

If you are a naturalized citizen of the United States, date of naturalization:  

2. EMPLOYMENT HISTORY (A résumé may be attached at the option of the applicant) (If retired, please still list your previous occupation
and employment history.)

If retired, please list your occupation before retirement:  

Occupation:  Current Employer: 

Current Business Address:  

City State Zip Phone #

List all of your employment history during the last five years. Include employers’ name, business address, type of 
business, occupation, or job title and period(s) of employment. 

Employer & Address Type of Business Occupational Title Period of Employment

Have you ever been employed by any state, district, or local governmental agency in Florida?   Yes   No 
If yes, identify the position(s), the name(s) of the employing agency and the period of employment.  

Position Employee Agency Period of Employment

3. EDUCATION

High School: Year Graduated: 
Name & Location 

List postsecondary educational institutions or programs attended: 
Name & Location Dates Attended Certificate/Degrees Received

234



Page 3 of 5 
Revised 1/12/16

4. MILITARY SERVICE

Are you or have you ever been a member of the Armed Forces?   Yes   No 

Date of Service:  

Branch or Component: 

Date and Type of Discharge: 

5. INTEREST/ACTIVITIES/COMMUNITY AND/OR CIVIC INVOLVEMENT?

Are you currently or have you ever served on any City Volunteer Board or Committee?    Yes   No 
If yes, which Board 
or Committee?

List any business, professional, occupational, civic, or fraternal organizations or community groups of which you 
have been a member during the past five (5) years.  
Name of Organization(s) 

6. QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT

State your experiences and interests or elements of your personal history that qualify you for this appointment.

Have you received any degree(s), professional certification(s), or designation(s) related to the subject matter of this 
appointment? If yes, list below:    Yes    No 

Do you currently hold any office or position (appointive, civil service, or other) with any government entity? If yes, list 
below:        Yes    No 

Have you ever been elected or appointed to any public office? If yes, list below:   Yes   No 

Office Title   Date of Election or Appointment Term of Office Level of Government 

235



Page 4 of 5 
Revised 1/12/16

Have you or a business of which you have been an owner, officer, or employee, held any contractual or other direct 
dealings during the last four (4) years with City government, including the office or agency to which you have been 
appointed or are seeking appointment?   Yes    No   If yes, explain below: 

Name of Business            Relationship to the Business         Business Relationship to Agency 

How do you believe that your education, experience, talents and skills will benefit the work of the Board or 
Committee and are you willing to act as a decision maker and not as an advocate, if required by law? 

What is your understanding of the relationship of this Board or Committee to the City Council? 

7. al)

Name, Address & Telephone Number

Name, Address & Telephone Number

Name, Address & Telephone Number

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

If required by law, will you file a financial disclosure statement?    Yes   No 

I understand the responsibilities associated with being a member of a City Board or Committee and that I may be 
subject to financial disclosure laws and ex parte communications rules and that I will be subject to the Code of Ethics for 
Public Officers and Employees and City rules of conduct.  

I certify that I have adequate time to serve if appointed and that I will serve in accordance with the requirements of the 
Board or Committee to which I am appointed. 

236



237



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department CITY CLERK Amount  
Item Key 11713 Account 

#
 

Subject APPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE DISTRICTING COMMISSION

Presenter : VIRGINIA A. SMITH, CITY CLERK

Background :
At the August 24, 2021 Special Meeting, City Council appointed 5 members to the Districting 
Commission. All appointees were contacted.  One appointee has declined the appointment, 
therefore, Council needs to appoint one more member to the Commission. 

The City Clerk advised Council of the need to appoint one more member at the September 14, 
2021 Workshop.  The Clerk also advised Council there were two alternates provided at the 
special meeting that were not chosen and then requested each Council to bring a new 
appointee for Council’s consideration to the September 21, 2021 Business Meeting.

The two alternate appointees not chosen were: Ms. Sarah Melendez and Mr. David Ferguson.  

Recommended Action :
APPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE DISTRICTING COMMISSION

 

238



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date : September 21, 2021

Department CITY CLERK Amount  
Item Key 11616 Account 

#
 

Subject RESOLUTION 2021-XX ADOPTING GUIDELINES FOR NAMING OF PUBLIC 
FACILITIES

Presenter : Jason DeLorenzo

Background :
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop. Council 
requested to include the Community Wing be eligible for naming under this policy. The 
PowerPoint presentation is available in the City Clerk’s office. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
The City of Palm Coast desires to establish guidelines and a procedure for the naming or 
renaming of public facilities owned or operated by the City in order to ensure a consistent and 
systematic approach to honoring individuals or organizations that have made significant 
contributions to the City.  This will ensure that the process of naming Public Facilities results in 
the easy identification and location of Public Facilities. 

This process will also provide all citizens and groups in the community the opportunity to 
participate in the naming of Public Facilities, subject to review and recommendation by the 
Beautification Environmental Advisory Committee, with final review and approval by the City 
Council. By establishing such guidelines and procedure, the City Council wishes to encourage 
public participation in the naming of Public Facilities, as well as to increase awareness of and 
public support for the City’s Public Facilities and programs. 

Recommended Action :
ADOPT RESOLUTION 2021-XX ADOPTING GUIDELINES FOR NAMING OF PUBLIC 
FACILITIES

 

239



Resolution 2021-____
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2021-______

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, ADOPTING GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES FOR 
THE OFFICIAL NAMING OF PUBLIC FACILITIES OWNED OR 
OPERATED BY THE CITY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast (“City”) desires to establish guidelines and a 

procedure for the naming or renaming of public facilities owned or operated by the City (“Public 

Facilities”) in order to ensure a consistent and systematic approach to honoring individuals or 

organizations that have made significant contributions to the City;  and 

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to ensure that the process of naming Public Facilities 

results in the easy identification and location of Public Facilities; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council intends to provide all citizens and groups in the community 

the opportunity to participate in the naming of Public Facilities, subject to review and 

recommendation by the Beautification Environmental Advisory Committee, with final review and 

approval by the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, by establishing such guidelines and procedure, the City Council wishes to 

encourage public participation in the naming of Public Facilities, as well as to increase awareness 

of and public support for the City’s Public Facilities and programs; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast finds that this Resolution is in the 

best interests of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Palm Coast.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF PALM 

COAST, FLORIDA: 

SECTION 1.  RECITALS.  The foregoing recitals are deemed true and correct and are 

hereby fully incorporated herein by this reference.

SECTION 2. GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURE.  The guidelines and procedure for 

naming or renaming the City’s Public Facilities attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby approved 

and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

240



Resolution 2021-____
Page 2 of 2

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City 

Council that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Resolution are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Resolution shall be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs and sections of this Resolution. 

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with this 

Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon its passage and adoption.

DULY PASSED and approved this _____ day of ______________________, 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY 

_____________________________________
WILLIAM E. REISCHMANN, JR., ESQ.
CITY ATTORNEY 

241



GUIDELINES FOR THE NAMING OF PUBLIC FACILITIES

City of Palm Coast, Florida

Purpose 

The purpose of these guidelines is to establish a systematic and consistent approach for the 
official naming of public facilities owned or operated by the City of Palm Coast (“City”), including 
but not limited to parks, facilities, recreational areas, streets, municipal buildings, and specialized 
areas. These guidelines are not intended to suggest that existing names of public facilities, 
properties or parks will be or should be changed and is intended only as guidelines for future 
decisions. 

Objectives 

 Ensure that City parks, facilities, recreational areas, streets, municipal buildings, and 
specialized areas are easily identified and located.

 Ensure that given names to City parks, facilities, recreational areas, streets, municipal 
buildings, and specialized areas are consistent with the values and character of the area 
or neighborhood served.

 Encourage public participation in the naming, renaming, and dedication of City parks, 
facilities, recreational areas, streets, municipal buildings, and specialized areas.

 Encourage the dedication of lands, facilities, or donations by individuals and/or groups.

 Advance the reputation of the City as well as increase the understanding and public 
support for its programs.

This Policy does not apply to:

 City core services facilities (e.g., City Hall (excluding the Community Wing), Fire Stations);

 Non-City facilities;

 Non-City facilities which occupy City lands and where the building is currently owned or 
leased by other than the City. 

 Naming of programs, events, or other kinds of sponsorships conducted through the City. 

 The dedication of small park amenities with an identifiable lifespan and not intended to be 
permanent such as fixed park benches, litter stations and tables.  

242



Definitions

Naming means the name assigned by the City Council via resolution to a given public facility, 
property, or park. 

Nominee means an individual or organization after whom a public facility, property or park is 
considered for naming. 

Organization means a group, business, company, corporation or non-profit entity which has made 
an extraordinary contribution to the City of Palm Coast. 

Park shall have the same meaning as “City Park” as defined in Section 42-161, Code of 
Ordinances, City of Palm Coast, Florida,

Property means any parcel of real property, developed or undeveloped, owned or managed by 
the City of Palm Coast. 

Public Facility means any capital facility owned or operated by the City of Palm Coast. 

Criteria 

The practice of the City is to name parks, recreation areas, facilities, streets, municipal buildings, 
and specialized areas through an adopted process utilizing the above objectives, emphasizing 
community values and character, local and national history, geography, the environment, civics, 
and service to the City. Therefore, the following criteria shall be used in determining the 
appropriateness of the naming designation: 

 Neighborhood, geographic, or common usage identification;

 A historical figure, place, event, or other instance of historical or cultural significance;

 National, state, and local leaders or heroes, both past and present;

 Natural or geographical features, such as plant materials, streams, rivers, lakes, and 
creeks;

 An individual, living or deceased [a] who has made a significant land and/or monetary 
contribution to the park, recreation area, facility, or municipal building, or [b] who has had 
the contribution made “In Memoriam” and when the name has been stipulated as a 
condition of the donation;

 An individual, living or deceased, who has contributed outstanding civic service to the City;

 Consideration shall be given to whether the nominee has already had a street, facility, 
property or park named after him/her/it;

 A public facility, property or park may be designated with only one name;

243



 No name will be considered that diminishes the historic integrity of a public facility, property 
or park;

 A request is ineligible when a similar request was considered and declined by the City 
Council within three years of the date of submittal of the current application;

 Public facilities, properties and parks will not be subdivided for the purpose of naming 
unless there are readily identifiable physical divisions such as road or waterways. 
However, naming of specific major areas of public facilities, properties and parks will be 
permitted. For example, a tennis court area within a larger public park may be named after 
a specific nominee. In such circumstances, such names must be different from the larger 
facility, property or park to avoid user confusion. 

 The City shall make all decisions relating to the design and placement of all signs or 
markers on or at City facilities, properties and parks. 

Facilities, specialized areas, or amenities may have a name different from that of the larger park, 
recreation area, facility, or municipal building. 

Names that are similar to names of existing parks, recreation areas, facilities, streets, municipal 
buildings, and specialized areas should not be considered in order to minimize confusion.

Renaming 

The City reserves the right to change the name of a City property, park, recreation area, public 
facility, street, municipal building, or specialized area to maintain consistency with these 
guidelines. However, renaming carries with it a much greater burden of process compared to 
initial naming. The renaming of parks and facilities is strongly discouraged. It is recommended 
that efforts to change a name be subject to the most critical examination so as not to diminish the 
original justification for the name or discount the value of the prior contributors. Tradition and 
continuity of name and community identification are important community values. Each request 
to rename must meet the criteria of this policy, but meeting all criteria does not ensure renaming. 

Only those parks and facilities named for a location or subdivision shall be considered for 
renaming. Parks named by deed restriction shall not be considered for renaming.

Parks and facilities named after individuals shall not be changed unless it is found that the 
individual’s personal character is or was such that the continuing use of the name for a park or 
facility would not be in the best interest of the community.

Procedures 

The steps to name a public facility, park or property are as follows: 

244



1. An open call for submissions by the City of Palm Coast including a deadline for 
submission.

2. A completed “City of Palm Coast Naming of Public Facilities Nomination Form” submitted 
to the City Manager or his or her designee for each nomination by any citizen, group, or 
organization.

3. The City Manager or designee will place complete submissions upon an agenda to be 
reviewed by the Beautification Environmental Advisory Committee (“Committee”). The 
Committee shall review all factual and background information listed on the nomination 
form as well as any other information deemed appropriate. The Committee shall provide 
a recommendation to the City Council regarding the naming request.

4. Following Committee review and recommendation, the City Manager or designee will 
place complete submissions and Committee recommendation(s) upon a subsequent City 
Council agenda for review. All complete submissions will be presented for consideration 
to the City Council along with the Committee’s recommendation(s). 

5. The City Council shall discuss these submissions during a scheduled City Council 
meeting. The City Council may accept or reject the Committee’s recommendation(s). If 
the City Council does not accept any nominations for naming submissions, the City 
Council shall refer the call for submissions back to the Committee. The City Council shall 
select the name or otherwise take action by vote at a scheduled City Council meeting.

245



City of Palm Coast
Naming of Public Facilities Nomination Form

This Nomination Form is to establish a systematic and consistent approach for the official 
naming of public facilities in the City of Palm Coast including parks, facilities, recreational 
areas, streets, municipal buildings, and specialized areas. The criteria for nomination are 
explained in the document “Guidelines for the Naming of Public Facilities”. 

Nominator 
Name___________________________________________________________________ 
Address, City, State, Zip 
___________________________________________________________ 
Phone __________________ Email ______________________________________ 

Nomination 

The nominator must answer the following questions and submit this form to the City 
Manager or designee by ______ 

Name being nominated: _____________________________________________________  

If a person: 

A. Address, City, State, Zip (or former if deceased): 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
 

B. Date of Death (if deceased) ________________

C. List specific years of involvement (Example - 01/10-12/17) 
___________________________________

D. Identify the general area of contribution made by the nominee.

(Example - Health, Education, Business, Environment, Civic, Other) 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

E. Summarize the type of contribution (accomplishments and community involvement) 
that the nominee made. (more detail further below) : 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
(Examples – Neighborhood or geographic; Natural or geological features; National, 
State, and local leaders; Historical figure, place, or event; Individuals who have made 

246



significant monetary contributions or have contributed outstanding service to the 
community).

If other than a person: 

A. Summarize the reason for this nomination (more detail to be provided in section D. 
below) 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

B. Identify in detail the area of contribution made by the nominee and be specific – name 
either facilities or specialized areas. (Example - Health, Education, Business, 
Environment, Civic, Other).

___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________

C. Describe the type of contribution (accomplishments and community involvement) that 
the nominee made. (Examples – Neighborhood or geographic; Natural or geological 
features; National, State, and local leaders; Historical figure, place, or event; 
Individuals who have made significant monetary contributions or have contributed 
outstanding service to the community).

___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________

D. Describe in detail why the name being nominated is related to this facility, including 
any background, details, or other relevant information.

___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________

Signature of Nominator: __________________________________________

Return the completed forms by email or mail to: 
Email: customer-service@palmcoastgov.com
Mail: 160 Lake Ave, Palm Coast FL 32164

247



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 14, 2021

Department Utility Amount  
Item Key Account # 54029083  063000  85005

Subject RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. 
AUGUSTINE WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY 
SEWER MANHOLE SEALING AND COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS

Presenter : Danny Ashburn

Background :
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop. There were 
no changes suggested to this item. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
As part of the City Council goals to ensure that all infrastructure is a priority regarding 
maintenance and performance the Utility Wastewater Collection Department needs to identify 
and eliminate sources of infiltration and inflow (I&I) into the central sewer system, it is necessary 
to install a liner system at various locations. This liner system will rehabilitate concrete, 
damaged by hydrogen sulfide gases inside of pump station wet wells and gravity sewer 
manholes identified to be in need of repair from CCTV reports. This concrete rehabilitation 
process consists of surface preparation of the concrete by means of high pressure 
hydro-blasting; removing damaged concrete from the structure; locating leaks around seams 
or joints of the structure; and plugging leaks with urethane grout. The next step is to rebuild the 
concrete surface by installing moisture and corrosion barriers of modified polymer. All phases 
of the liner installation are sprayed on applications and the system carries a 10-year warranty 
against failure.

City staff is recommending piggybacking the City of St. Augustine contract (#PW2020-05) with 
Engineered Spray Solutions, Inc. Piggybacking existing competitively bid contracts is 
advantageous since the pricing is generally better than what the City could obtain on its own, 
and the City does not incur the expense and delay of soliciting a bid.

Since the underlying contract is an agreement on a per unit price basis at $376.00 per vertical 
foot, City staff will make purchases on an as needed basis using budgeted funds appropriated 
by City Council.

Recommended Action :
ADOPT RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. 
AUGUSTINE WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY SEWER 
MANHOLE SEALING AND COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS

 

248



Resolution 2021-____
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2021 -____
ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTION 

GRAVIT SEWER MANHOLE SEALING AND COATING
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. 
AUGUSTINE CONTRACT (#PW2020-05) WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY 
SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY SEWER MANHOLE SEALING AND 
COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER, OR DESIGNEE, TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast desires to utilize the City of St. Augustine contract 

(#PW2020-05) for gravity sewer manhole sealing and coating, as needed; and

WHEREAS, Engineered Spray Solutions, INC., desires to provide the above mentioned 

products on an as-needed basis for the City of Palm Coast

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. APPROVAL OF PIGGYBACK CONTRACT.  The City Council of the 

City of Palm Coast hereby approves the terms and conditions of piggybacking the City of St. 

Augustine contract (#PW2020-05) for gravity sewer manhole sealing and coating on an as needed 

basis as attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit “A.”

SECTION 2. AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE.  The City Manager, or designee, is 

hereby authorized to execute the Contract as depicted in Exhibit “A.”

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section or portion of a section of this Resolution 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of this Resolution.

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any 

of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to 

take any actions necessary to implement the action taken in this Resolution. 

249



Resolution 2021-____
Page 2 of 2

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption by the City Council.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, Florida, 

on this 21st day August 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA A. SMITH, CITY CLERK

Attachment:  Exhibit “A” – Engagement letter 

Approved as to form and legality

WILLIAM E. REISCHMANN, JR., ESQ.
CITY ATTORNEY

250



In Process

CONTRACT EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW 

Vendor Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Bid/Contract Ref # _____________________________________________________________ 

Agency Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Type: _________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Value __________________________ 

Resolution #  __________________ City Council Approval Date:____________________ 

Contract Term End Date ____________________ 

Renewable  Y/N ___________ If yes # and length of renewals:_______________________ 

City’s Project Manager(s) ______________________________________________________ 

Brief Description/Purpose: 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 

    Date:_____________ 

     Date:_____________ 

 Date: _____________ 

 Date:______________ 

 Approvals: 

Responsible Dept. Director ____________________________________          

City Finance ________________________________________________        

City Attorney ________________________________________________        

Interim City Manager __________________________________________     

Vendor Name and Email ____________________________________ 

Engineered Spray Solutions, LLC

RFP PW2020-5

City of St. Augustine, FL

Piggyback (Service Contract)

Over $30K 

2021-

September 30, 2023

Yes Option to renew for two (2) additional years

James Melley (Utility)

To utilize the terms, conditions, scope and pricing of the City of St. Augustine, FL              
Agreement for Sanitary Sewer Manhole Inspections and Rehabilitation services  as 
needed. 

James Collier  jcollier@ess-1.net

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

251



In Process

RE: Engagement Letter Authorizing Piggyback 

_____________________________ 
Contract Name 

_____________________________ 
Contract Reference 

Dear 

The City of Palm Coast, Florida requests permission to utilize your company’s above referenced 
contract in accordance with its terms and conditions and pricing. If agreed, please indicate 
approval by electronically signing below as well as the Addendum covering the E-Verify  and 
Public Records requirements.

All invoices should be sent via email to ap@palmcoastgov.com. If email is not possible, please 
mail invoices to:  City of Palm Coast, Attn: Accounts Payable, 160 Lake Avenue, Palm Coast, 
Florida  32164. All legal notices should be sent to the attention of the City Manager at the same 
address.   

Please feel free to contact me at the email address below if you have any questions. 

Regards,  

Jesse K. Scott
Jesse K. Scott 
Procurement Coordinator 
jkscott@palmcoastgov.com 

This Engagement Letter is hereby acknowledged and agreed to: 

CITY OF PALM COAST 

By: __________________________ By: ___________________________ 
(Authorized Signatory) 

Print Name: ____________________ 

Title: _________________________ 

Print: Denise Bevan 

Title: Interim City Manager  

Date: ________________________ Date: _________________________ 

Engineered Spray Solutions, LLC
James Collier
1306 Banana Road
Lakeland, FL  33810

Contract for Sanitary Sewer Manhole Inspections and Rehabilitation

St. Augustine, FL RFP PW2020-05

James,

Engineered Spray Solutions, LLC

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

Authorized Rep/ Estimating/Project Mgr

James Collier

Aug 20, 2021 | 11:33 AM PDT

252



In Process

ENGAGEMENT LETTER ADDENDUM 

 
 

1. E-Verify Registration and Use.   
A. Pursuant to section 448.095, Florida Statutes, beginning January 1, 2021, SUPPLIER shall register 
with and use the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system, https://e-verify.uscis.gov/emp, 
to verify the work authorization status of all SUPPLIER employees hired on and after January 1, 2021. 
B. Subcontractors 
(i) SUPPLIER shall also require all subcontractors performing work under this Agreement to use the 
E-Verify system for any employees they may hire during the term of this Agreement. 
(ii) SUPPLIER shall obtain from all such subcontractors an affidavit stating the subcontractor does 
not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien, as defined in section 448.095, 
Florida Statutes.  
(iii) SUPPLIER shall maintain a copy of all subcontractor affidavits for the duration of this Agreement 
and provide it to CTIY upon request. 
C. SUPPLIER must provide evidence of compliance with section 448.095, Florida Statutes. Evidence 
shall consist of an affidavit from the SUPPLIER stating all employees hired on and after January 1, 2021 
have had their work authorization status verified through the E-Verify system and a copy of their proof of 
registration in the E-Verify system. 
D. Failure to comply with this provision is a material breach of the Agreement, and shall result in the 
immediate termination of the Agreement without penalty to CITY. SUPPLIER shall be liable for all costs 
incurred by CITY to secure a replacement agreement, including but not limited to, any increased costs for 
the same services, any costs due to delay, and rebidding costs, if applicable. 
 

2. Public Records. 
A. The Parties specifically acknowledge that the Agreement is subject to the laws of the State of 
Florida, including without limitation, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, which generally make public all 
records or other writings made or received by the Parties. If SUPPLIER is either a “contractor” as defined 
in Section 119.0701(1)(a), Florida Statutes, or an “agency” as defined in Section 119.011(2), Florida 
Statutes, SUPPLIER shall: 
i. Keep and maintain all public records required by CITY to perform the Services herein; and 
ii. Upon request from CITY’s custodian of public records, provide CITY with a copy of the requested 
records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable time at a cost that does not 
exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, F.S. or as otherwise provided by law; and  
iii. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the Agreement 
Term and following completion of the Agreement if SUPPLIER does not transfer the records to CITY; and  
iv. Upon completion of the Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to CITY all public records in possession 
of SUPPLIER or keep and maintain public records required by CITY to perform the Services herein.  If 
SUPPLIER transfers all public records to CITY upon completion of the Agreement, SUPPLIER shall destroy 
any duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 
requirements.  If SUPPLIER keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the Agreement, 
SUPPLIER shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records.  All records stored 
electronically must be provided to CITY, upon request from CITY’S custodian of public records, in a format 
compatible with the information technology systems of CITY.   
 
B. All requests to inspect or copy public records relating to the Agreement shall be made directly to 
CITY.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, failure to comply with the 
requirements of this paragraph shall result in the immediate termination of the Agreement, without 
penalty to CITY.  A contractor who fails to provide the public records to CITY within a reasonable time may 
be subject to penalties pursuant to Section 119.10, Florida Statutes.  Further, SUPPLIER shall fully 
indemnify and hold harmless CITY, its officers, agents and employees from any liability and/or damages, 
including attorney’s fees through any appeals, resulting from SUPPLIER’S failure to comply with these 
requirements.  
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

253



In Process

C. IF THE SUPPLIER HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF
CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE SUPPLIER’S DUTY TO PROVIDE
PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE CITY’S
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS, ATTN: VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK, AT
386-986-3713, vsmith@palmcoastgov.com, 160 LAKE AVENUE, PALM
COAST, FLORIDA 32164.

SUPPLIER 

By: ___________________________ 
(Authorized Corporate Officer) 

Print Name: ____________________ 

Title:  _________________________ 

CITY OF PALM COAST 

By: __________________________ 

Print:  Denise Bevan       

Title:  Interim City Manager 

Date: ________________________ Date: _________________________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

James Collier

Aug 20, 2021 | 11:33 AM PDT

Authorized Rep/ Estimating/Project Mgr

254



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

255



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

256



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

257



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

258



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

259



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

260



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

261



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

262



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

263



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

264



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

265



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

266



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

267



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

268



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

269



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

270



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

271



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

272



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

273



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

274



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

275



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

276



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

277



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

278



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

279



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

280



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

281



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

282



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

283



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

284



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

285



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

286



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

287



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

288



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

289



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

290



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

291



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

292



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

293



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

294



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

295



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

296



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

297



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

298



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

299



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

300



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

301



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

302



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

303



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

304



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

305



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

306



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

307



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

308



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

309



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

310



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

311



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

312



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

313



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

314



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

315



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

316



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

317



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

318



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

319



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

320



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

321



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

322



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

323



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

324



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

325



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

326



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

327



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

328



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

329



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

330



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

331



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

332



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

333



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

334



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

335



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

336



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

337



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

338



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

339



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

340



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

341



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

342



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

343



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

344



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

345



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

346



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

347



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

348



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

349



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

350



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

351



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

352



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

353



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

354



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

355



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

356



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

357



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

358



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

359



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

360



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

361



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

362



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

363



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

364



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

365



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

366



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

367



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

368



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

369



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

370



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

371



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

372



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

373



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

374



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

375



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

376



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

377



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

378



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

379



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

380



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

381



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

382



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

383



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

384



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

385



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

386



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

387



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

388



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

389



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

390



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

391



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

392



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

393



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

394



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

395



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

396



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

397



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

398



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

399



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

400



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

401



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

402



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

403



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

404



In Process

 
 
 

E-Verify Affidavit Instructions 
 
 

Beginning January 1, 2021, pursuant to Section 448.095 Florida Statutes, every public employer, contractor, and 
subcontractor shall register with and use the E- Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly 
hired employees. A public employer, contractor, or subcontractor may not enter into a contract unless each party 
to the contract registers with and uses the E-verify system. 

 
 

1. Please create an Affidavit on your company’s letter head in a similar form to that attached below. 
 

 
2. Have it signed and notarized. 
 

 

3.  Then attach the notarized affidavit and the proof of registration where indicated. 
 
 
 
 

 
ATTACH NOTARIZED AFFIDAVIT HERE 

 
 
 
 

 
 
ATTACH PROOF OF REGISTRATION HERE 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

405



In Process

CONTRACTOR E-VERIFY AFFIDAVIT 
 
 

I hereby certify that  [insert contractor company name] 
does not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien, and is 
otherwise in full compliance with Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. 

All employees hired on or after January 1, 2021 have had their work authorization status 
verified through the E-Verify system. 

A true and correct copy of  [insert contractor company 
name] proof of registration in the E-Verify system is attached to this Affidavit. 

 
 
 
 

Print Name:  _ 

Title:   

Date:  _ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF    

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ☐ physical presence 
or ☐ online notarization, this    day of   , 20   by 
    [name of officer or agent, title of officer or 
agent] of    [name of contractor company 
acknowledging], a    [state or place of incorporation] corporation, on behalf of the 
corporation. He/she is  personally known to me or has produced 
   [type of identification] as identification. 

 
 
 
 

[Notary Seal] Notary Public 
 
 

Name typed, printed or stamped 
 

My Commission Expires:    

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

406



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

407



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

408



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

409



In Process

DocuSign Envelope ID: 079A6482-EA2D-4F58-997D-BC99DCF1F950

410



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21, 2021

Department UTILITY Amount $557,103.00
Item Key 11614 Account #54029087 063000 84003

Subject RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC. FOR NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE 
REPLACEMENT PROJECT

Presenter : Peter Roussell

Background :
UPDATE FROM THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP 
This item was heard by the City Council at their September 14, 2021 Workshop. There were no 
changes suggested to this item. The PowerPoint presentation is available in the City Clerk’s 
office. 

ORIGINAL BACKGROUND FROM SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
The City of Palm Coast Water Treatment Plant No. 2 (WTP#2) is a 7.584 MGD Zero Liquid 
Discharge facility. The Nano filtration system consists of four trains of pressure vessels in an 
18:9 array, with each pressure vessel containing seven Hydranautics ESPA-4LD 400 sq. ft. 
elements. The existing membranes elements in all four trains have operated effectively for over 
ten years but have reached the end of their life cycle and need to be replaced. The total 
purchase of membranes elements will be 763. Out of the 763 membranes, 756 will be replaced 
and 7 will be on hand as spares.

This contract (ITB-UT-21-50) will be for a one time services agreement for the purchase and 
replacement of the membrane elements. Replacement of the membrane elements falls under 
the City Council’s goals and priorities to make all infrastructure a priority regarding maintenance 
and performance.
 
In accordance with the City’s Purchasing Policy, City staff advertised and solicited bids for the 
nanofiltration membrane replacement project. The City received one (1) bid which was 
responsive and responsible. City staff is recommending approving a Master Services 
Agreement with Harn R/O Systems, Inc. for the membrane replacement project. The project bid 
overview and notice of intent to award are attached. 

The contract amount for these services is $550,276.00 and $6,827.00 for the Performance 
Bond, which comes to a total of $557,103.00.  The Fiscal Year 2022 Budget includes 
$600,000.00 within Utility to purchase these services.

SOURCE OF FUNDS WORKSHEET FY 2022
IMPR-GENERAL PLANT R&R                                                                       $2,600,000.00
Total Expended/Encumbered to Date……………………………………………                0.00
Current (WO/Contract).………………………………………………………….        557,103.00
Balance………………………………………………………………………….     $2,042,897.00

411



Recommended Action :
ADOPT RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC. FOR THE MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

 

412



Resolution 2021-____
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2021 -____
MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC., FOR WATER TREATMENT PLANT 
#2 NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER, OR DESIGNEE, TO EXECUTE 
SAID AGREEMENT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, Harn R/O Systems, Inc. has expressed a desire to provide Water Treatment 

Plant #2 nanofiltration membrane replacement to the City of Palm Coast; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast desires for Harn R/O Systems, 

Inc. to provide Water Treatment Plant #2 nanofiltration membrane replacement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT.  The City Council of the City of Palm 

Coast hereby approves the terms and conditions of the master services agreement with Harn R/O 

Systems, Inc. for the Water Treatment Plant #2 nanofiltration membrane replacement, as attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit “A.”  

 SECTION 2. AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE.  The City Manager, or designee, is 

hereby authorized to execute the necessary documents. 

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section or portion of a section of this Resolution 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of this Resolution.

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any 

of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to 

take any actions necessary to implement the action taken in this Resolution. 

413



Resolution 2021-____
Page 2 of 2

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption by the City Council.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, 

Florida, on this 21st day of September 2021.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA SMITH, CITY CLERK

Attachments:  
Exhibit “A” –Master Services Agreement-Harn R/O Systems, Inc.

Approved as to form and legality

William E. Reischmann, Jr., Esq.
City Attorney

414



 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO AWARD 

 

Project: ITB-UT-21-50 - WTP2 NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT 

PROJECT     

Date: 8/30/2021 

Appeal Deadline: Appeals must be filed by 5:00 PM on 9/2/2021 

Firm Bid 

Harn R/O Systems, Inc. 

Venice, FL 
$550,276.00 

 

The intent of the City of Palm Coast is to award ITB-UT-21-50    to Harn R/O 

Systems, Inc. 

Cc: Contract Coordinator, Project Manager, BPO Manager, Financial Services 

Director, Department Director. 

For questions regarding the NOIT please contact Procurement Coordinator     

jkscott@palmcoastgov.com. 

Bid protests arising under City Bidding Documents or Procedures shall be 

resolved under the City of Palm Coast Budget and Procurement Office Bid 

Protest procedures. 

A proposer may protest matters involving the award of this Bid within three (3) 

business days from the posting of this recommendation to award.  Failure to 

protest to the City’s Financial Services Director, Helena Alves 

(HAlves@palmcoastgov.com) shall constitute a waiver of the protest 

proceedings. 

415



 

Generated on Aug 30, 2021 2:59 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 1 of 5 

ITB-UT-21-50 - WTP2 NANOFILTRATION 

MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

 

Project Overview 

 

Project Details  

Reference ID ITB-UT-21-50 

Project Name WTP2 NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

Project Owner Jesse Scott 

Project Type ITB 

Department Procurement 

Budget $0.00 - $0.00 

Project Description 

This Invitation to Bid is issued for the purpose of securing a Master 

Services Agreement Contract for the complete replacement (vendor 

purchase and installation) of its Nano filtration membranes. The Nano 

filtration system consists of four trains of pressure vessels in an 18:9 

array, with each pressure vessel containing seven Hydranautics ESPA-

4LD 400 sq. ft. elements.  

Open Date Jul 28, 2021 8:00 AM EDT 

Intent to Bid Due Aug 25, 2021 2:00 PM EDT 

Close Date Aug 26, 2021 2:00 PM EDT 

 

Awarded Suppliers Reason Score 

Harn R/O Systems, Inc.  100 pts 

 

416



 

Generated on Aug 30, 2021 2:59 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 2 of 5 

Seal status 

 

Requested Information Unsealed on Unsealed by 

Price Schedule Aug 26, 2021 2:27 PM EDT Casey Luedke 

References Aug 26, 2021 2:27 PM EDT Casey Luedke 

Required Documents, Forms 

1- 6 
Aug 26, 2021 2:27 PM EDT Casey Luedke 

Addendum 1 - Signed and 

Dated 
Aug 26, 2021 2:27 PM EDT Casey Luedke 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

 # Declaration of Conflict of Interest You have been chosen as a Committee member for this 

Evaluation. Please read the following information on conflict of interest to see if you have any problem 

or potential problem in serving on this committee.  ## Code of Conduct All information related to 

submissions received from Suppliers or Service Providers must be kept confidential by Committee 

members.  ## Conflict of Interest No member of a Committee shall participate in the evaluation if that 

Committee member or any member of his or her immediate family:  * has direct or indirect financial 

interest in the award of the contract to any proponent; * is currently employed by, or is a consultant to 

or under contract to a proponent; * is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning future 

employment or contracting with any proponent; or, * has an ownership interest in, or is an officer or 

director of, any proponent.  Please sign below acknowledging that you have received and read this 

information. If you have a conflict or potential conflict, please indicate your conflict on this 

acknowledgment form with information regarding the conflict.  I have read and understood the 

provisions related to the conflict of interest when serving on the Evaluation Committee. If any such 

conflict of interest arises during the Committee’s review of this project, I will immediately report it to 

the Purchasing Director. 

 

Name Date Signed Has a Conflict of Interest? 

Donald Holcomb Aug 26, 2021 2:59 PM EDT No 

Fred Greiner Aug 26, 2021 4:00 PM EDT No 

417



 

Generated on Aug 30, 2021 2:59 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 3 of 5 

Ryan Bellerive Aug 30, 2021 8:19 AM EDT No 

Jesse Scott Aug 30, 2021 10:25 AM EDT No 

Casey Luedke Aug 26, 2021 2:27 PM EDT No 

418



 

Generated on Aug 30, 2021 2:59 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 4 of 5 

Project Criteria 

 

Criteria Points Description 

Admin Review Pass/Fail All documents completed and submitted as required and requested.  

Technical Review  Pass/Fail References checked. Technical specifications met.  

Technical Price Review Pass/Fail Are prices reasonable?  If yes, pass.  If no, fail.  

Admin Price Review 100 pts Actual bid price  

Total 100 pts  

419



 

Generated on Aug 30, 2021 2:59 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 5 of 5 

Scoring Summary 

 

Active Submissions 

 

 Total Admin Review Technical Review  
Technical Price 

Review 
Admin Price Review 

Supplier / 100 pts Pass/Fail Pass/Fail Pass/Fail / 100 pts 

Harn R/O Systems, 

Inc. 
100 pts Pass Pass Pass 100 pts ($550,276.00) 

 

420



PROPOSAL 

 
 

HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC. – 310 CENTER COURT - VENICE, FLORIDA 34285 

(P) 941-488-9671 - (F) 941-488-9400 

City of Palm Coast ATTN: FRED GREINER 9/3/2021 

50 Citation Blvd. Membrane Repl. Project Bid#: ITB-UT-21-50 

Palm Coast, FL 32137 Proposal – Bond Cost for Membrane Replacement 2021 

Harn R/O Systems is pleased to present the following proposal: 

 

Provide Performance and Payment Bonds for the Membrane Replacement Project referenced above: 

 

For the Sum of  ......................................................................................................................$6,827.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 We Propose hereby to furnish material and labor – complete in accordance with above specifications, for the sum of: 

See above, taxes not included 

Terms are Net 30 days 

All materials is guaranteed to be as specified. All work to be completed in a workmanlike 

manner according to standard practices. Any alteration or deviation from above specifica- 

ions involving extra costs will be executed only upon written orders, and will become an              Authorized 

extra charge over and above the estimate. All agreements contingent upon strikes, accidents Signature   _______Ronald J Castle II______ 

or delays beyond our control. Owner to carry fire, tornado and other necessary insurance.  NOTE: This proposal may be 

Our workers are fully covered by Workmen’s Compensation Insurance. Withdrawn by us if not accepted within 30 days. 

 

Acceptance of Proposal - The above prices, specifications and  

conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted. You are authorized Signature __________________________________________ 
to do the work as specified. Payment will be made as outlined above.  

 Signature: __________________________________________ 

Date of Acceptance:_______________________________________ 

421



422



423



424



425



426



427



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21st, 2021

Department UTILITY Amount $ As Needed 
Item Key 11659 Account # 54019090 046000

# 54019090 052000
# 54019090 063000 81001
# 54019082 046000
# 54019082 052000
# 54029082 063000 82001

Subject RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT WITH 
FERGUSON WATERWORKS TO PURCHASE VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES

Presenter : Steve Flanagan

Background :
The  City’s  Utility  Department  maintains the  water  and  wastewater  facilities  throughout  
its  service area and uses various parts to repair or install services and to maintain the 
City’s Utility infrastructure. In order to provide continuous water and wastewater service to 
our customers it is necessary to purchase various utility supplies.

The City of Palm Coast bid the annual supply of various utility supplies through ITB-UT-21-54. 
This contract shall run from October 1, 2021 to September 30, 2022 for the first year and will 
include two additional one-year renewal options. 

City staff advertised ITB-UT-21-54 utility supplies in accordance with the City’s Purchasing 
Policy. The City received three (3) bids which were responsive and responsible. 

Staff recommends the City approve a master price agreement with Ferguson Waterworks for 
various utility supplies based on the City of Palm Coast bid ITB-UT-21-54. The purchase of 
these utility supplies for the water and wastewater services falls in line with City Council’s goals 
and priorities to make all infrastructure a priority regarding maintenance and performance. The 
notice of intent to award and project bid overview are attached to this agenda item. 

City staff will purchase these utility supplies using budgeted funds appropriated by City Council. 
The Fiscal Year 2022 Budget includes available funding to purchase these supplies. These 
supplies will be purchased on an as needed basis.

Recommended Action :
ADOPT RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT WITH 
FERGUSON WATERWORKS FOR THE PURCHASE OF VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES
 

428



Resolution 2021-____
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2021- ____
 VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, APPROVING A MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT 
FOR THE PURCHASE OF VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES FROM  
FERGUSON WATERWORKS; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER, OR DESIGNEE, TO EXECUTE PRICE AGREEMENTS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Ferguson Waterworks has expressed a desire to provide 

various utility supplies to the City of Palm Coast; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast desires to purchase  

various utility supplies from Ferguson Waterworks.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT. The City Council of the

City of Palm Coast hereby approves the terms and conditions of the master price 

agreement relating to the purchase of various utility supplies, with Ferguson 

Waterworks, as attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit " 

A."

SECTION 2. AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE. The City Manager, or

designee, is hereby authorized to execute the necessary documents.

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. If any section or portion of a section of this 

Resolution proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held 

to invalidate or impair the validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of 

this Resolution.

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict 

with any of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS. The City Manager is hereby 

authorized to take any actions necessary to implement the action taken in this 

Resolution.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall take effect 

immediately upon adoption by the City Council.

429



Resolution 2021-____
Page 2 of 2

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palm 

Coast, Florida, on this 21st day of September 2021.

      CITY OF PALM COAST

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

VIRGINIA A. SMITH, CITY CLERK

Attachment: Exhibit A: Master Price Agreement-Ferguson Waterworks

Approved as to form and legality

William E. Reischmann, Jr., Esq.
City Attorney

430



 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO AWARD 

 

Project: ITB-UT-21-54   - Utility Supplies – Price Agreement 

          

Date: 9/13/2021 

Appeal Deadline: Appeals must be filed by 5:00 PM on 9/16/2021 

Firm Bid 

Ferguson Waterworks 

Sanford, FL 

$961,510.79 

Bid all 7 Groups 

Fortiline, Inc.  

Jacksonville, FL 

$650,063.50 

Bid 3 of 7 Groups 

Empire Pipe and Supply Company  

Sanford, FL 

$32,540.38 

Bid 1 of 7 Groups 

 

The intent of the City of Palm Coast is to award ITB-UT-21-54    to Ferguson 

Waterworks 

Cc: Contract Coordinator, Project Manager, BPO Manager, Financial Services 

Director, Department Director. 

For questions regarding the NOIT please contact Procurement Coordinator     

jkscott@palmcoastgov.com. 

Bid protests arising under City Bidding Documents or Procedures shall be 

resolved under the City of Palm Coast Budget and Procurement Office Bid 

Protest procedures. 

431



A proposer may protest matters involving the award of this Bid within three (3) 

business days from the posting of this recommendation to award.  Failure to 

protest to the City’s Financial Services Director, Helena Alves 

(HAlves@palmcoastgov.com) shall constitute a waiver of the protest 

proceedings. 

432



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 1 of 7 

ITB-UT-21-54 - UTILITY SUPPLIES – PRICE 

AGREEMENT 

 

Project Overview 

 

Project Details  

Reference ID ITB-UT-21-54 

Project Name UTILITY SUPPLIES – PRICE AGREEMENT 

Project Owner Jesse Scott 

Project Type ITB 

Department Procurement 

Budget $0.00 - $0.00 

Project Description 

This Invitation to Bid is issued for the purpose of This Invitation to Bid is 

issued for the purpose of soliciting bid proposals for a one year contract 

with a vendor(s) capable of providing utility supplies for the City’s Utility 

Department. The contract could be renewed for two each one year 

periods upon mutual agreement.  

Open Date Aug 18, 2021 8:00 AM EDT 

Intent to Bid Due Sep 08, 2021 2:00 PM EDT 

Close Date Sep 09, 2021 2:00 PM EDT 

 

Awarded Suppliers Reason Score 

Ferguson Waterworks 
Lowest Responsive and 

Responsible Submission 
700 pts 

 

433



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 2 of 7 

Seal status 

 

Requested Information Unsealed on Unsealed by 

Required Forms and 

References(Forms 1-6) 
Sep 09, 2021 2:02 PM EDT Jesse Scott 

Price Submission Spreadsheet Sep 09, 2021 2:02 PM EDT Jesse Scott 

Addendum 1 - signed and dated Sep 09, 2021 2:02 PM EDT Jesse Scott 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

 # Declaration of Conflict of Interest, You have been chosen as a Committee member for this 

Evaluation. Please read the following information on conflict of interest to see if you have any problem 

or potential problem in serving on this committee.  ## Code of Conduct All information related to 

submissions received from Suppliers or Service Providers must be kept confidential by Committee 

members.  ## Conflict of Interest No member of a Committee shall participate in the evaluation if that 

Committee member or any member of his or her immediate family:  * has direct or indirect financial 

interest in the award of the contract to any proponent; * is currently employed by, or is a consultant to 

or under contract to a proponent; * is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning future 

employment or contracting with any proponent; or, * has an ownership interest in, or is an officer or 

director of, any proponent.  Please sign below acknowledging that you have received and read this 

information. If you have a conflict or potential conflict, please indicate your conflict on this 

acknowledgment form with information regarding the conflict.  I have read and understood the 

provisions related to the conflict of interest when serving on the Evaluation Committee. If any such 

conflict of interest arises during the Committee’s review of this project, I will immediately report it to 

the Purchasing Director. 

 

Name Date Signed Has a Conflict of Interest? 

Peter Roussell Sep 10, 2021 1:30 PM EDT No 

Jesse Scott Sep 09, 2021 2:03 PM EDT No 

Toni Churchill Sep 10, 2021 9:49 AM EDT No 

Chris Driggers Sep 10, 2021 7:52 AM EDT No 

434



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 3 of 7 

Project Criteria 

 

Criteria Points Description 

Admin Review Pass/Fail Documents submitted and completed as required and requested.  

Group 1 - Brass Fittings and Tapping Saddle 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 2 - Fire Hydrants 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 3 - Large PVC Pipe and PVC Fittings 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 4 - Mechanical Joint Fittings 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 5 - Meter Pits 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 6 - Small PVC Pipe and PVC Fittings 100 pts Bid Entry  

Group 7 - Wastewater Supplies 100 pts Bid Entry  

Technical Review Pass/Fail 
Check and review bids to make sure they adhere to specifications.  Check 

References.  

435



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 4 of 7 

Technical Price review Pass/Fail 

Are prices reasonable?  If yes, pass.  If no, fail. (You do NOT fail if they are NOT 

the lowest price.  You are only verifying if the price submitted is reasonable 

based upon your market knowledge.)  

Total 700 pts  

436



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 5 of 7 

Scoring Summary 

 

Active Submissions 

 

 Total Admin Review 

Group 1 - Brass 

Fittings and Tapping 

Saddle 

Group 2 - Fire 

Hydrants 

Group 3 - Large PVC 

Pipe and PVC 

Fittings 

Supplier / 700 pts Pass/Fail / 100 pts / 100 pts / 100 pts 

Ferguson Waterworks 700 pts Pass 100 pts ($599,199.62) 100 pts ($31,680.00) 100 pts ($68,342.40) 

Fortiline, Inc. 293.61 pts Pass 
98.61 pts 

($607,626.71) 
97.63 pts ($32,449.95) 

0.00683 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

EMPIRE PIPE AND 

SUPPLY COMPANY, 

INC 

97.45 pts Pass 
0.05992 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 
97.36 pts ($32,540.38) 

0.00683 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

 

437



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 6 of 7 

 
Group 4 - Mechanical 

Joint Fittings 
Group 5 - Meter Pits 

Group 6 - Small PVC 

Pipe and PVC 

Fittings 

Group 7 - 

Wastewater Supplies 
Technical Review 

Supplier / 100 pts / 100 pts / 100 pts / 100 pts Pass/Fail 

Ferguson Waterworks 100 pts ($9,720.70) 100 pts ($189,532.45) 100 pts ($96.58) 100 pts ($62,939.04) Pass 

Fortiline, Inc. 97.34 pts ($9,986.84) 
0.01895 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

0.00001 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

0.00629 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 
Pass 

EMPIRE PIPE AND 

SUPPLY COMPANY, 

INC 

0.00097 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

0.01895 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

0.00001 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 

0.00629 pts 

($999,999,999.99) 
Pass 

 

 
Technical Price 

review 

Supplier Pass/Fail 

Ferguson Waterworks Pass 

Fortiline, Inc. Pass 

438



 

Generated on Sep 13, 2021 3:37 PM EDT - Jesse Scott 

Page 7 of 7 

 
Technical Price 

review 

Supplier Pass/Fail 

EMPIRE PIPE AND 

SUPPLY COMPANY, 

INC 

Pass 

 

439



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: September 21, 2021

Department FINANCIAL SERVICES Amount  
Item Key Account 

#
 

Subject REPORTING OF EMERGENCY AND SOLE SOURCE PURCHASES FOR 
AUGUST 2021 PURCHASES

Presenter: Denise Bevan, Interim City Manager

Background:
Attached is a list of emergency purchases and sole source purchases made during August 
2021.

Recommended Action:
For reporting only -  via City Manager comments

 

440



Entry Date Requisition  # Total Amount Vendor Description Department Field Name
8/3/2021 2041 $4,665.00 GREEN'S A/C & REFRIGERATION, INC FAC. Emergency Repair AC FACILITIES MAINTENANCE EMERGENCY                     

8/17/2021 2095 $22,764.78 HYDRA SERVICE (S) INC. REPAIR OF VERTICAL TURBINE PUMP WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT - UTILITY

EMERGENCY                     

8/23/2021 2124 $5,957.22 RING POWER CORPORATION PW Fleet Services Tractor Repair #1143 FLEET MANAGEMENT EMERGENCY                     

8/26/2021 2150 $2,025.08 RING POWER CORPORATION PW Fleet Emergency Services Boom 
Mower Repair

FLEET MANAGEMENT EMERGENCY                     

Entry Date Requisition  # Total Amount Vendor Description Department Field Name
8/2/2021 2039 $35,766.68 I KRUGER INC GEARBOX ON DITCH #5 WASTEWATER 

TREATMENT - UTILITY
SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/3/2021 2033 $11,700.00 AMERICAN TRAINCO LLC FAC. TRAINING-TPC TRAINING-
ELECTRICAL

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/3/2021 2045 $4,498.00 XYLEM WATER SOLUTIONS USA INC REPAIR OF PUMP 37-3 WASTEWATER PUMPING SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/9/2021 2066 $17,675.64 HACH COMPANY WTP#2 Turbidity Monitor replacements               WATER QUALITY                 SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/24/2021 2127 $17,000.00 SOLITUDE LAKE MANAGEMENT, LLC FAC FIRE - Pond reconstruction FS24 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/26/2021 2148 $8,000.00 THE NATIONAL CITIZEN SURVEY Annual Citizen's Survey  (FY21 
Portion=$8,000; FY2

CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

8/30/2021 2135 $4,932.00 FLAGLER COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS Bus Transportation for Fun In the Sun 
Camp

PARKS & RECREATION SOLE SOURCE 
PURCHASE          

Aug-21
Emergency Purchases

Sole Source Purchases

441



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date :

Department CITY CLERK Amount  
Item Key 11569 Account 

#
 

Subject WORKSHEET

Presenter : 

Background :

Recommended Action :

 

442



September 22, 2021 Special Budget Hrg FINAL Budget/Trim 5:30 pm
1 Resolutions Final Millage & Budget  Alves
2 Resolutions CRA Budget Alves
3 Resolution Fleet Purchases Mancill/LaChance

October 5, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
1 Ordinance 2nd Purchasing code amendment Alves
2 Resolution Cultural Arts Grants Hirst
3 Ordinance 2nd Logo Kershaw
4 Presentation Waterway Cleanup Results Myers
5 Ordinance 2nd Amend ULDC Flood Plain Management Myers

October 12, 2021 WORKSHOP MEETING
1 Presentation Litter-Code Amendment, Prevention and Awareness DeLorenzo
2 Presentation Building/Planning Level of Service DeLorenzo
3 Resolution REV Grant DeLorenzo
4 Resolution Seminole Palms DO Agr DeLorenzo/Tyner
5 Presentation New legislation overview Reischmann

October 19, 2021 BUSINESS MEETING
1 Resolution ESRI Contract Akins
2 Resolution REV Grant DeLorenzo
3 Ordinance Flagler Village FLUM/REZONING Papa
4 Ordinance Seminole Palms FLUM/MPD Papa
5 Resoluiton Seminole Palms DO Agreement Tyner/DeLorenzo
6 Resolution Gables Final Plat Tyner/Leap
7 Resolution Tennis Pods Final Plat Tyner/Leap

Future 
1 Resolution Lease amendment colo facility Akins
2 Presentation Security Assessment Review Akins
3 Presentation LDC Signs Chapter 9 CDD
4 Resolution Advent Health Design Srvc. Agreement OKR Ext. Cote
5 Resolution P1 Control Structure Rehab Cote
6 Ordinance  Memorial Markers Cote/Grunewald
7 Resolution WTP 1 High Service Water Pump Cote/Kronenburg
8 Ordinance Boat code DeLorenzo
9 Resolution Easement Hardin Agreement DeLorenzo

10 Ordinance 2nd Slow Way Closure (Jan. 4, 2022) DeLorenzo/Cote
11 Resolution MSA with Service Electric Company for Pole Repair Flanagan/Roussell
12 Resolution IAFF Contract Fuller
13 Ordinance 1st Animal Control amendment Grossman
14 Ordinance LDC Architectural Chapter 13 Hoover/Dawson
15 Presentation Innovation District Initiatives Johnston/DeLorenzo
16 Presentation Council Priority Community Center Parking Johnston 
17 Ordinance Logo Kershaw
18 Resolution GPS Monitoring Mancill
19 Resolution Fleet Software Mancill
20 Presentation Solid Waste Bid results Schweers
21 Proclamation Diabetes Awareness (Nov. 2) Smith
22 Apppointments Council Liaisons (Nov. 16) Smith
23 Appointment Council Vice Mayor (Nov. 16) Smith

443


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL:
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET WORKSHOP
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 9, 2021 SPECIAL BUDGET HEARING
MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 WORKSHOP
	2 PRESENTATION - GOOD SAMARITAN RECOGNITIONS
	3 PRESENTATION EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION
	4 PROCLAMATION - RAISE THE PINK FLAG WITH THE PINK ARMY MONTH
	5 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 10.02 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT
	6 ORDINANCE 2021-XX REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, DIVISION 3 OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST CODE OF ORDINANCES
	7 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR 70.2+/- ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM MIXED USE TO RESIDENTIAL WITH A SITE SPECIFIC POLICY TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO 227 RESIDENTIAL DWELLING UNITS (SEMINOLE TRAILS)
	8 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR A 70.2+/- ACRE PARCEL FROM MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) TO SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SEMINOLE TRAILS)
	9 ORDINANCE 2021-XX SECRET GARDENS, APPLICATION NO. 4816 TO REZONE 52.4 +/- ACRES FROM THE GENERAL OFFICE (OFC-2) ZONING DISTRICT TO THE HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3), PRESERVATION (PRS) AND PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC (PSP) ZONING DISTRICTS
	10 ORDINANCE 2021-XX SEMINOLE POINTE, APPLICATION NO. 4820 TO REZONE 71.74 +/- ACRES FROM THE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) AND GENERAL COMMERCIAL (COM-2) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-2 (MFR-2) AND HIGH INTENSITY COMMERCIAL (COM-3) ZON
	11 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING THE TERMINATION OF THE SEMINOLE POINTE MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (MPD)
	12 COUNCIL DECISION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF ON WHETHER TO AMEND THE COMMERCIAL VEHICLE ORDINANCE IN CHAPTER 44, ARTICLE II
	13 APPOINT A MEMBER TO FLAGLER COUNTY HOUSING TASK FORCE/AFFORDABLE HOUSING ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	14 APPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE DISTRICTING COMMISSION
	15 RESOLUTION 2021-XX ADOPTING GUIDELINES FOR NAMING OF PUBLIC FACILITIES
	16 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING PIGGYBACKING THE CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE WITH ENGINEERED SPRAY SOLUTIONS, INC., FOR GRAVITY SEWER MANHOLE SEALING AND COATING ON AN AS NEEDED BASIS
	17 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH HARN R/O SYSTEMS, INC. FOR NANOFILTRATION MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT PROJECT
	18 RESOLUTION 2021-XX APPROVING A MASTER PRICE AGREEMENT WITH FERGUSON WATERWORKS TO PURCHASE VARIOUS UTILITY SUPPLIES
	19 REPORTING OF EMERGENCY AND SOLE SOURCE PURCHASES FOR AUGUST 2021 PURCHASES
	WORKSHEET



